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The Making of Amãna Bank
The beginning of a new way forward

The vision, the dream

The birth of Sri Lanka’s first licensed commercial bank which fully functions on the principles of Islamic
Finance is an outcome of the vision and a dream of two people, Meeran Sahib Alif, the now deceased former
Cabinet Secretary, and Osman Kassim, the bank’s current Chairman. They were impressed by the Islamic
Finance System in the Middle-East and Malaysia and its non-oppressive nature and inherent principles
of justice and fairness. The system was beginning to take root in many countries across the world during
that time, which encouraged Osman Kassim and a small coterie of like-minded people to envision the
introduction of Islamic Banking in Sri Lanka and embark on a determined journey to realise this vision.
“The idea of Islamic banking in Sri Lanka was initially discussed and tossed around.
A few like-minded people agreed to come on board. We had no doubt about investors coming
forward to invest in an Islamic bank and by God’s grace it was proved to be true”
 Osman Kassim 

The Journey

The journey set out in 1997 had many challenges to overcome. The foremost challenge was to convince
the country’s regulatory authorities of the inherent values of the unique Islamic banking model and its
economic and social benefits.
“We are confident that the Sharia banking principles will lend greater stability to the economy,
as was experienced during the recent global economic downturn when, according to many learned
studies, institutions following the Sharia system were able to withstand the adverse effects of the
economic downturn more robustly than those following conventional systems”
 Osman Kassim 

As a result of the perseverance and dedicated efforts in this direction, the country’s legislature made
changes to the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 to permit Islamic banking products in Sri Lanka in 2005.
Encouraged by the legislative change, Amãna set its course to obtain regulatory approval to carry out
full-fledged banking activities under the principles of Islamic finance.
In November 2008 Amãna received the Letter of Provisional Approval from the Monetary Board of the
Central Bank of Sri Lanka to commence groundwork towards the establishment of Amãna Bank. The
bank was incorporated in February 2009 and subsequently engaged the services of KPMG Ford, Rhodes,
Thornton & Co. to assist in raising the required share capital of Rs. 2.5 Billion.
In January 2011 the Monetary Board of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka with the approval of the Minister
of Finance, His Excellency President Mahinda Rajapaksa, conferred a commercial banking license on
Amãna Bank.
Gearing to Launch

Team Amãna started working round the clock to ensure the launch of the bank’s commercial operations. The
required human, technology and infrastructure resources were assimilated to enable the launch of the bank.
“I am indeed grateful to all members of my team who worked tirelessly round the clock
to open the bank for business on 1 August and who will continue to work hard
to take the bank forward in the future”
 Faizal Salieh 

A refreshing look and feel was created for Amãna Bank. The plug line, “It’s your bank”was created on
the steadfast belief that it is a unique banking concept in line with everyone’s faiths, principles and
expectations; it is a bank that yearns to ensure prosperity and true happiness to all customers through its
unique, humane and honourable values.
“We believe that everyone has a right to be treated fairly; that one should not gain at the
expense of another; we believe that being responsible and ethical is as important as making
profits and gains; we believe that entrepreneurship should be encouraged and given a fair
opportunity to succeed; and that the best of actions are the ones which create true happiness
in people. Our business model and unique value proposition are built upon the very foundation of
these beliefs. And we believe that there are many people out there who feel the same way
we do, and believe in what we believe. Amãna Bank will provide the platform to link and connect
all such people where ever they are. The bank will rise above and cut across all forms of ethnic,
religious and cultural narrowness to build relationships among people and meet their
financial and banking needs based on these shared values”
 Faizal Salieh 

The Launch

On Friday, 29 July 2011 Amãna Bank was ceremonially launched by the Governor of the Central Bank of
Sri Lanka, Mr. Ajith Nivard Cabraal. It was the first bank to be launched by Mr. Cabraal during his tenure in
office as the Governor.
The following Monday, 1 August 2011 Amãna Bank opened its doors to the public through its 14 branches
across the country, offering a unique banking experience enriched with honour, humanity and stability
heralding a new way forward in banking.
“We have been supporting new banking institutions to come in if they were to support the
infrastructure developments in our country or if they were supporting remittances into the country
or if they were instrumental in providing finances and expertise to the SME sector. I think Amãna
Bank’s overall vision and plans encompass all these three criteria and we are hopeful that Amãna
Bank will play a very significant role in the economic development of our nation.”
 Ajith Nivard Cabraal - Governor of the Central Bank 

The way forward

The bank has embarked on an ambitious and challenging 5 year strategic plan. In 5 years from now, it
wants to be a bank that has 65-70 branches with total assets of over 65 Billion rupees, employing about
1,000 people, making about 1 Billion rupees pre-tax profits and having a brand equity that would place it
among the top 10 banks in the country.
“We have set challenging goals for our future and stand committed to achieve them.
We are strengthened by a well experienced Board and a dedicated family of staff. We will be
guided by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. We will draw our experience from our strong group
of strategic shareholders. We will be encouraged by our customers and above all
we shall stay well-grounded to our belief that being responsible and ethical is
as important as making profits and gains”
 Osman Kassim 

Vision		 To provide a differentiated banking experience in Sri Lanka,

		

through an equitable financial system.

Mission

To share risks and rewards with all our customers by delivering
Sharia compliant financial solutions based on innovation and technology.

		

We believe We believe that you have a right to be treated fairly
		

We believe that one should not gain at the expense of another

		

We believe that being responsible and ethical is as important as making profits and gains

		

We believe that entrepreneurship should be encouraged and given a fair opportunity to succeed

		

We believe that the best of actions are the ones which create true happiness in people

		

We believe that you feel the same way we do

		

We have a unique approach to banking which is in sync with our beliefs

		

Our financial solutions are responsible, ethical and fair

		

We are...
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Chairman’s Message

birth of Amãna Bank has placed Sri Lanka on the map of the global Sharia banking industry and
“ The
enabled the country to gain access to Sharia compliant finance and investment flows.
”
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In the Name of Allah the Most Gracious the Most Merciful
It is indeed a historic and significant occasion for me to welcome you to the third Annual
General Meeting of the bank, especially because it was during the year under review that the
bank, with the Grace of Almighty Allah, was conferred a commercial banking license by the
Monetary Board of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and commenced banking operations on
1 August 2011.
Your bank is the first and only licensed commercial bank in Sri Lanka today which conducts all
its operations in complete harmony with the requirements of the Sharia Law. We are grateful
to the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and His Excellency President Mahinda Rajapakse, as the
Finance Minister, for granting us the banking licence and enabling us to respond to the growing
awareness and demand for Sharia compliant banking in the country.
The birth of Amãna Bank has placed Sri Lanka on the map of the global Sharia banking industry
and enabled the country to gain access to Sharia compliant finance and investment flows.
The Economy

The global economy continued its upward trend in 2011, but at a slower pace than in the
previous year. The economic slowdown was evident during the second half of 2011 as a result of
weakening trade flows, declining capital flows and lower commodity prices.
The local economy recorded an impressive growth above 8% for the second successive year. The
rate of inflation continued to be managed well and remained at single digit levels. The exchange
rate for most part of the year was stable until the last quarter and through the first quarter of
2012 when monetary and fiscal policy changes resulted in the volatility of the exchange rate and
also increases in market interest rates.
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Your bank has the distinction of having three strategic shareholders, namely, Bank Islam
Malaysia Berhad (20%), AB Bank of Bangladesh (15%) and Islamic Development Bank of Saudi
Arabia (10%) who are all reputed and established banking institutions in the region. Our
approach to banking is refreshingly different and we believe in giving priority to the greater
good of our society at all times. We are a bank that yearns to ensure the prosperity and true
happiness of all customers through our unique, humane and honourable value proposition.
The bank will continue to champion the cause of spreading this concept amongst all
Sri Lankans by helping them understand the benefits and the inherent justice of the system. Our
products and services which symbolise the essence of Sharia compliant banking are available to
everyone irrespective of their caste, creed or ethnicity.
The bank’s performance in this short period of 5 months is commendable.

Opportunities and
Challenges

The Future
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A few banks have set up windows that operate in compliance with the requirements of Sharia.
We welcome this as a means of promoting healthy competition. In addition it will pave the way
for inter bank funding arrangements as well as other synergies which would be beneficial for the
industry as a whole.
Your bank has a clear strategic vision and is currently working on a 5-year Strategic Plan. We
started operations in 2011 on a vibrant and positive note. Our operating results are on course
with our strategic direction and financial budgets. We will continue to consolidate our position
as the market leader in Sharia compliant banking in Sri Lanka and bring in a difference to the
banking industry by introducing a variety of new products and services which will add value to
our customers. The Board of Directors, the Corporate Management and Staff are making every
effort to take the business forward, reach the profitability targets set by the Board and achieve
a noteworthy level of performance in the coming years.

32 Corp orate Management Te am

34 profile s of Strategic Shareholder s

36 Risk Management

60 Corp orate S ocial Resp onsibilit y

We have set our sights to become the preferred bank for the public at large and to be ranked
within the top ten banks in Sri Lanka within five years from now. During this period we plan to
open more than 50 branches and propel the growth of the bank to new heights. All our efforts
and resources are being channelled to achieve this feat. The bank will continue to invest in
technology and introduce new products and services in order to service the varying needs of
our customers.
Acknowledgements

My sincere gratitude goes out to all our shareholders, customers and well wishers as well as
to my colleagues on the Board, the members of the Sharia Supervisory Council and to the
members of the Corporate Management and Staff for their support and perseverance in making
Amãna Bank a reality.
Was-Salaam,

Osman Kassim
Chairman
3 May 2012
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Managing Director/CEO’s Report

have put together a strong shareholder base which includes three globally reputed banking
“ We
institutions adding strategic value to the bank’s business in its forward journey and enriching the
overall profile of the banking sector in the country.
”
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The first full-fledged Sharia compliant bank in Sri Lanka is now in operation.
Raising the required capital amidst very difficult global and local conditions, meeting all of the regulatory
requirements set by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and finally launching the bank for business in August
this year was indeed a huge challenge. The Board of Directors, the Corporate Management Team and all our
staff responded admirably well to this challenge; and the bank has since completed 5 months of business
operations.
We have put together a strong shareholder base which includes three globally reputed banking institutions
adding strategic value to the bank’s business in its forward journey and enriching the overall profile of the
banking sector in the country.
The bank has brought to Sri Lanka a new and refreshing change in the way banking is done. We are a bank
that is firmly founded on the principles of Sharia Banking. We are different from the rest of the pack in the
way we approach and transact business with our customers. Our model of banking is unique and offers a
compelling new value proposition to all Sri Lankans. We do not engage in interest bearing transactions but
operate on a profit and loss sharing system which our customers believe is fair, just and transparent.
A zero-tolerance Sharia Risk Management Framework ensures strict compliance in all our transactions on
an end-to-end basis.
The bank operates on a ‘hub-and-spoke’ model in order to achieve higher levels of process efficiency.
This includes the centralised processing of transactions, an integrated risk management framework and
a customer centric and performance driven business culture. In this regard, human capital is of critical
importance. The bank has taken steps to cultivate a process mind-set in our employees with a view to
continuously improve our business processes and enhance the bank’s operating efficiency.
In this short period of 5 months, the bank has invested prudently in building appropriate systems and
processes, products, people and the brand. Technology is a key driver of our processes. Our core banking
system is fully Sharia compliant. It is noteworthy that in this period the total assets of the bank grew from
LKR 3.1 Billion to LKR 14.5 Billion and through a process of acquisition and growth, customer deposits
increased to LKR 11.3 Billion exceeding our expectations and customer advances increased to almost
LKR 5 Billion. We now have over 60,000 customers across 14 branches and will be soon adding a number of
ATMs for the convenience of our customers.
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The bank retains a good quality asset book with a Non-Performing Assets Ratio of less than 1%.
The Statutory Liquid Asset Ratio is well above the required level of 20% and the Capital Adequacy Ratios
are at a healthy level with Core Capital and Total Capital ratios at 26.5% and 25.5% respectively as at
31 December 2011. The losses recorded in this period are due to the pre-operating expenses incurred and
are well within the financial budget of the period.
The bank’s progress is on course with the 5 year strategic plan approved by the Board of Directors.
We have aggressive plans to extend our reach across territories where there is potential demand for our
model of banking and the products and services we offer. With our unique value proposition we have
positioned ourselves as the most preferred bank in our core market segment and shall continue to build our
brand across the other segments in order to touch the hearts and minds of all Sri Lankans. The bank also
has plans to list its shares on the Colombo Stock Exchange.
In our journey forward there are many challenges we have to face. Sharia compliant banking is an integral
component of the alternate finance industry. Though nascent in Sri Lanka, it has tremendous potential for
growth and value addition to the economy, particularly in view of its linkages to global Sharia compliant
finance and investment. Whilst Sri Lanka’s banking regulations have seen initial changes to facilitate the
birth of Sharia compliant banks and window operations in conventional banks, a lot more needs to be done
in order to enable further growth and development of the industry. We have initiated and are in active
discussion with the regulators in order to bring in further appropriate changes to the regulatory, tax
and legislative environments towards this end and hope to see a level of response and progress as
have been witnessed in other jurisdictions such as UK, Thailand and Singapore where the industry is
rapidly progressing.
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The industry presently is extremely limited by the lack of sufficient Sharia compliant avenues to invest its
surplus liquidity. There is a dire need to develop alternative instruments as substitutes to the conventional
Treasury Bills and Treasury Bonds. The bank is in discussion with the regulators on alternative instruments
and will continue to pursue such discussions in order to create an enabling environment for the growth and
development of Sharia compliant banking in the country.
We have active linkages with progressive banks in the global Sharia compliant banking industry, in addition
to our strategic shareholders, which would enable us to progressively bring in new products and value
additions to the local market and the economy.
Over the next two years, the bank will be consolidating its position in terms of people, systems and
processes; building its brand value and achieving profitability in operations.

Faizal Salieh
Managing Director/CEO
3 May 2012
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Board of Directors
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1. Osman Kassim (Chairman) 2. Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)
3. Dato’ A Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman (Senior Director and Non-Executive, Independent Director)
4. Tyeab Akbarally (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

5. Dr A.A.M. Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

6. Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
7. Mohammed Wahidul Haque (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
9. Yeo Sock Hwa (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

8. Jaafar Bin Abu (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

10. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail (Non-Executive, Independent Director)

11. Ruzly Hussain (Non-Executive, Independent Director) 12. Angelo M Patrick (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
13. Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
14. Mrs. Preeni M. Dunuwille Koralege (Head of Legal, Compliance and Company Secretary)
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Osman Kassim
(Chairman)
Osman Kassim counts well over 35 years of business management experience in diverse areas of business and is the founder
Chairman. He is also the founder Chairman of Expolanka Group of Companies which is a large and well diversified corporate
group of 40 companies engaged in the export of tea and non-traditional commodities, import trading, food processing, freight
forwarding, manufacturing, waste management systems, entrepòt trading, travel and tours, airline agencies, cargo services
and aviation. The Group’s annual turnover exceeds US$ 35 Million and it is well respected for its strong business ethics. He
is also Chairman of the Asia Pacific Institute of Information Technology (APIIT) in Sri Lanka, a joint venture with APIIT,
Malaysia. He is a member of several Chambers of Commerce and has been a member of Sri Lanka’s Investment and Trade
Promotion Delegations to the Middle East from time to time.
Faizal Salieh
(Managing Director/CEO)

Faizal Salieh is the Managing Director/CEO of Amãna Bank, Sri Lanka’s first and only licensed commercial bank to operate in
full compliance with Islamic banking principles. He joined Amãna Investments Limited in 2004 and led the company towards
obtaining the banking license and the formation and launch of Amãna Bank in 2011. He also played a key role in facilitating
appropriate changes to the country’s regulatory and legislative framework to support Islamic banking.
He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics with First Class Honours, a Master’s Degree in Business Administration and is
a Fellow of the Institute of Certified Professional Managers in Sri Lanka. He counts well over three decades of experience
in conventional and development banking both in Sri Lanka and overseas and has held top management positions in
leading multinational and local banks such as Grindlays Bank, ANZ Bank and National Development Bank. He has hands-on
experience in setting up and initialising Sri Lanka’s first Private Sector Housing Bank, NDB Housing Bank, of which he was the
CEO and Board Director until 2004.
He has wide business experience having served on the Boards of several companies in the business of banking, finance, fund
management, manufacturing, trading and education. He has also held several positions in various Governmental Committees
in the fields of finance, economic affairs, housing and construction and education as well as in NGOs. He also served on the
Boards of the University of Peradeniya, the Postgraduate Institute of Management of the University of Sri Jayewardenepura,
Sri Lanka Vocational Training Authority and the World Bank Promoted Distance Learning Centre.
He is an active member of the Main Committee of the Ceylon Chamber of Commerce, the premier Trade Chamber in
Sri Lanka, and is also a member of the Chamber’s Advisory Council, the Finance and Banking Steering Committee, Financial
& Regulatory Reporting Steering Committee, the Human Resources and Education Committee and Membership Steering
Committee. He also serves on the Council of the Sri Lanka Institute of Directors, the Academic Council of The Institute of
Bankers, Sri Lanka and The Sri Lanka Accounting Standards Committee. He has made several presentations on World Islamic
Banking forums and is presently on the select Panel of Advisors of the Islamic Finance News Service based in Kuala Lumpur,
Malaysia.
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Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman
(Senior Director and Non-Executive, Independent Director)

Dato’ A Tajudin B H Abdul Rahman is the former Managing Director of Bank Islam, Malaysia. He holds a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration and a Bachelor’s Honours Degree in Economics. He counts over 30 years of banking experience of
which 21 years have been in Islamic Banking. His present positions include Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Malaysian
Islamic Economic Development Foundation; Founder President of the Association of Islamic Banking Institutions in
Malaysia; Director of the Kedah Islamic Institute; Director of the Islamic University College, Malaysia and Adjunct Professor
of Banking and Finance, University Utara, Malaysia. He has also held Board positions with the Accounting and Auditing
Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions and the General Council for Islamic Banks and Financial Institutions, Bahrain.
He has won several awards and honours in Malaysia in recognition of his contribution to banking and society and was
conferred the title of Dato in 1994 by His Majesty the Sultan of Kedah.
Tyeab Akbarally
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

Tyeab Akbarally is a Senior Director of Akbar Brothers (Pvt.) Limited, Falcon Trading (Private) Limited and Falcon
Commodities (Private) Limited. Akbar Brothers Limited is the leading tea export company and has won many awards
for their export performances. He has also served as a member of the Executive Committee of the National Chamber of
Commerce and as a committee member of the Ceylon Chamber of Commerce of which he has been a member for a number of
years. He has also been the Chairman of the Spice & Allied Products Traders’ Association and the Chairman of the Colombo
Tea Traders’ Association. He has considerable experience in the import and export trade and a large part of his business is
with the Middle East.
Dr. A.A.M. Haroon
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon is a graduate of King Edward Medical College, Lahore, Pakistan. He is also the Chairman of Lucky Group of
Companies which is engaged in the manufacturing and export of ready made garments and textiles, real estate development
and healthcare. He is the President of the Sri Lanka-Pakistan Friendship Association and the Memon Association of
Sri Lanka. He practices as a family physician in Colombo. He is also a Panel Doctor for foreign airlines, foreign missions and
Hotel Taj Samudra, and is a Council Member of the Medical Practitioners’ Association.
Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat is the current Managing Director of Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad. He holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration with specialisation in Finance from the University of Hull, UK. He has well over two decades
of banking experience in Malaysia which includes management positions in Bank Bumiputra, Public Bank, Pacific Bank,
Commerce International Merchant Bank, Credit Agricole Indosuez and Danaharta Nasional. He has held the post of President
at the Association of Islamic Banking Institution Malaysia (AIBIM) and currently serves as a Board Director of the Islamic
Banking and Finance Institute Malaysia Sdn Bhd (IBFIM) and the Asian Institute of Finance (AIF).
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Mohammed Wahidul Haque
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

Mohammed Wahidul Haque joined the Board of Directors of AB Bank Limited on 12 December 2007 and was subsequently elected
as the Chairman in July 2008. He also holds the Chairmanship of AB Investment Limited (ABIL) and AB Securities Limited (ABSL)
- the two capital market subsidiaries of AB Bank and Cashlink Bangladesh Limited (CBL), the EFT business platform of AB Bank.
Mr. Haque is a BA and LLB graduate under University of Dhaka. He is the present Managing Director of Deundi Tea Company
(UK) Limited and the Noapara Tea Company (UK) Limited. The other posts he has held are Member, Bangladesh Tea Board
(Dhaka), Board of Trustees, Plantation Employees Provident Fund and Cha Sramik Kalayan Trust, Government of Bangladesh and
Member, Managing Committee Bangladesh Employers’ Federation (Dhaka). He is the longest serving Chairman of Bangladesh Tea
Association (BCS).
Jaafar Bin Abu
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

Jaafar Bin Abu is the Chief Operating Officer - Business Support, Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad. He holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration specializing in banking and finance from the University of Hull (UK). He brings with him more
than 30 years of banking experience in both the business and operational aspects of banking, having served the Central Bank,
local, regional and international banks. Trained locally and internationally, he has handled local, regional and international
transactions. The other senior positions he has held include Vice-President - Trade Finance Operations, Citigroup Trade Services
Malaysia Sdn Bhd (Citigroup’s Regional Trade Processing Centre); Vice-President - Trade Finance Operations, OCBC Bank Malaysia
Berhad (Singapore and Malaysia Trade Processing); Assistant General Manager - Trade Finance, Arab Malaysian Bank Berhad; and
Group Head - Trade Finance & Electronic Banking, Malayan Banking Berhad.
Yeo Sock Hwa
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

Yeo Sock Hwa is the precedent partner of an internationally affiliated professional firm providing corporate advisory services to
companies, including those of small enterprise to large charitable organisations. She sits on the Board of a number of companies
with multi-national participation, which has corporate presence in many parts of Asia. She is currently the Chairperson of the
Singapore-based Millennium Group of Companies, with diverse interests in the automotive industry, real estate and equity
investments.
Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail is the Financial Consultant of Ramada Hotel, Colombo. He has served on the Directorate of
Alhambra Hotels Limited, the owners and operators of Holiday Inn Colombo. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL) and is a member of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants, Australia. He is a
Nominee of the ICASL on the Governing Council of the Association of Accounting Technicians of Sri Lanka, of which he is also a
Fellow Member.
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Ruzly Hussain
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

Ruzly Hussain has over 46 years of experience in the field of industry and trading. He is the company Director/Chairman of
M.C. Abdul Rahims & Brothers Limited and holds directorates at Worldstar Lanka (Private) Limited, Cleansol (Private) Limited
and Free Lanka Media (Private) Limited.
Angelo M. Patrick
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

Angelo M. Patrick holds a Master's Degree in Business Administration from the University of Colombo, a Fellow Member of the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (UK) and a Member of the Institute of Marketing (UK). He has held Directorates
and Senior Management positions over the past 40 years in Sri Lanka, Indonesia and Canada. Some of the positions he held are
Group Director, The Capital Maharaja Organisation Limited, Managing Director NDB Stock Brokers Limited, Director (per pro)
Carson Cumberbatch Limited, Senior Management Consultant , Bank of Ceylon, Finance Manager, P T Condong Garut , Jakarta,
Indonesia. He was the President of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, Sri Lanka Division in 1993-94 and
represented Sri Lanka on the Global Council of CIMA in the United Kingdom for 3 years. He is a Lecturer and Examiner for the
Postgraduate Diploma in Manufacturing Management in the University of Colombo. He was a Member of the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.
Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui is the Division Manager, Advisory & Support, Islamic Financial Services Department, Islamic Development
Bank, Saudi Arabia (IDB). He holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration specialising in Finance from the University
of Missouri (USA) and a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from Kansas City University (USA). He brings seventeen
years of multi-disciplinary experience in corporate banking and credit, project finance, and business advisory with leading
global companies like American Express Bank, Riyadh Bank, and Ernst & Young. Prior to joining IDB in 2010, he was heading
the Financial Economic Solutions Group at Ernst & Young, Bahrain focusing on strategic projects in economic development,
infrastructure, and public-private-partnership. Until 2009, he led the Transactions team in Ernst & Young’s award-winning Islamic
Financial Services Group in Islamic retail/wholesale banks, funds, and private equity functions. He was the Acting CEO of the
Waqf Fund at Central Bank of Bahrain from 2007-2010, on secondments from Ernst & Young, charged with developing the Islamic
financial sector in Bahrain.
Mrs. Preeni M. Dunuwille Koralege
Head of Legal, Compliance and Company Secretary

Mrs. Preeni Manjula Dunuwille Koralege is an Attorney-at-Law and also holds a LLB Degree from the University of Colombo with
22 years of experience in active Legal Practice and Corporate Law and Banking. She is also a qualified Company Secretary.
She commenced her career as a Professional Assistant at Messrs F.J. & de Saram, one of the oldest Law Firms in
Sri Lanka and worked there for 6 years. Thereafter, she joined the ABN Amro Bank and served for 8 years handling Legal,
Recoveries, Credit Risk Management and Control. Subsequently she joined Confifi Group of Companies as the General Manager,
Legal and Corporate and served for 3 years prior and subsequently joined People's Bank on 1 September 2005 as the Legal Advisor
to the Board and Chief Compliance Officer. She was a member of the People’s Bank Corporate Management Team. In May 2009 she
joined Amãna Investments Limited as the Head of Legal and the first female member of its Corporate Management Team and is
currently holding the position of Head of Legal, Compliance and Company Secretary of the bank.
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Independent Sharia Supervisory Council
Rtd. Justice Ash-Sheik Mufti Muhammad Taqi Usmani
He is an Executive Member and Chairman of the Sharia Board of the Accounting & Auditing Organisation for
Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI), and a former member of the Sharia Appellate Bench of the Supreme
Court of Pakistan. He is also the Vice-President of Darul-Uloom, Karachi and a permanent member of the
Jeddah-based Islamic Fiqh Academy. Justice Taqi Usmani is one of the foremost experts in the area of Islamic
Finance in the world, and he sits on the Sharia Councils of many large and prestigious financial organisations
dispersed all over the world. He holds an Alimiyyah and Takhassus Degree from Darul-Uloom, Karachi, a
Master’s Degree from Punjab University and a LLB Degree from the University of Karachi.
Ash-Sheik M.M.A. Mubarak
He is the former President and present Vice-President of the All Ceylon Jamiyyathul Ulema. He is a highlylearned and respected scholar who holds a Bachelor of Islamic Law (Sharia) Degree from the Islamic University
of Madina Al Munawwara, Saudi Arabia and is presently the Principal of Sri Lanka’s leading Arabic College - AlGhafooria Arabic College of Sri Lanka. Further, he is the Chairman of Ash-Shaikh Binbaaz Muslim Ladies Arabic
College of Malwana, Sri Lanka.
Ash-Sheik Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe
Ash-Sheik Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe is the President of the All Ceylon Jamiyyathul Ulema and is a highly-respected
scholar and speaker from Sri Lanka. He is a graduate of Jamiyyathul Uloomil Islamiya, Karachi where he
specialised in Islamic Jurisprudence. He is a Senior Lecturer of the reputed Kulliyathul Rashard Arabic College,
Colombo and a visiting lecturer at several leading Arabic Colleges. He has been lecturing on Hadees and other
subjects for more than a decade. He is also a Member of the Board and an Advisor to ‘Jamiyyah Islamiyya’ at
Nimal Road, Colombo, the first Arabic College established for students in the English Language. He is also a
member of the Supreme Council of Congress of Religions.
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Ash-Sheik Mohd Nazri Bin Chik
Mohd Nazri bin Chik is an Assistant General Manager and the Head of Sharia Division of Bank Islam Malaysia
Berhad. He holds a Bachelor of Sharia (Islamic Jurisprudence) and Masters of Sharia from the University of
Malaya. He initially joined Bank Islam Malaysia in June 2004 and served the bank for five years in various
designations including Senior Manager - Head of Sharia Division. He left Bank Islam Malaysia in 2009 to join
Noor Investment Group, Dubai, UAE as its Sharia Audit Manager for a brief period. At Noor Investment Group
he was responsible for strengthening the Sharia governance framework of the Noor Investment Group, Noor
Islamic Bank (NIB) and Noor Takaful (NT). During this time, he has been appointed as a member of the Sharia
Supervisory Council until he rejoined Bank Islam in January 2011. A subject expert in the field of Sharia, Mohd
Nazri has also lectured at the Ibnu Sina Institute for Islamic and Science & Technology Studies and Academy
of Islamic Studies, University of Malaya. He is also an Accredited Trainer for Islamic Banking and Finance
Institute of Malaysia. He is currently pursuing his Doctorate in Sharia.
Ash-Sheik Muhammad Hassan Kaleem (Appointed with effect from 18 February 2012)
Muhammad Hassan Kaleem is a permanent faculty member of Jamiah Darul-Uloom Karachi (a leading institute
of Islamic Sciences in Pakistan) and the Center of Islamic Economics, Karachi. He is also a trainer of Sharia
standards at the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institution (AAOIFI), Bahrain
and a visiting faculty member of the National Institute of Banking and Finance (State Bank of Pakistan).
Muhammad Hassan Kaleem is a Sharia Board member of Pak Kuwait Takaful Company Limited, Pak Qatar
Family Takaful, Deloitte (Global Islamic Finance Team), Siraj UBL Funds, Hanover Re Takaful Bahrain and
Takaful Emirate and has also served for many years as a Sharia Advisor to AlBaraka Islamic Bank (Pakistan
Operations) and various Sukuk issues. He is also a member of the committee for revising the Takaful Rules
2005, formed by the Security & Exchange Commission of Pakistan. He holds an Alimiyyah (Masters in Islamic
Sciences) and Takhassus (Specialization in Fatwa) Degree from Darul-Uloom, Karachi.
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1. Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)
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2. M.M.S. Quvylidh (Head of Consumer Banking and Branch Operations)

3. M. Pharis Jazeel (Head of Treasury)

4. C. Amrit CanagaRetna (Head of Credit)

5. Mrs. Preeni M. Dunuwille Koralege (Head of Legal, Compliance and Company Secretary)
6. M. Ali Wahid (Financial Controller)

7. Chandralal Wickramapathirana (Head of Information Technology)

8. Irshad Halaldeen (Head of Human Resources)
10. S.H.M. Giado (Head of Internal Audit)

9. M. Fairoze Burah (Head of Administration)

11. Moulavi Siraj Najubudeen (Head of Sharia Supervision)

12. Nista Badurdeen (Manager Central Operations, Trade and Financial Institutions)
13. Siddeeque Akbar (Manager Corporate Communications and Strategic Marketing)

14. Irshad Iqbal (Risk Officer)
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Bank Islam Malaysia
Berhad
(20%)

AB Bank Limited
Bangladesh
(15%)

Islamic Development
Bank Saudi Arabia
(10%)
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Since its inception in July 1983, Bank Islam has not only become the symbol of Islamic banking in Malaysia,
it has also played an integral role in setting the stage for a robust growth of the country’s Islamic financial
services industry. True to its pioneering and innovative heritage, Bank Islam is committed to its role as
a leading vehicle in transforming Malaysia into a global Islamic financial hub. To this end, Bank Islam
continuously develops and introduces trend-setting financial solutions, some of which are the
first-of-its-kind in the world or at least in the region in widening the breadth of its innovative end-to-end
Shariah-based financial products and services, comparable to that offered by its conventional counterparts.
Today, Bank Islam parades a wide-ranging list of more than 50 innovative and sophisticated Islamic
financial products and services as well as a fast growing network of 119 branches and more than 1,000
self-service terminals nationwide. In recognition of its prominence in the industry, Bank Islam was awarded
the Reader’s Digest Platinum Award for being the Most Trusted Brand for Islamic Financial Services for
three consecutive years, namely in 2009, 2010 and 2011.
AB Bank is known as one of Bangladesh’s leading private banks since its commencement, 29 years ago.
It continues to remain updated with the latest products and services, considering consumer and client
perspectives. AB Bank has thus been able to keep their consumer’s and client’s trust while upholding their
reliability, across time. AB Bank has established its presence in 82 different Business Centres of the country,
one foreign Branch in Mumbai, India and also established a wholly-owned Subsidiary Finance Company in
Hong Kong in the name of AB International Finance Limited. To facilitate cross border trade and paymentrelated services, the bank has correspondent relationship with over 220 international banks of repute
across 58 countries of the World.
The Islamic Development Bank is an international financial institution established in pursuance of the
Declaration of Intent issued by the Conference of Finance Ministers of Muslim Countries held in Jeddah
in December 1973. The functions of the bank are to participate in equity capital and grant loans for
productive projects and enterprises besides providing financial assistance to member countries in other
forms for economic and social development. The Bank is authorised to accept deposits and to mobilize
financial resources through Sharia compatible modes. The present membership of the bank consists of
56 countries. The vision of the bank is “To be the leader in fostering socio-economic development in
member countries and Muslim communities in non-member countries in conformity with Sharia”.
The IDB Group is committed to alleviating poverty; promoting human development; science and
technology; Islamic economics; banking and finance; and enhancing cooperation amongst member
countries, in collaboration with its development partners.

Annual Report 2011

32 Corp orate Management Te am

Expolanka
Holdings PLC
(10%)

Akbar Brothers
(Pvt) Limited
(10%)

34-35 Profiles of Strategic Shareholder s

36 Risk Management

60 Corp orate S ocial Resp onsibilit y

Expolanka’s origins date back to the 1970’s, as an exporter of fresh produce. Now more than 30 years later,
Expolanka Holdings is one of Sri Lanka’s finest award-winning enterprises that have achieved phenomenal
successes. The Company is listed in the Main Board of the Colombo Stock Exchange as a diversified
conglomerate. With diversified interests in Freight & Logistics, Travel & Leisure, International Trading &
Manufacturing and Strategic Investments sectors, the Group, which has a global presence in over
12 countries and 38 cities, has 60 subsidiaries and joint venture companies. The Group firmly believes that
entrepreneurship and business values need to go hand in hand to grow successful, sustainable businesses
as Expolanka’s businesses have been built on a solid foundation of values, which has remained the
bedrock of its operations. Expolanka’s ‘dare to do’ spirit has enabled the Company to transcend ordinary
entrepreneurship and be in the forefront of idea and innovation in today’s business sector not only in Sri
Lanka, but also in the international arena.
Internationally renowned as one of Sri Lanka’s foremost exporters of Teas, Akbar Brothers has successfully
diversified into a range of sectors through strategic reinvention and expansion. Today, the Group has
a firm presence in the sectors of Tea, Power Generation, Healthcare, Packaging, Property Development
and Environmental Services. Today, Akbar Brothers rank proudly as the largest exporter of Ceylon Tea, a
position held for the past 19 consecutive years. Akbar Brothers (Pvt) Limited has been able to be the largest
exporter in all three main categories (Bulk Tea, Tea Packets and Tea Bags) in 2009. In 2009 Akbar Brothers
(Pvt) Limited exported more than 42 million kilos of tea and has received many prestigious national and
international awards over the years for outstanding exports to over 90 countries worldwide.
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Risk Management
In Islamic Banking, risk-taking is fundamental for the entitlement of profit. Thus the competitive
advantage of Amãna Bank Limited (ABL) relies on how well it manages the risk in relation to the
opportunities available in the market. As such, the bank has continued to invest in its risk management
capabilities significantly.
As risk management is an important function under the Basel Accord, the bank aims at delivering higher
shareholder value by striking a balance between risks and returns. Since the commencement of banking in
August 2011, Amãna Bank has taken several steps to continuously improve its risk management practices
in order to ensure that it falls in line with good corporate governance practices as prescribed by the Central
Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL) and Basel II Accord.
These include • Setting up a Board-Level Integrated Risk Management Committee chaired by an Independent,
Non-Executive Director.
• Formulation of an Integrated Risk Management Framework and a Road Map with the assistance
of external expertise. This includes a Gap Analysis of ABL’s Risk Management Practices against
Best in Class Risk Management Practices in the Credit, Market and Operational Risk areas. The
recommendations on Gap Analysis carried out by the external expert have been studied in detail and an
implementation plan is in effect for remediation.
• Setting up of Management Level Risk Management Committees to implement and monitor risk
management policies and procedures.
• Intensified risk management training has been initiated to inculcate a risk management culture at all
levels of the bank’s operations.
• Transition to Basel II framework has been commenced in line with the directives of CBSL.
• The appointment of an Independent Risk Officer and establishment of a Risk Management Department
(RMD) have been completed to assist in the optimum development, implementation and management
of risk functions in the bank. This includes the facilitation of the day-to-day management, operations
and administration of risk-taking activities.
The functions and activities of RMD are critical to the overall health of the bank’s business, and its key
performance benchmarks are independent of direct business profitability targets.
The Bank has progressed under the Risk Management Framework from a structural perspective since its
inception; it is now working on improving the Risk Management Control Framework.
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The Bank is in the process of realigning its risk organisational responsibilities with the objective of
ensuring a single view of risk across the bank and implementing capabilities for integrated risk
management. It is imperative that the bank’s risk management function should be able to provide an
independent evaluation of its overall business decisions and strategies. Therefore the core risk
management function is segregated from the business operating departments and centralised, reporting to
the Board Integrated Risk Management Committee (BIRMC) which is a sub-committee of the Board. The
sections below outline the risk management structures of the bank. Such outline is followed by a detailed
description of the roles and responsibilities of each party involved in risk management given under
the specific structures. The specific structures for risk include management of Credit, Market and
Operational risks.
The implementation of the bank’s governance structure and the ultimate responsibility for understanding
all risks undertaken by the bank for proper management rests with the Board of Directors. The Board
approves all risk policies and the bank’s overall risk appetite. The principal responsibility lies with the
Board in establishing risk tolerance limits, approving relevant strategies and policies, and monitoring the
effectiveness of the risk management framework. The BIRMC assists the Board in the risk management
function. The Committee meets on a regular basis and more often if required. Since its formulation the
BIRMC has met 5 times.
Three additional Executive Management Committees, as mentioned below, operate with specialised focus
to support the BIRMC. These Committees are responsible for co-ordinating risk matters for their respective
areas of risk management:
• Executive Risk Management Committee (ERMC)
• Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO)
• Executive Credit Committee (ECC)
ERMC focuses on the execution and implementation of directives by the Board and the BIRMC together
with the effective management of the risk issues. ALCO is responsible for overseeing and managing the
liquidity and profitability rate gaps of the bank. ECC is responsible for reviewing and deliberating on all
credit-related risks, including but not limited to credit reviews and their potential defaults.
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Credit Risk is the potential financial loss that could arise as a result of the failure of a borrower or
counterparty to honour contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from different activities of the bank
including financing, international trade, treasury operations, leasing and Off-Balance Sheet exposures
such as guarantees. Financing being the main line of business of the bank, credit risk is considered as a
critical factor in the overall risk exposure of the bank. Accordingly, the bank has developed a formal credit
risk strategy incorporating the elements mentioned in the ‘Basel II Ref/Best Practice’ Section, appointed
a Risk Officer and established a Credit Risk Management Department (CRMD) to facilitate business units
to manage their credit risk exposures in an objective manner within the Integrated Risk Management
Framework. The CRMD functions within the RMD. It also carries out credit risk reviews on a regular basis
with a view to identifying, assessing and taking appropriate risk mitigation measures to ensure that the
existing risk exposures are maintained at reasonable levels. Moreover, the bank has developed a system for
credit risk rating for the analysis of quantitative and qualitative risk factors. The Bank shall continuously
improve its rating system towards complying with the Basel II requirements.
The Bank expects to introduce a robust risk grading system with the capability of predicting the Probability
of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and the Exposure at Default (EAD) of a borrower with the
implementation of a planned automation of the credit evaluation process. These indicators would help the
Financing Officers to measure the risk profile of the credit portfolio in an objective manner.
Branch-wise as well as portfolio-wise, credit risk reviews are carried out on a regular basis to ensure that a
consistent level of quality is maintained in all credit facilities.
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The Bank focuses on targeting the SME Sectors as its area of focus, while simultaneously maintaining a
well-diversified portfolio to ensure maximum representation of different businesses from diverse
backgrounds. As indicated in the figure above, though at first glance it appears that Corporate Sector is
the largest sector with 41% exposure, many consumer banking customers also fall into the SME category
especially if they obtain vehicle Ijarahs for business purposes, etc. Therefore, the bank's exposure is
centered around the small and medium business owners who struggle to bring his entrepreneurial drive
to reality due to lack of financing. The Bank strives to ensure that entrepreneurial spirit is enriched and
nurtured.
Exposure
Concentration by
Economic Sector

Exposure Risk arises due to over-dependence on a particular sector of the economy, geographical area or
exposure to a single party or a group. The Bank’s exposure concentration by Economic Sector is effectively
managed and is well-diversified among different economic sectors and geographical locations.
                   -       ( )
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The bank has placed high emphasis on the effective management of operational risk through practices
and procedures covering all aspects of risk within the bank’s entire network. The bank has established a
dedicated team for Risk Management with the primary objective of effectively managing the operational
risk profile of the bank.
Operational Risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events.
1. Operational Risk Management (ORM)
The bank aims to perform the following key functions of ORM in line with its expansion strategy whilst
deploying adequate resources and supporting technology:
• Promoting a risk awareness culture bank-wide.
• Establishing and maintaining an Operational Risk Management (ORM) framework for monitoring
ORM effectiveness.
• Assessing operational risk issues at business unit and support unit levels.
• Reporting and escalating operational risk issues to the relevant governance levels with
recommendations on appropriate risk mitigation strategies.
• Developing and updating the ORM Policy and supporting frameworks, standards and guidelines.
• Developing, training and guiding business units and support units in implementing ORM tools.
• Training Heads of business units and support units and Branch Managers to ensure common language
in managing operational risk as well as providing structured ORM trainings to all bank staff in
promoting a risk awareness culture.
• Independently assessing the quality of input from business units, support units and branches by
providing training, guidance, mentoring and coaching as may be required.
• Driving end to end Process Risk Mapping (PRM) and Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) exercises
bank-wide.
• Partnering with Business Unit and Support Unit Heads in surfacing and resolving operational
risk issues.
• Conducting Internal Operational Risk Audits and maintaining of Risk Loss Databases for causal
trend analysis.
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• Ensuring timely roll out and sign off of operational risk tools as well as resolution of issues.
• Risk assessment and review of new products and services.
• Assessment of new outsourcing arrangements.
• Driving the Business Continuity Management (BCM) programme.
• Annual assessment of bank-wide Takaful programme.
• Providing independent, regular, bank-wide assessment and reporting of operational risk exposure to the
ERMC and the BIRMC.
In addition, the bank has initiated appropriate measures to carry out the following functions under the
broader spectrum of ORM:
• Setting up of the Key Control Standards Assessment (KCSA) - a checklist that takes into consideration
the operational controls.
• Risk Loss Events Management and Reporting (RLEMR).
• Facilitating the identification of key/specific risks and establishment of thresholds through Key Risk
Indicators (KRIs).
• Tracking/ensuring effective integration of control improvements through PRM and RCSA.
• Providing timely feedback on new products and services launched by the bank in compliance with due
diligence process.
• Tracking significant operational risk issues including those highlighted by Auditors and Regulators for
closure.
• Ensuring all documents such as policies, guidelines and manuals are maintained and reviewed in a
timely manner.
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a. Risk Governance Framework
The operational risk management constitutes an integral part of the corporate governance and the
integrated risk management system of the bank. Operational risk management is accompanied by
improved definition and positioning of the activities of the bank that transition from defensive activities to
proactive activities and involve the analysis of risks and prevention of loss events.
b. Objectives and Processes
The business unit/line management objectives are achieved by integrating risk management practices into
the bank’s business processes, systems and culture. As a pro-active partner to the senior management,
ORM’s value lies in supporting the challenge in aligning the business control environment with the bank’s
business strategy in identifying, measuring, managing, reporting and controlling operational risk. ORM
applies to all staff and operational risks inherent in the bank’s products, services, activities, processes
and systems.
c. Operational Risk Events
Operational risk events constitute the collection and analysis, including identification of the root causes of
operational risks leading to their occurrences and definition of remediation plans.
d. Loss Data Management
The bank has initiated appropriate measures to manage its loss data/information. A loss database
is maintained based on Basel II, 7 Loss Event Type categories against 5 specific Business Lines of
Amãna Bank.
Loss Event Categories

1. Internal Fraud
2. External Fraud
3. Employment practices and workplace safety
4. Clients, products and business practices
5. Damage to physical assets
6. Business disruptions and system failures
7. Execution, delivery and process management
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Treasury Services
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Consumer Banking (i.e. Retail Banking)
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The bank intends to automate the loss event management and reporting process to capture the following
information pertaining to its loss data management:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Type of Loss as per Basel Classification
Business Line
Nature of Event
Date of Event Occurrence
Date of Event Discovery
Gross Loss Amount
Net Loss Amount
Date of Recovery
Amount of Recovery

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.

Date of Write-Off
Amount of Write-Off
General Ledger Accounting
Net Loss Attributed to Operational Risk
Net Loss to Operational Risk Impact Categories
Whether Relating to Credit, Market or Operational Risk
Suggested Cause of Action
Status of Issue (Open/Closed)
Comments

The above information is subjected to causal trend analysis and implementation of appropriate mitigation
strategies to operate within the approved Risk Appetite of the bank.
e. Self-Assessment (Business Process Risk and Control)
All business units undertake a regular RCSA exercise by identifying the risks inherent in their activities for
assessment of adequate internal controls and for determining the residual risk for classification according
to potential impact and likelihood. Risk Assessment, Event Management and Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) are
developed to evaluate the risk controls and measure the residual risk. The timely reporting of operational
losses and their prompt addressing by the respective management is encouraged.
f. Key Risk Indicators (KRIs)
Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) are developed where appropriate to act as early warning signals by providing
the capability to indicate changes in the bank’s risk profile. The identification and analysis of parameters
that can be considered as key risk indicators represent the level of operational risk within the bank. This
enables the bank to focus on indicators related to the most risky activities and processes. The KRIs are
usually reviewed on a periodic basis (such as monthly or quarterly) in order to be aware of changes that
may be indicative of risk concerns. Effective tracking of these indicators by the Risk Department allows the
bank to identify changing risks and respond to them promptly.
g. Regular Monitoring & Reporting
The bank’s on-going monitoring of operational risk ensures effectiveness of controls and implementation
appropriate mitigation strategies. RMD monitors and tracks action items to maintain the evidence of risk
monitoring. Monitoring activities include reviewing of monthly Financial Statements (budget vs. actual),
business unit-wise feedback sessions, MIS reporting, Internal Control Self-Assessment and Internal Audits.
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Operational risk reporting reflects the scope and complexity of the bank’s operational risk framework and
includes information on the level and trends of historical operational losses. Regular reporting is carried
out for awareness of senior management, ERMC and BIRMC on risk assessments, control assessments and
risk exposures to assign ownership responsibilities and required actions based on its potential impact and
likelihood. Reporting is escalated to the Board level for further action on any open items.
h. Control Effectiveness, Testing & Findings
The Bank assesses the strength and effectiveness of the existing controls against each identified
risk. Where controls are inappropriate (inadequate or excessive) control measures are redefined and
implemented to overcome inefficiencies that hinder the accomplishment of business or process objectives
based on findings/test results of key sources of risk identification such as • Control self-assessment
• Risk self-assessment
• Key risk indicators
• Audit and assurance reports
• Regulatory reports
• Exceptional events/incidents (human behaviour, administration, physical system etc.)
• Business recovery plans
• Business plans
• Operational plans
• Management reports
• Customer complaints
Once controls are redefined they are aligned to risks and implemented for effective management of
operational risks within the bank.
2. Operational Risk Management (ORM) Policy and Framework
The Bank has implemented a robust Operational Risk Management (ORM) Policy and Framework approved
by the Board of Directors.
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Risk Definition / Governance / Accountability

Foundation

Operational Risk Policies / Risk Awareness
Internal Controls

Risk Mitigation
Programmes

Business Continuity Management
RCSA
Risk Event Management and Reporting
Key Risk Indicators

Risk Tools

Risk Analysis and Reporting
Process Risk Mapping
New Product and Service Approval Process

Risk Measurement

Loss Provision

Capital Allocation
Takaful Programme

ORM Policy and Framework

The Bank intends to automate a sound ORM system and framework across its network for effective
mitigation of operational risk in the following aspects:
1. Loss Event Management and Reporting
2.

Process Risk Mapping

3.

Identification of Key Risk Indicators (KRIs)

4.

Risk Mitigation Action Planning

5.

Maintenance of Risk Register for Risk Monitoring

6.

Products and Services Approval/Review Process

7.

Business Continuity Planning (BCP), Risk Analysis and Reporting
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3. Governance of Operational Risk Management (ORM)
A key element of the bank’s corporate governance is a pervasive risk management culture. Underpinning
this, the bank has adopted a robust governance framework with four levels of operational risk governance1. Board Integrated Risk Management Committee (BIRMC)
2. Executive Risk Management Committee (ERMC)
3. Risk Management Department (RMD)
4. Business Unit/Support Unit Levels

(BIRMC)
(ERMC)
(RMD)

BU/SU
BRO/SRO/Designated Operational Risk
Co-ordinator (DORC)

Head Office Depts.

Branches
All Staff

Governance of ORM

The bank’s ORM framework is a set of inter-related processes, tasks and responsibilities, tools and
mitigating strategies that has strengthened the bank in managing and measuring operational risk in
compliance with industry best practices. It aligns business and risk management goals in providing a
foundation that enables a consistent approach to operational risk across the bank. Furthermore, ORM
framework aims to establish a common understanding of operational risk and risk management, promoting
consistent application of techniques and capturing of relevant data.
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The Bank’s ORM framework has adopted an in-depth defensive approach that consists of three lines
of defence• Level 1 - Business Unit/Support Unit/Branches
• Level 2 - Risk Management Department
• Level 3 - Internal Audit Department
At the first line of defence, the potential operational risks are identified and graded at the business unit/
support unit level by business managers in collaboration with the Designated Operational Risk
Co-ordinators (DORCs). Consequently mitigating controls are implemented with mitigation progress being
monitored and these risks are then reported to the RMD respectively.
RMD assigns ownership, consistent application of risk policies, required actions to monitor progress of
risks identified, in addition to confirming the risk grading provided at the business unit/support unit level.
Risks categorised as High, Medium are reported to ERMC and BIRMC respectively.
The bank’s Internal Audit Department would also determine the final risk grading as well as confirm
appropriateness of risk ownership action required and monitor progress to date. Risks of high potential
impact are escalated directly to the ERMC and BIRMC for assurance of immediate mitigation. Risks
determined as exceptional are escalated to the ERMC, BIRMC and to the Board level to assign ownership
responsibility and immediate action requirements to operate within the approved Risk Appetite of
the bank.

1st LINE OF DEFENCE

BU/SU Head
(Including Business Heads, BMs,
BRO/SRO/RMD/All Staff)

Responsible for ongoing
oversight of risk and control at
day-to-day work level

2nd LINE OF DEFENCE

RMD

establish and maintain
ORM framework assessing,
reporting and controlling risk
on a Bank-wide level

3rd LINE OF DEFENCE

Internal Audit

Providing Independent
assurance to Board of Directors

and Senior Management that Risk
Management Processes and Tools
are effectively implemented
Lines of Defence
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1. Process Risk Mapping (PRM) & Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA)
The RMD has initiated a bank-wide business practice of identifying and appraising significant operational
risks inherent in business activities through PRM and RCSA exercises.
It is a practical, proactive and robust risk management model that provides a systemic means of identifying
control gaps that threaten the achievement of defined business or process objectives and monitoring what
management implements to close such gaps. This technique is a team-based self-appraisal exercise that
helps managers to identify and measure operational risks through estimates based on a consensus opinion
undertaken by a group of knowledgeable managers and staff at the bank.
This exercise covers the following key functions at Amãna Bank:
1. Identification of processes
2. Identification of risks associated with each of the processes
3. Grading and Assessment of risks
4. Assessment of existing controls
5. Mitigation of risks
6. Monitoring of risk control action to closure
Operational risks identified are graded as Very High, High or Low-based on their likelihood of occurrence
and monetary/non-monetary impact on the bank.

CATASTROPHIC
HIGH
MEDIUM

Priority

LOW

Very High
High
Low
UNLIKELY

LIKELY

Operational Risk Grading / Categorisation
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Appropriate risk mitigation strategies are adopted by the bank for risks categorised as follows:
Very High - Immediate action required
High
- Continuous monitoring and if applicable improved action required
Low
- Continuous monitoring

Severity

Frequency

Low Frequency
of Losses

High Frequency
of Losses

High Severity
of Losses

TransferInsurance

Avoidance

Low Severity
of Losses

Retention/
Self-Insurance

Retention with Loss
Control - Risk
Reduction

Operational Risk Mitigation Strategy

The Bank has taken appropriate measures in managing ‘expected losses’ of high frequency/low impact
events and ‘unexpected or catastrophic losses’ of low frequency/high impact events to operate within the
established risk appetite of the bank. It has successfully achieved this objective by cushioning ‘expected
losses’ through loss provisioning and ‘unexpected losses’ through capital allocation.

Frequency

The risk portfolio of the bank has been well-managed through various components of the ORM Framework
which aims at a fat tail distribution of risk event losses as depicted in the following diagram-

99.9%
Confidence Level

Impact
Expected Loss

Unexpected Loss

Catastrophic Loss

Fat tail distribution of Risk Event Losses
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2. Business Continuity Planning (BCP) and Disaster Recovery Planning (DRP)
The Bank has taken appropriate measures to strengthen the business continuity and disaster recovery
capability from its inception. A comprehensive BCP and DRP have been developed for all the critical
business units of the bank with the assistance of external consultants. The BCP and DRP have been
successfully implemented across the bank’s network with adequate measures taken to safeguard all its
assets and mission critical functions to minimise risks arising from unforeseen business disruptions.
The plans are reviewed and updated on a semi-annual basis based upon a Business Impact Analysis study
undertaken across all business functions of the bank. Individual unit BCPs have been communicated to all
critical business units and tested for their viability and resilience for continuation of vital operations.
BCP/DRP teams and Call Tree structures have been formulated to function under crisis situations in a
timely manner for restoration of the bank’s critical operations to ‘business as usual’.
3. BCP/DRP Team Structure
• Business Continuity Management Steering Committee (BCMSC)
• Business Continuity Crisis Management Team (BCCMT)
• Business Unit Damage Assessment and Restoration Team (BUDART)
• Information Technology Damage Assessment and Restoration Team (ITDART)
• Emergency Co-ordination Team (ECT)
• Location Damage Assessment Team (LDAT)
• Emergency Management Team (EMT)
• Damage Assessment/Facility Restoration Team (DAFRT)
• Communication Infrastructure Support Team (CIST)
• System and Application Support Team (SAST)
Most importantly, the bank is committed to protect its entire staff and has ensured all business processes
(manual or automated) be executed to provide uninterrupted banking services to all its customers whilst
sustaining public trust, shareholder confidence, brand image, financial stability, and market reputation.
The Bank has established a fully-fledged Disaster Recovery Centre - located off-site with adequate
infrastructure to take over IT operations should any serious system failure occur at the Head Office Data
Centre that supports the core business activities of the bank.
The Bank’s exclusively developed Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP) focuses on recovery and restoration aspects
of data and critical Information Technology (IT) applications, programmes, operating systems, networks,
data files etc. This assures high availability and system reliability, and achievement of predefined Recovery
Time Objectives (RTOs) and Recovery Point Objectives (RPOs) computed based on the Business Impact
Analysis (BIA) study.
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An online real time data replication/mirroring system to transmit data from the bank’s Head Office Data
Centre to the Disaster Recovery (DR) Centre off-site has also been deployed by the bank.
The bank has successfully conducted BCP testing for critical operations such as Central Clearing, SWIFT
and Trade Services from the Disaster Recovery Centre. The Main Branch operation at Head Office has also
been successfully tested for BCP viability from its respective alternative site.
The test results revealed that the bank's Central Clearing, SWIFT, Trade Services and Main Branch
operations have the DR capability to recover from significant business disruption with minimal impact to
its payments and settlements function in addition to providing essential customer services.
Plans are underway to launch a BCP Rollout Project to the entire branch network to create bank-wide
awareness on business continuity planning and to issue an official instruction circular to all business units
concerning BCP. The bank expects to achieve this objective by the end of 2012.
Market Risk
Management

Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in market rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates
and commodity prices.
The bank has initiated adequate measures to mitigate the market risk categories as follows:

Rate risk
Foreign currency risk

Equity risk

The risk of loss due to changes in the market yield curve; the volatility of market rates.
The risk of loss due to changes in spot and forward exchange rates and the volatility of currency
exchange rates.
The risk of loss due to changes in the prices of individual shares and equity indices.
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The risk of loss due to changes in spot and forward prices of precious metals.
In order to protect the bank from adverse impacts due to changes in market rates, it is important to
identify and assess the risks associated with exposures carried by the bank. This will help the bank to
manage the exposures and take steps to mitigate the inherent risks associated with portfolios.
The activities related to market risk and the associated risks are as follows:
Activity

Associated Risk

Funding

Market rate risk
Foreign currency risk
Market rate risk
Credit risk
Foreign currency risk
Equities risk
Commodities risk
Market rate risk
Credit risk
Foreign currency risk
Equities risk
Commodities risk

Investment

Trading

The Bank experienced a sudden 3% depreciation of the USD/LKR exchange rate in November 2011 as
depicted below:

The high volatility of exchange rates, equity prices and commodity prices with the upward trend in interest
rates in the recent past exposed the bank to a higher market risk.
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The Board of Directors and the Management have adopted the following strategies for effective
management of market risk:
i. Review and submission of market risk policies and limits by the BIRMC for approval of the Board of
Directors.
ii.

Oversee the application of the Board directed framework by the bank’s BIRMC, ALCO and ERMC for
monitoring the bank’s market risk exposures and the activities that give rise to such exposures.

iii. Provide independent oversight by the Treasury Middle Office (TMO) function for all significant market
risks, supporting the MD/CEO, ERMC and ALCO with risk measurement, monitoring and reporting.
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iv.

Ensure compliance with policies and limits, market risk exposures are monitored by Treasury Middle
Office (TMO) on an ongoing basis.

v.

Provide information through a series of daily, weekly and monthly reports generated by TMO of market
risk exposures by risk type to MD/CEO, Treasury Management, ERMC, ALCO and BIRMC.

The Bank uses a variety of techniques to measure and control market risk exposures. These measurements
are selected based on an assessment of the nature of risks in a particular activity. The principal
measurement techniques are adopted by ABL Value at Risk (VaR), stress testing and gap analysis.
Value at risk

VaR is a method of measuring market risk based upon a time horizon and a confidence interval. It is a
statistical estimate of expected potential loss that is derived by translating the riskiness of any financial
instrument into a common standard.
The Bank calculates VaR on a daily basis using a 99% confidence level, and a one-day holding period for
its trading and available for sale (AFS) portfolios. This implies that there is a 1% chance that the trading
positions and AFS portfolios are expected to lose more than the VaR estimate. Variations in VaR figures
between reporting periods are generally due to changes in levels of exposure and volatilities. The VaR
results are reviewed by ERMC and BIRMC on a regular basis.
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Stress testing

VaR measures potential losses in normally active markets. An inherent limitation of VaR is that it gives no
information about how much losses could exceed their expected levels. Accordingly,stress testing examines
the impact that abnormally large movement in market factors and periods of prolonged inactivity might
have on FX, Equity and Commodity portfolios. The Bank’s stress testing programme is designed to identify
key risks and ensure that its capital can reasonably absorb potential losses from abnormal events. The
stress testing results are reviewed by ALCO and BIRMC on a quarterly basis.

Gap analysis

Gap analysis is carried out as required by the regulator. Under gap analysis,maturity of assets and liabilities
and interest rate sensitive assets, liabilities and Off-Balance Sheet items are allocated to defined time
periods on the basis of expected re-pricing dates.
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The ALCO monitors and manages the market rate risk and the liquidity risk. The ALCO submits the
approved proposals to the BIRMC for its review.
Treasury Activities

Treasury engages in FX transactions to hedge customer transactions routed through business units, money
market operations, equity transactions and commodity transactions. TMO monitors these transactions
on an on-going basis and submits daily reports to the management on risks the bank is exposed due to
Treasury activities. All limit exceptions are escalated to the management of the bank as required by the risk
management procedures.
The Bank holds investment portfolios to meet liquidity and statutory reserve requirements and for
investment purposes. These portfolios expose the bank to market rate, foreign currency and equity risks.
In order to be Sharia compliant, Equity investments are done in companies which are in the ‘White List’.
These securities are valued using prices obtained from external sources. These portfolios are controlled by
a Board-approved policy and limits.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk is the risk that the bank is unable to meet its financial obligations in a timely manner
at reasonable prices. Financial obligations include liabilities to depositors, financing and investment
commitments. Effective liquidity risk management is essential in order to maintain the confidence of
depositors and counterparties, and to enable the core businesses to continue to generate revenue, even
under adverse circumstances. Liquidity risk is managed within the framework of policies and limits that
are approved by the Board of Directors. The ALCO provides senior management oversight of liquidity risk
and meets fortnightly to review the bank’s liquidity profile.
During the period under review, the bank has maintained the Statutory Liquid Asset Ratio above the
regulatory requirement of 20%.
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The Bank actively manages its market rate exposures with the objective of enhancing net rate income
within accepted risk tolerances. Market rate risk arising from the bank’s financing, funding and investment
activities is managed in accordance with Board-approved policies and limits, which are designed to
control the risk to income and economic value of shareholders’ equity. Market rate exposures in individual
currencies are also controlled by gap limits.
The Bank is planning to engage in investing in Sukuks (Islamic Bonds) in the future which would enhance
its exposure to market rate risk. Plans are underway for adopting required risk monitoring and mitigating
procedures to protect the bank from adverse impacts due to unfavourable movement in market rates.
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Corporate Social Responsibility
While organisations may strive to carryout separate CSR projects outside the realm of their core business
and activities, Amãna Bank delivers its social responsibility through the very grains and fundamentals of its
core business activity. As a Bank which holistically follows the principles of Islamic Banking, profit making
is not the only motive. The core belief is that profit, in order to be acceptable must result from business or
financial transactions that add true economic value.
At Amãna Bank, we believe that being responsible and ethical is as important as making profits and gains.
We also believe that one should not gain at the expense of another. Guided by these beliefs and values the
bank disengages itself from financing and investing in socially harmful industries such as liquor, gambling
and tobacco irrespective of how profitable they may be. Our decisions and activities always attempt to
ensure greater good to society.
Educating the nation
on Islamic Banking

The Bank stepped forward to educate the Nation on Islamic Finance. This initiative was aimed at
developing a future workforce for the Islamic finance industry.
Having completed an analysis of the human resource needs for Islamic Banking in Sri Lanka, the bank
recognised the need to educate the youth in Islamic Finance. This resulted in Amãna Bank collaborating
with the Institute of Bankers of Sri Lanka to conduct Sri Lanka’s first ever Diploma and Certificate courses
in Islamic Banking. This initiative gave birth to a nationally endorsed and accessible pathway for Islamic
banking education in Sri Lanka. Since its commencement this programme has produced many diploma
and certificate holders, and has drawn increasing levels of interest shown by the banks and financial
institutions in the country.
Further the bank together with the Central Bank of Sri Lanka conducted a comprehensive 5 day workshop
on different areas of Islamic Banking and Finance which included areas such as treasury, hire purchase,
equity, regulatory framework etc. This workshop was well-attended by a number of bankers including
senior managers of conventional banks and financial institutions.

Uplifting the
Community

The Bank has made monetary contributions to organisations and institutions that are involved in
endeavours directed at uplifting the community and society as a whole.
Understanding the important role played by women in society, the bank extended its support to
establishments that empower females such as The Muslim Ladies Study Circle, Ceylon Moor Ladies Union,
All Ceylon Muslim Women’s Association and Ideal Muslimah, a finishing school for young women.
The Bank had programmes towards assisting the needs of children by providing pre-loaded savings
accounts to children who have excelled in studies and sports.

60

Amãna Bank

Annual Report 2011

85 D irector s’ Rep ort of Bank’s Internal Control System

87 Auditor s’ Rep ort of Bank’s In ternal Con trol System

During the year the bank also extended a generous hand to many other welfare projects and organisations
including ESCO Rehab Sri Lanka, an organisation committed to the welfare of the differently-abled
community. The Bank also contributed to set up a Kafan (shroud) Bank in Eravur, Batticaloa through which
shrouds were provided free of charge to assist deserving people in performing the final death rights of any
family member.
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83 Bank’s Compliance with Pruden tial Requiremen ts

Corporate Governance
The External Auditors have performed agreed upon procedures on the following Corporate Governance Principles from 3 (1) to 3(8)
specified in Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 2007 and amendments thereto.
Rule Number

Rule

3 (1)

The Responsibilities of the Board

3 (1) (i)

The Board shall strengthened the safety and soundness of the
bank by ensuring the implementation of the following:

3 (1) (i) (a)

Approve and oversee the bank’s strategic objectives and corporate
values and ensure that these are communicated through the bank.

Strategic plan is in place for the period 2012-2016.
The Project Management Office (PMO) of the bank
made a presentation on strategic objectives and
corporate values to the Board of Directors. This has
been discussed a number of times at length and
made a number of amendments at Board level. The
whole strategic objectives and corporate values are
yet to be approved by the Board. These objectives
are communicated to staff through Staff and Branch
Managers' meetings.

3 (1) (i) (b)

Approve the overall business strategy of the bank, including the
risk policy and risk management procedures and mechanisms
with measurable goals, for at least for the next three years.

The business strategy plan is designed for 5 years
(2012-2016).

3 (1) (i) (c)

Identify the principal risks and ensure implementation of
appropriate systems to manage the risks prudently.

The Board has delegated the function to manage risks
identified by the Board to a Board Subcommittee
namely, Board Integrated Risk Management
Committee (BIRMC). The findings of the BIRMC
meetings are submitted to the main Board for their
review.

3 (1) (i) (d)

Approve implementation of a policy of communication with all
stakeholders, including depositors, creditors, shareholders and
borrowers.

The bank is in the process of implementing a
communication policy.

3 (1) (i) (e)

Review the adequacy and the integrity of the bank’s internal
control systems and management information systems

Board reviews the adequacy and the integrity of the
bank’s internal control system by way of internal audit
reports submitted to the Board through the Board
Audit Committee (BAC) on a quarterly basis.
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Rule Number

Rule

Status of Compliance

3 (1) (i) ( f )

Identify and designate Key Management Personnel, as defined in
the International Accounting Standards, who are in a position to(i) significantly influence policy;

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) are internally identified by the bank as the Key
Management Personnel (KMP).

(ii) direct activities; and
(iii) exercise control over business activities, operations and
risk management.
3 (1) (i) (g)

Define the areas of authority and key responsibilities for the
Board Directors themselves and for Key Management Personnel.

Article 29 of the bank’s Articles of Association covers
the powers and duties of the Directors. Further,
the Board has approved and put in place a list of
responsibilities that will not be delegated.

3 (1) (i) (h)

Ensure that there is appropriate oversight of the affairs of the
bank by Key Management Personnel, that is consistent with
Board’s policy.

The CEO is one of the Board members who is involved
in all operational affairs of the bank.

3 (1) (i) (i)

Periodically assess the effectiveness of the Board of Directors’ own
governance practices, including
(i) the selection, nomination and election of Directors and Key
Management Personnel;

(ii) the management of conflicts of interest; and

(iii) the determination of weaknesses and implementation of
changes where necessary.

The Board has delegated the Board Nomination
Committee (BNC) to select, nominate and elect the
Directors and is covered by the Terms of Reference
(TOR) of the BNC.
The Board of Directors will identify how they are going
to manage the conflicts of interest. Article 32 of the
Articles of Association, states the Directors’ interest
and a Directors’ interest register is maintained.
Weakness and implementation of changes where
necessary will be determined by the Board through
the submission of the performance appraisals of the
Board members.

3 (1) (i) (j)

Ensure that the Board has an appropriate succession plan for Key
Management Personnel.

Succession plan is not fully in place and is receiving
the attention of the Board.

3 (1) (i) (k)

Ensure the Board has regular meetings with the Key Management
Personnel to review policies, establish communication lines and
monitor progress towards corporate objectives.

CEO is a Board member and involved in reviewing
policies and monitor progress towards corporate
objectives.
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Rule Number

Rule

Status of Compliance

3 (1) (i) (l)

Understand the regulatory environment and ensure that the bank
maintains an effective relationship with regulators

A quarterly compliance report is submitted to the
Board. The Bank corresponds with the regulators
as and when necessary. The CEO attends the CEO's
meetings conducted by the CBSL regularly. All
necessary reports are regularly submitted to the
regulators.

3 (1) (i) (m)

Exercise due diligence in the hiring and oversight of External
Auditors.

Article 44 of the Articles of Association, covers
the appointment of External Auditors who are
subsequently appointed at the AGM. Further, the TOR
of the BAC has a process to recommend the External
Auditors to be approved by the Board.

3 (1) (ii)

The Board shall appoint the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer and define and approve the functions and responsibilities
of the Chairman and the Chief Executive officer in line with
Direction 3 (5) of these Directions.

The Board has appointed the Chairman and the CEO.
The functions and responsibilities will be defined by
the Board.

BOARD PROCEDURE
3 (1) (iii)

The Board shall meet regularly and Board meetings shall be held
at least twelve times a year at approximately monthly interval.

The Board has met 5 times during the financial year.
The Bank commenced commercial operations on
1 August 2011.

3 (1) (iv)

The Board shall ensure that procedures are in place to enable
all Directors to include matters and proposals in the agenda for
regular Board meetings where such matters and proposals relate
to the promotion of business and the management of risks of
the bank.

The Directors inform the Board Secretary to
include any matter and proposal in the agenda for
regular Board meetings. A formal procedure will be
implemented.

3 (1) (v)

The Board procedures shall ensure that notice of at least 7 days
is given of a regular Board meeting to provide all Directors an
opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings, reasonable
notice may be given.

The Board Secretary gives 7 days notice to the
Directors for Board meetings.

3 (1) (vi)

The Board procedure shall ensure that a Director, who has
not attended at least two-thirds of the meetings in the period
of 12 months immediately preceding or has not attended the
immediately preceding three consecutive meetings held, shall
cease to be a Director. Participation at the Directors’ meetings
through an alternative Director shall, however, be acceptable as
attendance.

As per the Board attendance schedule, no Director
has violated the requirement during the financial
year 2011.
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Rule Number

Rule

Status of Compliance

3 (1) (vii)

The Board shall appoint a Company Secretary who satisfies the
provisions of Section 43 of the Banking Act No 30 of 1988, whose
primary responsibilities shall be to handle the secretarial services
to the Board and shareholder meetings and to carry out other
functions specified in the statues and other regulations

The Board has appointed an Attorney-at-Law which
satisfies the provisions of Section 43 of the Banking
Act No 30 of 1988 (Registered Company Secretary) as
the Company Secretary.

3 (1) (viii)

All Directors shall have access to advise and services of the
Company Secretary with a view to ensure that Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

A formal procedure will be implemented in this
regard. However, as a practice all the Directors
have access to advice and services of the Company
Secretary.

3 (1) (ix)

The Company Secretary shall maintain the minutes of the Board
meetings and such minutes shall be open for inspection at any
reasonable time, on reasonable notice by any Director.

The Company Secretary maintains the minutes and
as a practice the Directors have access to inspect the
minutes. A formal procedure will be implemented in
this regard.

3 (1) (x)

Minutes of Board meetings shall be recorded in sufficient detail
so that the minutes clearly contain or refer to the following:

Detail minutes are maintained covering the given
criteria.

(a) A summary of data and information used by the Board in its
deliberations.
(b) The matters considered by the Board.
(c) The fact-finding discussions and the issues of contention or
dissent which may illustrate whether the Board was carrying
out its duties with due care and prudent.
(d) The matters which indicate compliance with the Board’s
strategies and policies and adherence to relevant laws and
regulations.
(e) The understanding of the risks to which the bank is exposed
and an overview of the risk management measures adopted.
( f ) The decisions and Board resolutions.
The minutes shall serve as a reference for regulatory and
supervisory authorities to assess the depth of deliberations
at the Board meetings.
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3 (1) (xi)

There shall be a procedure agreed by the Board to enable
Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Bank’s expense.

A formal procedure will be implemented in this
regard. However, the Board members have obtained
relevant professional advice in appropriate
circumstances.

3 (1) (xii)

Ensure that there is a procedure to determine, report, resolve and
to take appropriate action relating to Directors to avoid conflicts
of interests, or the appearance of conflicts of interest.

Board approved procedure has to be designed in
this regard.

A Director shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution
in relation to which he/she or any of his/her close relation or a
concern in which a Director has substantial interest, is interested.
He/she shall not be counted in the quorum for the relevant
agenda item at the Board meeting.

Article 32 of the Articles of Association, states the
Directors’ interest and 32 (5) states that the Directors
are not required to abstain from voting on any Board
resolution in which they have an interest and they are
been counted in the quorum.

3 (1) (xiii)

The Board shall have a formal schedule of matters specifically
reserved to it for decision to ensure that the direction and control
of the bank is firmly under its authority.

There is a formal schedule of matters reserved for the
decision of the Board.

3 (1) (xiv)

The Board shall, if it considers that the bank is, or is likely to be,
unable to meet its obligations or is about to become insolvent
or is about to suspend payments due to depositors and other
creditors, forthwith inform the Director of Bank Supervision of
the situation of the bank prior to taking any decision or action.

Such a situation has not arisen during the year 2011.

3 (1) (xv)

The Board shall ensure that the bank is capitalized at levels as
required by the Monitory Board in terms of the capital adequacy
ratio and other prudential grounds.

The Bank has addressed the bank’s capital
requirement and as at 31 December 2011 the required
capital was in place.

3 (1) (xvi)

The Board shall publish in the bank’s Annual Report, an annual
corporate governance report setting out the compliance with
Direction 3 of these Directions.

The Bank publishes a corporate governance report in
the Annual Report.

3 (1) (xvii)

The Board shall adopt a scheme of self-assessment to be
undertaken by each Director annually, and maintain records of
such assessments.

A scheme of self-assessment will be implemented for
the Board members.
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3 (2)

THE BOARD’S COMPOSITION

3 (2) (i)

The number of Directors on the Board shall not be less than 7 and
not more than 13.

The Board consists of 13 Directors.

3 (2) (ii) (A)

The total period of service of a Director other than a Director who
holds a position of a Chief Executive Officer shall not exceed nine
years.

There are no Directors who have served for more than
nine years.

3 (2) (ii) (B)

Ensure that any Director serving more than nine years, the
transitional provisions have been applied with.

There are no Directors who have served for more than
nine years.

3 (2) (iii)

Ensure that the number of Executive Directors, including the
CEO does not exceed one-third of the number of Directors of
the Board.

There is only one Executive Director.

3 (2) (iv)

The Board shall have at least three independent Non-Executive
Directors or one-third of the total number of the Directors,
whichever is higher.
The Board shall consider the Non-Executive Directors
independent if he/she(a) Holds directly and indirectly shareholdings of more than
1% of the bank.
(b) Has currently or had during the period of two years
immediately preceding his/her appointment as Director,
any business transactions with the bank as described in
Direction 3 (7) hereof, exceeding 10% of the regulatory
capital of the bank.
(c) Has been employed by the bank during the two year period
immediately preceding the appointment as Director.
(d) Has had a close relation; who is a Director, CEO, a member
of Key Management Personnel, a material shareholder of the
bank or another bank (a ‘close relation’ means the spouse or
a financially dependent child).
(e) Represents a specific stakeholder of the bank.

There are four Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The 4 Non-Executive Directors who are independent
and satisfies the criteria as required by the conditions
stipulated by Corporate Governance Section 3 (2) (iv).
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( f ) Is an employee or Director or a material shareholder in a
company or business organization:
i.

Which currently has a transaction with the bank as
defined in or

ii. In which any of the other Directors of the bank
are employed or are Directors or are material
shareholder; or
iii. In which any of the other Directors of the bank
have a transaction as defined in Direction 3 (7) of
these Directions, exceeding 10% of the regulatory
capital of the bank.
3 (2) (v)

In the event an Alternative Director is appointed to represent an
Independent Director, the person so appointed shall also meet the
criteria that apply to the Independent Director.

Not relevant since no Alternate Directors have been
appointed to represent any Independent Director.

3 (2) (vi)

The bank shall have a process to evaluate the appointment of
Independent Directors, who possess credible track records and/or
have necessary skills and experience to bring an independent
judgment to bear in issues of strategy, performance and resources.

There is a formal process by the BNC to recommend
the appointment of an Independent Director.
Article 28 of the Articles of Association sets out the
procedure for appointment of Directors.

3 (2) (vii)

The Board shall ensure that the Board meetings are duly
constituted only where the quorum includes more than 50%
of the Directors out of which 50% should include
Non-Executive Directors.

All the Board meetings have been duly constituted
in practice.

3 (2) (viii)

The Board shall disclose the composition of the Board, by
category of Directors, including the names of the Chairman,
Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Directors in the annual corporate governance report.

The composition of the Board has been disclosed in
the Annual Report.

3 (2) (ix)

There shall be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for
the appointment of new Directors to the Board. There shall also
be procedures in place for the orderly succession of appointment
of the Board.

Article 28 of the Articles of Association sets out the
procedure for appointment of Directors. In addition
TOR of the Board Nomination Committee (BNC)
requires the new appointments be screened by BNC.
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3 (2) (x)

All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject
to election by shareholders at the 1st general meeting after their
appointment.

All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy are
subject to election by shareholders at the 1st AGM.

3 (2) (xi)

If a Director resigns or if removed from office, the Board shall(a) Announce the Director’s resignation or removal and reasons
for such removal or resignation including but not limited to
information relating to the relevant Director’s disagreement
with the bank, if any; and

There has been no such resignation or removal of
Directors from the Board during the year.

(b) Issue a statement confirming whether or not there are
any matters that need to be brought to the attention of
shareholders.
A process has to be implemented. However, there
has been no such appointment of any of the bank’s
Directors to another bank.

3 (2) (xii)

Ensure that there is a process where the Board shall identify
whether a Director or an employee of the bank is appointed,
elected or nominated as a Director of another bank.

3 (3)

CRITERIA TO ASSESS THE FITNESS AND PROPRIETY OF DIRECTORS
In addition to provisions of Section 42 of the Banking Act
No. 30 of 1988, the criteria set out below shall apply to determine
the fitness and propriety of a person who serves or wishes to
serve as a Director of a bank. Non-compliance with any one of the
criteria as set out herein shall disqualify a person to be appointed,
elected or nominated as s Director or to continue as a Director.

3 (3) (i)

A Director shall not exceed the age of 70 years to serve
in the Board.

No Director has reached the age of 70 years.

3 (3) (ii)

A person shall not hold office as a Director of more than 20
companies/entities/institutions inclusive of subsidiaries or
associate companies of the bank.

No Director of the bank holds Directorships in more
than 20 companies as at 31st December 2011.
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3 (4)

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS DELEGATED BY THE BOARD

3 (4) (i)

The Board shall approve the delegation arrangements and ensure
that it is in place.

The Board has delegated its powers to the CEO to
enter into any agreements in relation to operational
matters of the bank.

3 (4) (ii)

The Board shall be responsible for the matters in 3 (1) (i) even
in the instances such actions are delegated. The Board shall not
delegate any matters to the Board Committee, CEO, Executive
Directors or Key Management Personnel, to an extent that such
delegation would significantly hinder or reduce the ability of the
Board as a whole to discharge its functions.

The Board exercise overall authority and
responsibilities over all delegated functions.

3 (4) (iii)

The Board shall review the delegation process in place on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain relevant to the needs of
the bank.

Bank commenced operation on 1 August 2011 and the
procedure will be reviewed regularly.

3 (5)

THE CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

3 (5) (i)

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer shall be
separated and shall not be performed by the same individual.

Roles of the Chairman and the CEO are separated and
held by two individuals. Chairman provides leadership
to the Board while the CEO manages the day-to-day
operations of the bank giving effect to the strategies
and policies approved by the Board.

3 (5) (ii)

The Chairman shall be a Non-Executive Director.

The Chairman is a Non-Executive Director.

In the case where the Chairman is not an Independent Director,
the Board shall designate an Independent Director as the Senior
Director with suitably documented terms of reference.

Since the Chairman is not an Independent Director,
Dato A.T.B.H.A. Rahman, is appointed to the Board as
the Senior Director.

The designation of Senior Director shall be disclosed in the bank’s
Annual Report

The designation has been disclosed in Profiles of
Board of Directors in the Annual Report.

The Board shall disclose in its corporate governance report,
which shall be an integral part of its Annual Report, the identity
of the Chairman and the CEO and the nature of the relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s), if any, between the Chairman and the CEO and the
relationships among members of the Board.

The Chairman is related to one of the Directors,
Dr. A.A.M. Haroon by family ties.

3 (5) (iii)

70

Amãna Bank

Annual Report 2011

Status of Compliance

The financial and business relationship is detailed in
the Related Party Transactions in the annual report
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3 (5) (iv)

The Chairman shall;
(a) Provide leadership to the Board

The Chairman provides leadership and ensures
the Board works effectively and discharge its
responsibilities and key and appropriate issues are
discussed at the Board meetings. A self evaluation
process will be implemented in the year 2012.

(b) Ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities; and
(c) Ensure all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner.
3 (5) (v)

The Chairman shall be primarily responsible for drawing up and
approving the agenda of the Board Meeting. The Chairman may
delegate the drawing up of the agenda to the Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary draws up the agenda of the
meetings which covers all standard items as well as
any special matters as required by the Chairman or
other Directors. The Company Secretary will obtain
the formal approval of the Chairman in future.

3 (5) (vi)

The Chairman shall ensure that all the Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and also ensure that
Directors receive adequate information in a timely manner.

The Chairman ensures that the Directors are properly
briefed on issues at Board meetings and receive
adequate information in a timely manner.

3 (5) (vii)

The Chairman shall encourage all the Directors to make a full
and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to
ensure that the Board acts in the best interest of the bank.

In practice the Chairman encourages the Directors to
make full and active contribution to Board’s affairs
and ensure the Board acts in the best interest of the
bank. A self evaluation process will be in place.

3 (5) (viii)

The Board shall have a self evaluation process that assesses the
contribution of Non-Executive Directors.

The Board to introduce a self evaluation process to
assess the contribution of Non-Executive Directors in
the year 2012.

3 (5) (ix)

The Chairman shall not engage in activities involving direct
supervision of Key Management Personnel or any other executive
duties whatsoever.

The Chairman is a Non-Executive Director and does
not get involved in direct supervision of KMP or other
executive duties.

3 (5) (x)

The Chairman shall ensure that appropriate steps are taken to
maintain effective communication with shareholders and that the
views of shareholders are communicated to the Board.

The AGM is the main forum where the Board
maintains effective communication with the
shareholders.

3 (5) (xi)

The CEO shall function as the apex executive-in-charge of the
day-to-day management of Bank’s operations and business.

The CEO is the apex executive-in-charge of the
day-to-day management of the bank.
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3 (6)

BOARD APPOINTED COMMITTEES

3 (6) (i)

The Bank shall have at least the following committee;
3 (6) (ii) – Audit Committee
3 (6) (iii) – Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
3 (6) (iv) – Nomination Committee
3 (6) (v) – Integrated Risk Management Committee
Each committee shall report directly to the Board

83 Bank’s Compliance with Pruden tial Requiremen ts

Status of Compliance

The Board has appointed the relevant sub-committees
at the meeting of the Board, as required by 3 (6) (i).
All minutes of the Board sub-committees are directly
submitted to the Board. The Remuneration Committee
will initiate action to record their minutes and submit
to the Board for their review.

Each committee shall appoint a Secretary to arrange the meetings
and maintain, minutes, records etc. under the supervision of the
Chairman of the committee.

All sub-committees have formally appointed
Secretaries.

The Board shall present a report of the performance on each
committee, on their duties and roles at the Annual General
meeting.

Reports of the performance are disclosed in the
Annual Report.

3 (6) (ii)
3 (6) (ii) (a)

Audit Committee
The Chairman of the Committee shall be an Independent
Non-Executive Director who possess qualifications and
experience in accounting and/or audit.

3 (6) (ii) (b)

All members of the Committee shall be Non-Executive Directors.

The Committee is entirely comprised of Non-Executive
Directors.

3 (6) (ii) (c)

The Committee shall make recommendations on matters in
connection with;
(a) The appointment of External Auditor for audit services to be
provided in compliance with the relevant statutes;

The appointment of External Auditors was made by
the Board of Directors.

(b) The implementation of the Central Bank guidelines issued to
auditors from time to time;
(c) The application of the relevant accounting standards; and
(d) The service period, audit fees and any resignation or
dismissal of the Auditor, provided that the engagement of
the audit partner shall not exceed five years, and that the
particular audit partner is not re-engaged for the audit before
the expiry of three years from the date of the completion of
the previous term.
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The Board has appointed a Non-Executive and an
Independent Director as the Chairman, who possesses
qualifications and experience to satisfy the criteria.

The implementation of the CBSL guidelines and
application of the relevant accounting standards were
discussed by the Committee.
There has been no dismissal or resignation of the
Auditor and the Auditor has not exceeded 5 years in
service. Audit fee proposal is being approved by
the BAC.
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3 (6) (ii) (d)

The Committee shall review and monitor the External Auditor’s
independence and objective and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with SLAuS.

The TOR of the BAC covers the review and monitoring
of the External Auditor’s independence and
objectiveness. Further, the Engagement Letter of the
External Auditor also mentions such independence
and objectiveness which is discussed before the
commencement of the audit.

3 (6) (ii) (e)

The Committee shall have in place an implemented policy on the
engagement of an External Auditor to provide non-audit services
in accordance with the relevant regulations.

A policy will be implemented by the Committee in this
regard in the year 2012.

3 (6) (ii) ( f )

The Committee shall discuss and finalise the nature and scope of
the audit, with the External Auditors in accordance with SLAuS
before the audit commences.

The Committee has had discussions with the External
Auditors.

3 (6) (ii) (g)

The Committee shall review the financial information of the bank,
in order to monitor the integrity of the Financial Statements
of the bank, its Annual Report, accounts and quarterly reports
prepared for disclosure and receive the following from the
Financial Controller;
(i) Major judgmental areas
(ii) Any changes in accounting policies and practices
(iii) The going concern assumption; and

The BAC has reviewed the Financial Statement of the
bank. The process will be strengthened to cover all the
criteria mentioned in 3 (6) (ii) (g).

(iv) The compliance with relevant accounting standards and
other legal requirements; and
(v) In respect of the annual Financial Statements the significant
adjustments arising from the audit.
3 (6) (ii) (h)

The Committee shall discuss issues, problems and reservations
arising from the financial audit in the absence of the executive
management.

The External Auditors attend the BAC meetings
regularly. However, there were no formal meetings
with the External Auditors in the absence of the
executive management.

3 (6) (ii) (i)

The Committee shall review the External Auditor’s management
letter and the management’s response thereto.

The External Auditor’s management letter is being
reviewed by the BAC.
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3 (6) (ii) (j)

The Committee shall take the following steps with regard to the
internal audit function of the bank;
(i) Review the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources
of the Internal Audit Department, and satisfy itself that the
department has the necessary authority to carry out its work;
(ii) Review the internal audit programme and results of the
internal audit process and, where necessary, ensure that
appropriate actions are taken on the recommendations of the
Internal Audit Department;
(iii) Review any appraisal or assessment of the performance
of the head and senior staff member of the Internal Audit
Department;
(iv) Recommend any appointment or termination of the head,
senior staff members and outsourced service providers to the
internal audit function;
(v) Ensure that the Committee is appraised of resignations
of senior staff members of the Internal Audit Department
including the Chief Internal Auditor and any outsourced
service providers, and to provide an opportunity to the
resigning senior staff members and outsourced services
providers to submit reasons for resigning;
(vi) Ensure that the internal audit function is independent of the
activities it audits and that it is performed with impartiality,
proficiency and due professional care;

The TOR of the BAC covers the matters stipulated.

3 (6) (ii) (k)

The Committee shall consider the major findings of internal
investigation and management’s responses thereto.

The findings of the internal investigations are
discussed at the BAC meetings and remedial measures
are implemented.

3 (6) (ii) (l)

The Committee shall meet the External Auditors at least twice a
year without the Executive Directors being present.

There have been no such meetings held during
the year.

3 (6) (ii) (m)

The Committee shall have
(i) Explicit authority to investigate into any matter within its
terms of reference;
(ii) The resources which it needs to do so;
(iii) Full access to information; and
(iv) Authority to obtain external professional advice and invite
outsiders with relevant experience and attend, if necessary.
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BAC reviews the scope, function and resources of the
Internal Audit Department.
The internal audit programme and results are
discussed at the BAC meetings, including Branch
inspection reports.
Appraisal and assessment of performance of the Head
of Internal Audit will be assessed by the Chairman of
the BAC.
There were no appointments or termination of the
Head or Senior Staff members of Internal Audit
Department during the year 2011.
Such a situation has not arisen.

The Internal Audit Department reports to the
BAC directly, hence the internal audit function is
independent of the activities that it audits.

The Board of Directors of the bank have approved
the TOR of the BAC which covers authority and
responsibilities stipulated.
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3 (6) (ii) (n)

The Committee shall meet at least four times a year and has
maintained minutes of such meeting.

The BAC has met thrice in the year 2011. The Bank
commenced commercial operations on 1 August 2011.

3 (6) (ii) (o)

The Board shall disclose in an informative way,

The Board has disclosed the required information in
the Annual Report for the year 2011 as stated in the
Board Audit Committee Report.

(i)

Details of the activities of the Audit Committee

(ii) The number of Audit Committee meetings held in the year
(iii) Details of attendance of each individual Director at such
meetings
3 (6) (ii) (p)

The Secretary of the Committee may be the Company Secretary
or the Head of Internal Audit who shall keep and record detailed
minutes of the meetings.

The Company Secretary has been appointed as the
Secretary of the BAC. Minutes are kept in detail.

3 (6) (ii) (q)

The committee shall review and ensure that the “whistle-blower”
policy is in place which covers the process of dealing with;
(i) The improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters.
(ii) In relation to (i) the Committee shall ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for the fair and independent
investigation of such matters, and
(iii) Appropriate follow-up action.

The “Ethics Hotline” handled by Messrs KPMG
independently could be termed as the
“Whistle-Blower” where staff could report any
issues anonymously to Messrs KPMG.

3 (6) (iii)
3 (6) (iii) (a)

Human Resource And Remuneration Committee
The Committee shall determine the remuneration policy relating
to Directors, CEO and Key Management Personnel of the bank by
review of the “Terms of Reference” and minutes.

Follow-up action plan to be implemented by BAC.

TOR of the Board Remuneration Committee (BRC)
has been approved by the Board. Currently, the
remuneration of the Directors had been decided by
the Board as per Article 31 of the Articles of
Association.
The Board will be implementing a policy in this
regard.

3 (6) (iii) (b)

The Committee shall set goals and targets for the Directors, CEO
and Key Management Personnel and are document the same.

The responsibilities of the Directors are outlined in
the Articles of Association. Goals and targets for the
Directors will be implemented by the committee.

3 (6) (iii) (c)

The Committee shall evaluate the performance of the CEO and
Key Management Personnel against the set targets and goals
periodically and determine the basis for revising remuneration,
benefits and other payments of performance-based incentives.

This process is to be handled by the BRC in the future.
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3 (6) (iii) (d)

The CEO shall be present at all meetings of the Committee, except
when matters relating to the CEO are being discussed.

TOR of the BRC provides that the CEO should not be
present at the meeting where the CEO’s matters are
discussed.

3 (6) (iv)
3 (6) (iv) (a)

Nomination Committee
The Committee shall implement a procedure to select/appoint
new Director, CEO and Key Management Personnel.

3 (6) (iv) (b)

The committee shall consider and recommend (or not
recommend) the re-election of current Directors, taking
into account the performance and contribution made by a
Director concerned towards the overall discharge of the
Board’s responsibilities.

The Committee will initiate action to consider and
recommend the re-election of current Directors who
retire by rotation as per the TOR.

3 (6) (iv) (c)

The Committee shall set criteria such as qualifications,
experience and key attributes required for eligibility to be
considered for appointment or promotion to the post of CEO
and the key management positions.

The TOR of the Board Nomination Committee (BNC)
requires such criteria is to be in place for appointment
or promotion to the post of CEO. This criteria and
process will be implemented by the BNC.

3 (6) (iv) (d)

The Committee shall ensure that Directors, CEO and Key
Management Personnel are fit and proper persons to hold office
as specified in the criteria given in Direction 3 (3) and as set out
in the Statutes and obtain signed declaration in this regard.

All current Directors have submitted such
declarations.

3 (6) (iv) (e)

The Committee shall consider and recommend from time to time,
the requirement of additional/new expertise and the succession
arrangements for retiring Directors and Key Management
Personnel.

A formal succession plan for Directors and KMP will
be established by the BNC.

3 (6) (iv) ( f )

The Committee shall be chaired by an Independent Director
and preferably be constituted with a majority of Independent
Directors.

The BNC was chaired by a Non-Independent Director
in the year under review. However, with effect from
27 March 2012 an Independent Director was
appointed as the Chairman of the BNC. The
Committee currently consist of five Directors all of
whom are Non-Executive Directors and two are also
Independent Directors.

The CEO may be present at the meeting by invitation.
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Currently, Directors who are identified as the Key
Management Personnel (KMP) are appointed by the
general membership at AGM as per Articles 28 of
the Articles of Association. A formal procedure for
selection will be put in place by the Committee.
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3 (6) (v)
3 (6) (v) (a)

Integrated Risk Management Committee
The Committee shall consist of at least three Non-Executive
Directors, CEO and Key Management Personnel supervising Board
risk categories, i.e., credit, market, liquidity, operational and
strategic risks.

3 (6) (v) (b)

The Committee shall assess all risks, i.e., credit, market, liquidity,
operational and strategic risks to the bank on a monthly
basis through appropriate risk indicators and management
information. In the case of subsidiary companies and associate
companies, risk management shall be done, both on a bank basis
and group basis.

All risk indicators are monitored monthly by BIRMC.
The Bank does not have any subsidiary or associate
companies to manage risk.

3 (6) (v) (c)

The Committee shall review the adequacy and effectiveness of all
management level committees, such as the credit committee and
asset-liability committee to address specific risks and to manage
those risks within quantitative and qualitative risk limits as
specified by the Committee.

The BIRMC has discussed the credit limits,
sector-wise exposures, single borrower limits, capital
adequacy ratio, non-performing loans and ratios and
other quantitative and qualitative risk at their regular
meetings.

3 (6) (v) (d)

The Committee shall review and consider all risk indicators which
have gone beyond the specific quantitative and qualitative risk
limits in accordance to the bank’s policies and the regulatory and
supervisory requirements.

The BIRMC have considered and reviewed all risk
indicators that have gone beyond the specific risk
limits at length and have made recommendations and
suggestion to control and reduce such risks.

3 (6) (v) (e)

The committee shall meet at least quarterly to assess all aspects
of risk management including updated business continuity plans.

The BIRMC have held 4 meetings for the year 2011.

3 (6) (v) ( f )

The Committee shall take appropriate action against the officers
responsible for failure to identify specific risks and take prompt
corrective actions as recommended by the Committee, and/or as
directed by the Director of Bank Supervision.

There were no incidents of failure to identify
risks within the year under review. This will be
incorporated into the bank’s disciplinary code.

3 (6) (v) (g)

The Committee shall submit a risk assessment report within a
week of each meeting to the Board seeking the Board’s views,
concurrence and/or specific directions.

The BIRMC reports are tabled at the next Board
meetings for views, concurrence and/or specific
directions.

The Board Integrated Risk Management Committee
(BIRMC) consists of CEO and four Non-Executive
Directors. The Financial Controller, Credit Risk
Officer, Head of IT, Head of Legal and Compliance,
Head of HR, Head of Operations and Head of Credit
participate in the meetings by invitation to assist the
committee. Further, the TOR of the BIRMC covers the
composition of the Committee.
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3 (6) (v) (h)

The Committee shall establish a compliance function to assess
the bank’s compliance with laws, regulations, regulatory
guidelines, internal controls and approved policies on all areas
of business operations. A dedicated Compliance Officer selected
from Key Management Personnel shall carry out the compliance
function and report to the Committee periodically.

The Head of Legal and Company Secretary have
been appointed as the Compliance Officer. A
quarterly report certified by the respective Heads of
Departments in compliance with the laws, regulatory
requirements and guidelines and internal controls
are tabled at the Board meeting. Any non-compliance
issues are reported to the Board.

3 (7)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

3 (7) (i)

The Bank establish and document a process to avoid any conflicts
of interest that may arise from any transaction of the bank
with any person, and particularly with the following categories
of persons who shall be considered as “related parties” for the
purpose of this Direction;
(a) Any of the bank’s subsidiary companies;
(b) Any of the bank’s associate companies;
(c) Any of the Directors of the bank;
(d) Any of the bank’s Key Management Personnel;
(e) A close relation of any of the bank’s Directors or
Key Management Personnel;
( f ) A shareholder owning a material interest in the bank.
(g) A concern in which any of the bank’s Directors or a close
relation of any of the bank’s Directors or any of its material
shareholders has a substantial interest.

The management will adopt a policy document that
covers Related Party Transactions (RPT) and types of
transactions, favourable treatment granted to the said
parties and to avoid any conflicts of interest that may
arise from these transactions.
Further, monitoring and reporting of transactions and
retrieving of such data will also to be covered in this
policy document.

3 (7) (ii)

The Bank shall identify and report the following types of
transactions been identified as transactions with related parties
that is covered by this Directions.
(a) The grant of any type of accommodation, as defined in
the Monetary Board’s Directions a maximum amount of
accommodation.
(b) The creation of any liabilities of the bank in the form of
deposits, borrowings and investments.
(c) The provision of any services of a financial or non-financial
nature provided to the bank or received from the bank.
(d) The creation or maintenance of reporting lines and
information flows between the bank and any related parties
which may lead to the sharing of potentially proprietary,
confidential or otherwise sensitive information that may give
benefits to such related parties.

The RPT are disclosed in the Annual Report for the
year 2011.
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The management will adopt a policy document that
covers RPT and types of transactions, favourable
treatment granted to the said parties and to avoid
any conflicts of interest that may arise from these
transactions.
Further, monitoring and reporting of transactions and
retrieving of such data will also to be covered in this
policy document.
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3 (7) (iii)

The Board shall ensure that the bank does not engage in
transactions with related parties as defined in Direction 3 (7)
(i) above, in a manner that would grant such parties “more
favourable treatment” than that accorded to other constitutes
of the bank carrying on the same business. In this context,
“more favourable treatment” shall mean and include treatment,
including the;
(a) Granting of “total net accommodation” to related parties,
exceeding a prudent percentage of the bank’s regulatory
capital, as determined by the Board. For purposes of this
sub-direction;

The RPT are disclosed in the annual report for the
year 2011.
The management will adopt a policy document that
covers RPT and types of transactions, favourable
treatment granted to the said parties and to avoid
any conflicts of interest that may arise from these
transactions.
Further, monitoring and reporting of transactions and
retrieving of such data will also to be covered in this
policy document.

(i) “Accommodation” shall mean accommodation as
defined in the Banking Act Directions, No. 7 of
2007 on Maximum Amount of Accommodation.

(b)

(c)

(d)
(e)

(ii) The “Total net Accommodation” shall be computed
by deducting from the total accommodation, the
cash collateral and investments made by such
related parties in the bank’s share capital and debt
instruments with a maturity of 5 years or more.
Charging a lower rate of interest than the bank’s best
lending rate or paying more than the bank’s deposit rate for
a comparable transaction with an unrelated comparable
counterparty.
Providing of preferential treatment, such as favourable terms,
covering trade losses and/or waiving fees/commissions, that
extend beyond the terms granted in the normal course of
business undertaken with unrelated parties.
Providing services to or receiving services from a
related-party without an evaluation procedure.
Maintaining reporting lines and information flows that
may lead to sharing potentially proprietary, confidential or
otherwise sensitive information with related parties, except
as required for the performance of legitimate duties and
functions.
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3 (7) (iv)

The Bank shall not grant any accommodation to any of the
Directors or to any Key Management Personnel unless such
accommodation is sanctioned at a meeting of its Board of
Directors, with not less than two-thirds of the number of
Directors other than the Director concerned, voting in favour of
such accommodation and that this accommodation be secured
by such security as may from time to time be determined by the
Monetary Board as well.

The Bank has not granted any accommodation to the
Directors or to any KMP during the year. A formal
policy document will be adopted in this regard.

3 (7) (v)

(a) Where any accommodation has been granted by a bank to
a person or a close relation of a person or to any concern
in which the person has a substantial interest, and such
person is subsequently appointed as a Director of the
bank, that steps have been taken by the bank to obtain the
necessary security as may be approved for that purpose
by the Monetary Board, within one year from the date of
appointment of the person as a Director.

Such a situation has not arisen. The Bank will design a
process in this regard.

(b) Where such security is not provided by the period as
provided in Direction 3 (7) (v) (a) above, the bank shall
take steps to recover any amount due on account of any
accommodation, together with interest, if any within the
period specified at the time of the grant of accommodation
or at the expiry of a period of eighteen months from the date
of appointment of such Director, whichever is earlier.

Not applicable as per 3 (7) (v) a

(c) Any Director who fails to comply with the above
sub-directions shall be deemed to have vacated the office of a
Director and the bank shall disclose such fact to the public.

Not applicable as per 3 (7) (v) a

(d) The sub-direction, however, shall not apply to a Director who
at the time of grant of the accommodation was an employee
of the bank and the accommodation was granted under a
scheme applicable to all employees of the bank.

Not applicable as per 3 (7) (v) a

The Bank shall not grant any accommodation or “more favourable
treatment” relating to the waiver of fees and/or commissions
to any employee or a close relation of such employee or to any
concern in which the employee or close relation has a substantial
interest other than on the basis of a scheme applicable to the
employees of the bank or when secured by security as may be
approved by the Monetary Board in respect of accommodation
granted as per Direction 3 (7) (v) above.

There has been no such situation during the year 2011.
The Bank will implement a RPT policy covering this
aspect as well.

3 (7) (vi)
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3 (7) (vii)

No accommodation granted by the bank under Direction 3 (7) (v)
and 3 (7) (vi) above, nor any part of such accommodation, nor any
interest due thereon shall be remitted without the prior approval
of the Monetary Board and any remission without such approval
shall be void and of no effect.

Not applicable due to the reasons mentioned in 3 (7)
(v) and (vi). A process will be implemented.

3 (8)

DISCLOSURE

3 (8) (i)

The Board shall ensure that;
(a) Annual audited statements and quarterly Financial
Statements are prepared and published in accordance with
the formats prescribed by the supervisory and regulatory
authorities and applicable accounting standards and that
(b) such statements are published in the newspapers in an
abridged form, in Sinhala, Tamil and English.

3 (8) (ii)

The annual audited statements and quarterly
statements are prepared and published in accordance
with the regulatory requirements and the accounting
standards.
Financial statements are published in accordance to
the requirements in all three languages.

The Board shall ensure that the following minimum disclosures
are made in the Annual Report;
(a) A statement to the effect that the annual audited financial
statements have been prepared in line with applicable
accounting standards and regulatory requirements, inclusive
of specific disclosures.

The annual audited statements are prepared in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and
the accounting standards which include specific
disclosures as stated in the Directors’ Responsibility
for Financial Reporting.

(b) A report by the Board on the bank’s internal control
mechanism that confirms that the financial reporting system
has been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting, and that the preparation
of Financial Statements for external purposes has been
done in accordance with relevant accounting principles and
regulatory requirements.

A report by the bank on the bank’s internal control
system confirming that the financial reporting system
has been designed in accordance with the accounting
principles and regulatory requirements are disclosed
as stated in the Directors’ Report of Bank’s Internal
Control System.

(c) To obtain the External Auditor’s certification on the
effectiveness of the internal control mechanism referred to in
Direction 3 (8) (ii) (b) above.
(d) Details of Directors, including names, qualifications, age,
experience fulfilling the requirements of the guidelines
fitness and propriety, transactions with the bank and the
total of fees/remuneration paid by the bank.
(e) Total net accommodation as defined in 3 (7) (iii) granted to
each category of related parties. The net accommodation
granted to each category of related parties shall also be
disclosed as a percentage of the bank’s regulatory capital.

External Auditors’ certification as per the Direction
3 (8) (ii) (b) is disclosed in the annual report. Refer
Auditors’ Report of Bank’s Internal Control System.
Details of Directors as per the regulatory requirements
are disclosed in the annual report.

Net accommodation defined in 3 (7) (iii) are disclosed
in the annual report as stated in Related Party
Transactions note.
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( f ) The aggregate values of remuneration paid by the bank to
its Key Management Personnel and the aggregate values
of the transactions of the bank with its Key Management
Personnel, set out by Board categories such remuneration
paid, accommodation granted and deposits or investments
made in the bank.
(g) To obtain the External Auditor’s certification of the
compliance with these Corporate Governance Directions.

Values of remuneration to KMP are disclosed as stated
in the Related Party Transactions note.

The External Auditor’s certification on compliance
with these Corporate Governance Directions has been
obtained.
Report setting out the compliance with prudential
requirements, regulations, laws and internal control is
disclosed in the annual report as stated in the bank’s
Compliance with Prudential Requirements.
The Monetary Board has not directed the bank to
disclose any lapses.

(h) A report setting out details of the compliance with prudential
requirements, regulations, laws and internal controls and
measures taken to rectify any material non-compliance.

Name of the Director
Board Audit
Committee

Participated

Eligibility

Participated

4

4. Tyeab Akbarally

5

5. Dr. A.A.M. Haroon

5

6. Dato' Sri Zukri Bin Samat

5

5

7. M. Wahidul Haque

5

3

8. Jaafar Bin Abu

5

5

9. Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa

5

5

5

11. Ruzly Hussain (w.e.f. 18.4.2011)
12. Angelo M. Patrick (w.e.f. 18.4.2011)
13. Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui

10. M. Jazri Magdon Ismail

Eligibility

5

5

Participated

3. Dato' A.T.B.H.A. Rahman

5

Board Credit
Committee

Eligibility

5

Board
Nomination Board Executive
Committee
Committee

Participated

5

5

Board
Remuneration
Committee
Eligibility

5

2. Faizal Salieh

1

1

3

3

1

1

1

1

1

1

3

3

1

1

4

1

1

1

1

3

2

1

1

5

1

1

1

1

3

2

1

0

1

1

3

2

3

3

1

1

3

2

Participated

Participated

1. Osman Kassim

Eligibility

Eligibility

Main Board

Board
Integrated Risk
Management
Committee
Participated

A statement of the regulatory and supervisory concerns on
lapses in the bank’s risk management, or non-compliance
with these Directions that have been pointed out by the
Director of Bank Supervision, if so directed by the Monetary
Board to be disclosed to the public, together with the
measures taken by the bank to address such concerns.

Eligibility

(i)

3

1

3

3

3

5

4

3

3

5

4

3

3

5

3

5

4

5

0

5

3

5

5

(w.e.f. 18.4.2011)
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82

Amãna Bank

Annual Report 2011

0

0

85 D irector s’ Rep ort of Bank’s Internal Control System

87 Auditor s’ Rep ort of Bank’s In ternal Con trol System

Bank’s Compliance with Prudential Requirements
Compliance Policy

The Compliance
Enactments

Amãna Bank is a licensed commercial bank carrying on commercial banking business within the Sharia
Compliant framework. The Bank believes in good corporate governance, both in terms of legal and
regulatory compliance in letter and in spirit and in the equitable principles of Sharia. It is aware of the
worldwide trends in the banking industry that increasingly demands with the gourmet of laws, regulatory
and governance and best practices. Therefore, the bank has taken steps to put in place a dedicated
compliance department for the purpose of ensuring legal and regulatory compliance. The Bank is
committed to follow BASEL recommendations on compliant risks directions received from CBSL from time
to time and all applicable legislative enactments in Sri Lanka.
The compliance department of the bank functions under the Head of Legal Compliance and Company’s
Secretary. The objectives of this department are to(a) Ensure that the bank’s business activities are conducted in accordance with the laws and regulations
applicable to the industry.
(b) Ensure that all employees of the bank follow accepted ethical standards in discharging their duties.
(c) Be able to interpret regulations constructively so as to facilitate business but not to breach the spirit
of such regulation or to endanger the bank’s reputation with its regulator/stakeholder/customer.
(d) Protect the bank’s tangible and intangible assets, the Financial Security of the business and the good
reputation of the bank.
(e) Provide regular updates to staff when there have been changes in legislation/regulations pertaining to
the banking Business, so as to ensure compliance awareness at all times.
The Head of Compliance has direct access to the Board Integrated Risk Management Committee and the
Board of Directors on matters related to Corporate Governance and Compliance.

AML CFT Compliance

The department is also responsible to put in place a mechanism for addressing Anti-Money Laundering
(AML) and Countering Financing Terrorists (CFT). It has taken steps to implement a procedure for
complying with the Regulations relation to Know Your Customer (KYC) and Customer Due Diligence
(CDD) programme. With the support of the Human Resources Management Department the Compliance
Department has taken steps to train and familiarise the Directors, Senior Management and the other
staff with the regulatory requirements. These programmes have been conducted by external and internal
resource persons.
The Bank has from the commencement of its operations in August 2011 complied with the requirements
of the Financial Intelligence Unit by providing the periodic and ad hoc reports and also submitting timely
responses for any queries and calls for information by the FIU. The officers of the Compliance Department
also participate in the activities of the ‘A ssociation of Compliance Officers’ and keep updated on the latest
developments in the industry. The Bank intends to implement software solutions for screening customers
and transactions in the year 2012.
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The Compliance Department also submits a Compliance Report to the bank’s Board of Directors confirming
the compliance by all Heads of Departments with the key regulatory requirements and
labour-related laws. The Bank is also in the process of developing its co-banking solution for strengthening
compliance with the KYC and CDD requirements.
The Bank is also intends to obtain a software solution to scan all transactions against sanctions lists in the
year 2012.

84

Regulatory and
Supervisory
Compliance

The Bank has always recognised the importance of complying with the Directions given by the regulatory
authorities. The Bank has taken steps to submit all daily, weekly, monthly and quarterly reports required by
the supervisory authorities and has proactively addressed the regulatory issues relating to compliance
with the regulators. Constructive steps have always been taken up to rectify any lapses. The Bank has
also taken steps through the Board Integrated Risk Management Committee (BIRMC) to put in place the
prudential norms and standards for key risk areas which are monitored by the BIRMC and reported to the
Board of Directors.

Sharia Compliance

The Bank has a Sharia Supervisory Council which advises the bank on matters relating to Sharia
compliance which is a key risk area in the bank as the bank deals exclusively in Sharia Compliant Products
and Services. The internal Sharia Department in addition follows up to ensure that the bank is operating
its services within the Standards set by the Sharia Supervisory Council.
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Directors’ Report of Bank’s Internal Control System
RESPONSIBILITY

In line with the Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 2007, section 3 (8) (ii) (b), the Board of Directors present
this Report on Internal Control.
The Board of Directors (‘Board’) is responsible for the adequacy and effectiveness of Amãna Bank Limited’s
(‘the Bank’) system of internal controls. However, such a system is designed to manage the bank’s key areas
of risk within an acceptable risk profile, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the policies and
business objectives of the bank. Accordingly, the system of internal controls can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement of management and financial information and
records or against financial losses or fraud.
The Board has established an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant
risks faced by the bank and this process includes enhancing the system of internal controls as and when
there are changes to business environment or regulatory guidelines. The process is regularly reviewed by
the Board and accords with the Guidance for Directors of Banks on the Directors’ Statement on Internal
Control issued by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. The Board has assessed the internal
control system taking into account principles for the assessment of the internal control system as given in
that guidance.
The Board is of the view that the system of internal controls in place is sound and adequate to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting, and that the preparation of Financial
Statements for external purposes is in accordance with relevant accounting principles and regulatory
requirements.
The management assists the Board in the implementation of the Board’s policies and procedures on risk
and control by identifying and assessing the risks faced, and in the design, operation and monitoring of
suitable internal controls to mitigate and control these risks.

KEY FEATURES
OF THE PROCESS
ADOPTED IN APPLYING
AND REVIEWING
THE DESIGN AND
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE
INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM

The key processes that have been established in reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the system of
internal controls with respect to financial reporting include the following:
² Various appointed committees are established by the Board to assist the Board in ensuring the
effectiveness of Bank’s daily operations and that the bank’s operations are in accordance with the
corporate objectives, strategies and the annual budget as well as the policies and business directions
that have been approved.
² The Internal Audit Department of the bank checks for compliance with policies and procedures and

the effectiveness of the internal control systems on an ongoing basis using samples and rotational
procedures and highlight significant findings in respect of any non-compliance. Audits are carried out
on all units and branches, the frequency of which is determined by the level of risk assessed, to provide
an independent and objective report the annual audit plan is reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee. Findings of Internal Audit are submitted to the Audit Committee for review at their
periodic meetings.
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² The Audit Committee of the bank reviews internal control issues identified by the Internal Audit

Department, regulatory authorities and management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems. The Committee also reviews the internal audit
function with particular emphasis on the scope of audits and quality of audits. The minutes of the
Audit Committee meetings are tabled at the Board meetings of the bank on a periodic basis. Further
details of the activities undertaken by the Audit Committee of the bank are set out in the
Audit Committee Report.
² In assessing the internal control system, identified officers of the bank collated all procedures and
controls that are connected with significant accounts and disclosures of the Financial Statements of
the bank. These in turn were observed and checked by the Internal Audit Department for suitability of
design and effectiveness on an ongoing basis. In the context that the bank has been in operation only
for 5 months as at the balance sheet date,control processes that provided disclosures to the financial
statements relating to segmental analysis, maturity analysis, related party transactions as well as
commitments and contingencies are in the process of being strengthened for greater efficiency .
CONFIRMATION

REVIEW OF THE
STATEMENT BY
EXTERNAL AUDITORS

Based on the above processes, the Board confirms that the financial reporting system of the bank has
been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of Financial Statements for external purposes has been done in accordance with Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards and regulatory requirements of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.
The External Auditors have reviewed the above Directors’ Report of Bank's Internal Control System for
the year ended 31 December 2011 and reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that
causes them to believe that the statement is inconsistent with their understanding of the process adopted
by the Board in the review of the design and effectiveness of the internal control system of the bank. Their
Report to the Board is disclosed on page 87 of this Annual Report.
By order of the Board,

Jazri Magdon Ismail
Chairman – Board Audit Committee

Osman Kassim
Chairman
3 May 2012
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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Auditors' Report of Bank's Internal Control System

ERNST & YOUNG

Chartered Accountants
201 De Saram Place
P.O. Box 101
Colombo 10
Sri Lanka
Tel
: (0) 11 2463500
Fax Gen : (0) 11 2697369
Tax : (0) 11 5578180
eysl@lk.ey.com

Independent Assurance Report to the Board of Directors of AmÃna Bank Limited
Introduction
We were engaged by the Board of Directors of Amãna Bank Limited (“Bank”) to provide assurance on the Directors’ Statement on
Internal Control (“Statement”) included in the Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2011.
Management’s responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Statement in accordance with the “Guidance for Directors
of Banks on the Directors’ Statement on Internal Control” issued in compliance with the section 3(8)(ii)(b) of the Banking Act
Direction No. 11 of 2007, by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.
Our responsibilities and compliance with SLSAE 3050
Our responsibility is to issue a report to the Board on the Statement based on the work performed. We conducted our engagement
in accordance with Sri Lanka Standard on Assurance Engagements SLSAE 3050 - Assurance Report for Banks on Directors’
Statement on Internal Control issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.
Summary of work performed
We conducted our engagement to assess whether the Statement is both supported by the documentation prepared by or for
directors and appropriately reflects the process the directors have adopted in reviewing the system of internal control for the Bank.
The procedures performed are limited primarily to inquire of bank personnel and the existence of documentation on a sample
basis that supports the process adopted by the Board of Directors.
SLSAE 3050 does not require us to consider whether the Statement covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s risk and control procedures. SLSAE 3050 also does not require us to consider whether the processes
described to deal with material internal control aspects of any significant problems disclosed in the Annual Report will, in fact,
remedy the problems.
Our conclusion
Based on the procedures performed, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Statement included in
the Annual Report is inconsistent with our understanding of the process the Board of Directors have adopted in the review of the
design and effectiveness of internal control of the Bank.

3 May 2012, Colombo
Partners: A D B Talwatte FCA FCMA M P D Cooray FCA FCMA R N de Saram ACA FCMA Ms. N A De Silva ACA Ms. Y A De Silva ACA W R H Fernando FCA FCMA
W K B S P Fernando FCA ACMA A P A Gunasekera FCA FCMA A Herath FCA D K Hulangamuwa FCA FCMA LLB (Lond) H M A Jayesinghe FCA FCMA
Ms. A A Ludowyke FCA FCMA Ms. G G S Manatunga ACA Ms. L C G Nanayakkara FCA FCMA N M Sulaiman ACA ACMA B E Wijesuriya ACA ACMA
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Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the Affairs of the Bank
Preface

The details set out in the following report provide information required by the Companies Act No. 7 of
2007, Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 2007 on ‘Corporate Governance for Licensed Commercial Banks and
by recommended best practices on Corporate Governance.

General

The Directors of Amãna Bank hereby submit the Annual Report together with the Audited Financial
Statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the Auditors’ Report on those Financial
Statements conforming to the requirements of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 and Banking Act No. 30 of
1988 as amended and the Directions issued thereunder.
Amãna Bank Limited is a Licensed Commercial Bank registered under the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988
and was incorporated under the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 as a Public Limited Liability Company in
Sri Lanka under the registered number PB 3618. The registered office of the Bank is at 480, Galle Road,
Colombo 3 where the corporate office and the Main Branch of the bank is situated.

Principal Activities
Review of Business

Directors
Responsibility for
Financial Reporting

The principal activities of the bank are to provide Sharia compliant commercial banking services.
The Chairman’s Message and the Managing Director/CEO’s Report which form an integral part of the Annual
Report of the Board of Directors on the affairs of the bank, contain a detailed description of the operations
of the bank during the year ended 31 December 2011 and contain a fair review of the bank’s affairs.
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements of the bank to reflect a true
and fair view of the state of its affairs. The Directors are of the view that these Financial Statements have
been prepared in conformity with the requirements of Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, Companies Act
No. 7 of 2007, the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 (as amended), and the Directions on Corporate Governance
for Licensed Commercial Banks issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.
The Directors are satisfied that the Financial Statements, presented on pages 110 to 144 (both pages
included) give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Amãna Bank as at 31 December 2011.
The Directors consider that, in preparing these Financial Statements, suitable accounting policies have
been used which are applied consistently and supported by reasonable and prudent judgment and that all
applicable accounting standards have been followed. The Financial Statements are prepared on a going
concern basis.
The Directors are satisfied that all statutory payments have been made.
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The Directors acknowledge the responsibility to ensure good governance in conducting the business
activities of the bank. Compliance with Directions on corporate governance is given in Corporate
Governance Report on pages 62 to 82.
The Directors are satisfied with the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls for the year under
review and up to the date of the Annual Report.

Compliance with
Rules and Regulations

The Company has complied with the Directions issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and Tax and other
Laws and regulations applicable and have submitted all returns and the details of the relevant parties by
the due dates.
In addition the bank has complied with the Financial Transaction Reporting Act No. 6 of 2006 and the
Convention on the Suppression of Terrorist Financing Act No. 25 of 2005, by sending a monthly report to
the Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU) of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.
Compliance Reports have also been submitted to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis
confirming same.

Financial Results

The Bank’s operational details are as follows:

2011
Rs.

Income
Total Income
Profits and Appropriations
Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation
Taxation (Expense)/Reversal
Profit/(Loss) After Taxation
Property, Plant
and Equipment and
Depreciation
Donations

2010
Rs.

385,352,071

(262,591,583)

–

(21,341,765)

81,809,511
(180,782,072)

–
(21,341,765)

Details of property, plant and equipment of the bank, additions made during the year and the depreciation
charges for the year are shown in Note 15 to the Financial Statements.

During the year under review, the bank made donations amounting to Rs. 258,940/- (2010 - Nil).
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Amãna Bank follows Sri Lanka Accounting Standards in the preparation of its Financial Statements.

As at the date of the Report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances that have arisen which
would render adherence to such standards inappropriate.
Stated Capital and
Shareholders
Financial Statements
Accounting Policies
Contingent Liabilities
Events Occurring
after the Balance
Sheet Date
Directors

The Stated Capital as at 31 December 2011 was Rs. 3,431,611,720/- consisting of 902,810,064 ordinary
shares.
The Financial Statements of the Company are given on pages 110 to 144.
The Accounting Policies adopted in the preparation of Financial Statements are given on pages 116 to 124.
The Contingent Liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2011 are given in Note 28.
No circumstance have arisen since the Balance Sheet date which require adjustments or disclosure in the
Financial Statements except for the events disclosed in Note 29 to the Financial Statements.

The following were Directors of Amãna Bank Limited during the year ended 31 December 2011:
1.

Osman Kassim (Chairman - Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

2.

Muhammad Ozman Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)

3.

Dato’ Ahamed Tajudin Bin Haji Abdul Rahaman (Senior Director, Non-Executive Independent Director)

4.

Tyeab Akbarally (Non-Executive, Non-Independent)

5.

Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

6.

Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

7.

Mohammed Wahidul Haque (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

8.

Jaafar Bin Abu (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

9.

Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

10. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
11. Ruzly Hussain (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
12. Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
13. Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
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Dato’ Wan Ismail Wan Yusoh (Alternate Director to Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat)



Ahamed Fazal Issadeen (Alternate Director to Osman Kassim)



Kaiser Ahmed Chowdhary (Alternate Director to Mohammed Wahidul Haque)



Shiran Harsha Amarasekera (Alternate Director to Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa)



Huzefa Inayetally Akbarally (Alternate Director to Tyeab Akbarally)
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In terms of the provisions of the Articles of Association of the bank one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each Annual General Meeting. The following Directors retire by rotation and
stand for reelection at the Annual General Meeting of the bank.
(a) Dato’ Ahamed Tajudin Bin Haji Abdul Rahaman
(b) Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat				
(c) Mohammed Wahidul Haque
(d) Jaafar Bin Abu

Directors’ Interest
Register

The Directors interest in contracts has been disclosed in the Directors’ Interest Register given in this
Annual Report.

Directors’
Remuneration and
Other Benefits

Directors’ remuneration in respect of the bank for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 is given on
Note 21 in the Financial Statements.

Directors’ Interest in
Contracts

As at 31 December 2011 none of the Directors had interests in contracts with the bank, other than those
disclosed in Note 30 in the Financial Statements.

Directors’
Investments in Shares

The shareholdings of Directors who held office as at 31 December 2011 were as follows:
Name of Director

No. of Shares

Osman Kassim
Muhammad Ozman Faizal Salieh
Tyeab Akbarally
Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon
Dato’ Ahamed Tajudin Bin Haji Abdul Rahaman
Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat
Mohammed Wahidul Haque
Jaafar Bin Abu
Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa
Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail
Ruzly Hussain
Angelo Maharajah Patrick
Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui

33,354
1
20
8
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Dato’ Wan Ismail Wan Yusoh (Alternate Director to Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat)
Ahamed Fazal Issadeen (Alternate Director to Osman Kassim)
Kaiser Ahmed Chowdhary (Alternate Director to Mohammed Wahidul Haque)
Shiran Harsha Amarasekera (Alternate Director to Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa)
Huzefa Inayetally Akbarally (Alternate Director to Tyeab Akbarally)
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The Board of Directors, while assuring the overall responsibility and accountability for the management
oversight of the bank has also appointed Board Committees to ensure oversight control over certain affairs
of the bank conforming to corporate governance standards of the Monetary Board of the Central Bank of
Sri Lanka. Accordingly the following committees have been constituted by the Board:


Board Audit Committee comprises:

M. Jazri Magdon Ismail (Chairman - Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Ruzly Hussain (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Jaafar Bin Abu (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
The report of the Board Audit Committee is given on page 96 to 98 which forms part of the Annual Report
of the Board of Directors on the affairs of the bank.


Board Integrated Risk Management Committee comprises:

Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Chairman - Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Dato’ Zukri Bin Samat (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Mohammed Wahidul Haque (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Muhammad Ozman Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)
The report of the Board Integrated Risk Management Committee is given on page 99 to 101 which forms
part of the Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the affairs of the bank.


Board Remuneration Committee comprises:

Osman Kassim (Chairman - Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Tyeab Akbarally (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Muhammad Ozman Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)
Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
The report of the Board Remuneration Committee is given on page 102 which forms part of the Annual
Report of the Board of Directors on the affairs of the bank.
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Board Nomination Committee comprises:

Tyeab Akbarally (Chairman up to 17 March 2012) (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Ruzly Hussain (Chairman w.e.f. 17 March 2012) (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
The report of the Board Nomination Committee is given on page 103 which forms part of the Annual Report
of the Board of Directors on the affairs of the bank.


Board Executive Committee comprises:

Osman Kassim (Chairman, Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Muhammad Ozman Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)
Tyeab Akbarally (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Ruzly Hussain (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Non-Executive, Independent Director)


Board Credit Committee comprises:

Osman Kassim (Chairman, Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Muhammad Ozman Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)
Tyeab Akbarally (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Ruzly Hussain (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Auditors

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 has been audited by Messrs Ernst &
Young, Chartered Accountants who offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution relating to their
reappointment and authorising the Directors to determine their remuneration will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting.
The Auditors Messrs Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants were paid Rs. 1,485,450/- as Audit fees
by the bank.
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The Directors approved the Financial Statements together with the reviews which forms part of the Annual
Report. The appropriate number of copies will be submitted to the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, Sri Lanka
Accounting and Auditing Standard Monitoring Board and the Registrar of Companies.
The Annual General Meeting will be held on Thursday, 28 June 2012 at 4.30 pm at the Grand Ballroom,
Galadari Hotel, No. 64, Lotus Road, Colombo 01. The notice of the Annual General Meeting is given
on page 153.
By order of the Board

Mrs. P.M. Dunuwille Koralege
Company Secretary
3 May 2012
Colombo
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Directors' Interest Register - 2011
Name of Director

Company Name

Position

Nature of Transaction

Osman Kassim
Dr. A.A.M. Haroon
Tyeab Akbarally
Faizal Salieh

Amãna Investments Limited

Chairman
Director
Director
Managing Director

Deposits
Financing and Advances
Other Receivables
Non-Current Assets
Held for Sale

Dato' Sri Zukri Bin Samat
Dato' A. Tajudin B.H.
Abdul Rahman
Vidullanka PLC

Tyeab Akbarally
Osman Kassim
Dr. A.A.M. Haroon

Amãna Takaful PLC

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon

Tyeab Akbarally

Expolanka Commodities (Pvt) Limited
Expolanka Holdings PLC

Chairman
Director

Deposits
Financing and Advances

Chairman
Director
Director

Deposits
Financing and Advances
Dealing Securities
Payments made Takaful Policies

Chairman
Chairman

Expolanka Teas (Pvt) Limited
Expo Aviation (Pvt) Limited
Globe Air (Pvt) Limited
A.P.I.I.T. Lanka (Pvt) Limited

Chairman
Chairman
Chairman
Chairman

Vanguard Industries (Pvt) Limited

Chairman

Akbar Brothers (Pvt) Limited
Akbar Pharmaceuticals (Pvt) Limited
Amãna Capital Limited
Amãna Asset Management Limited

Dato' Sri Zukri Bin Samat Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad

Mohammed
Wahidul Haque
Jaafar Bin Abu

329,998,558
239,532,791
385,084,972
270,609,643

Director
Director

Osman Kassim
Dr. A.A.M. Haroon

Osman Kassim

Amount (Rs.)

Deposits
Deposits
Dealing Securities
Deposits
Deposits
Deposits
Deposits
Deposits
Financing and Advances
Off Balance Sheet
Accommodations

32,866,825
200,919,806
6,329,641
2,835,953
360,000,000
8,341,677
82,678
298,281
30,361,500
351,761
194,586
103,167
175,672,420
559,317
15,199,747
47,695,167
517,436

Director
Director
Director
Director

Deposits
Deposits
Deposits
Deposits

Managing Director

Balances with Banks
Payments Made Professional Fees
Balances with Banks

14,564,271

Balances with Banks

1,943,035

AB Bank

Chairman

Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad

Chief Operating
Officer - Business
Support

76,174
2,627,065
3,608,989
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Board Audit Committee Report
Composition of the
Committee

The Audit Committee comprising of members listed below conducts its proceedings in accordance with the
terms of reference approved by the Board of Directors. The Committee was appointed with effect from
21 June 2011 and is chaired by Mr. Jazri Magdon Ismail in line with the Board approval in this regard.
Table below shows the list of Audit Committee members during the year under review and their attendance
at the Audit Committee meetings held during the year:

Audit Committee Member

Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail (Non-Executive/Independent Director)
Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Non-Executive/Independent Director)
Ruzly Hussain (Non-Executive/Independent Director)
Jaafar Bin Abu (Non-Executive/Non-Independent Director)

Meeting Attendance/
Meetings Eligible to
Attend

3/3
3/3
3/3
1/3

The Board Secretary functions as the Secretary to the Audit Committee.
Role of the Audit
Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in carrying out its responsibilities in relation to
financial reporting requirements and assessment of internal controls. The role and responsibility of the
Committee is defined in the Audit Committee Charter which is reviewed annually to ensure that new
developments and other issues are properly addressed. The Committee amongst other functions performs
the following key roles;
i. Reviewing the operations and effectiveness of Bank’s internal control system to ensure that a good
financial reporting system is in place in compliance with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.
ii.

Ensuring that the presentation of Financial Statements satisfies all regulatory disclosure requirements.

iii. Monitoring the effectiveness of the bank’s Internal Audit Function.
iv.

Regulatory
Compliance

Reviewing the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the Internal Audit Department and
ensuring that appropriate actions are taken on the findings and recommendations of the Internal
Audit Department.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee are regulated by the Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 2007,
the Mandatory Code of Corporate Governance for Licensed Commercial Banks issued by the Central
Bank of Sri Lanka and the Best Practices of Corporate Governance issued by The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Sri Lanka. All four members of the Committee are Non-Executive Directors and three of
them being Independent. The Chairman of the Committee is Independent and is a Fellow Member of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.
Bank’s compliance with mandatory banking and other statutory requirements and the systems and
procedures in place to assess the compliance with such requirements were regularly reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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The Audit Committee met three times during the year under review. The Managing Director/Chief
Executive Officer, Financial Controller, Head of Internal Audit and the Risk Officer attended these meetings
by invitation. On the invitation of the Committee, the Engagement Partner of the bank’s External Auditors,
Messrs Ernst & Young also attended all meetings during the year. Further, key management personnel
from relevant business and support departments of the bank were also invited to attend segments of the
meetings to enhance the awareness of the Committee with regard to issues and/or developments relating
to such departments. Such invitations were extended to ensure that the Committee is provided with all the
relevant information to facilitate the discharge of its role and responsibilities.
The Committee as part of its responsibility to oversee the bank’s financial reporting process on behalf of
the Board of Directors, has reviewed and discussed with the Management, the annual and the quarterly
Financial Statements prior to their release. The review included the extent of compliance with the Sri
Lanka Accounting Standards, the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007, the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 and
amendments thereto. Matters of special interest in the current environment in the process that supports
certifications of the Financial Statements by the bank’s Chief Executive Officer and Financial Controller
were also brought up for discussion.
The Committee discussed with the Management and the External Auditors, the bank’s readiness for the
pending convergence of Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLAS) with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) which came into force in 2012. The bank has carried out a gap analysis to identify areas
requiring action in this regard and engaged the services of Messrs Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants
to assist the bank in the implementation of actions so identified during the gap analysis. The Bank is
confident that it would be able to comply with the new reporting standards this year.

Risks and Internal
Controls

The internal controls within the bank are designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance to the
Directors and assist them to monitor the financial position of the bank. During the year, the Committee
reviewed the effectiveness of the bank’s internal control system and assessed the effectiveness of the bank’s
internal controls over financial reporting as of 31 December 2011, as required by the Banking Act Direction
No. 11 of 2007, Corporate Governance for Licensed Commercial Banks in Sri Lanka, Subsection 3 (8) (ii) (b),
based on the “Guidance for Directors of Banks on the Directors’ Statement on Internal Control” issued by
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. The result of the assessment is given on pages 85 to
86 of the Annual Report, titled “Directors’ Report of Bank's Internal Control System”. The External Auditors
have issued an Assurance Report on the Directors’ Report of Bank's Internal Control System. This report
is given on page 87 of the Annual Report. Based on the assessment of the Internal Control System, the
Committee concluded and confirmed to the Board as of 31 December 2011 that the bank’s Internal Control
over financial reporting is effective.
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The Audit Committee reviewed and monitored the independence of the External Auditors and the
objectivity of the effectiveness of the audit process and assisted the Board with its recommendations to the
shareholders on reappointment of Messrs Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants as external auditors for
the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
The Committee met with the External Auditor during the year to discuss their audit approach and
procedures, including matters relating to the scope of the audit and Auditor’s independence.

Internal Audit

Professional Advice
Whistle Blowing

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the independence, objectivity and performance of the
Internal Audit Function, the findings from the internal audits completed and their evaluation of the bank’s
internal controls including internal control systems. The Audit Committee also reviewed the adequacy of
coverage of the internal audit plan and approved the same. It also assessed the Internal Audit Department’s
resource requirements including succession planning.
The Committee has the authority to seek external professional advice on matters within its purview.
Amãna Bank’s ethics hotline is a whistle-blowing tool operated with the assistance of an external service
provider (KPMG) to provide employees with the opportunity to assist the management in adopting a
unique approach to banking in sync with the bank’s beliefs. The scheme will allow any staff member who
has a legitimate concern on an existing or potential irregularity perpetrated by any person within the bank,
to come forward voluntarily and bring such concern to the notice of KPMG using a dedicated telephone
hotline operated by KPMG. Concerns raised are investigated by KPMG and the identity of the person raising
the concern is kept confidential, as even anonymous complaints are looked at.
Through various awareness sessions and other publicity means all staff members have been educated and
encouraged to use the ethics hotline when they suspect wrong doings or other improprieties.

Committee Evaluation

The Audit Committee plans to conduct an annual self-evaluation/appraisal to assess its effectiveness.
First review in this regard will be conducted for the current financial year (i.e. year ending on
31 December 2012) and the result will be published in the next Board Audit Committee Report.

Jazri Magdon Ismail
Chairman – Board Audit Committee
3 May 2012
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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Board Integrated Risk Management Committee Report
Composition of the
Committee

The Board Integrated Risk Management Committee (BIRMC) comprising of members listed below conducts
its proceedings in accordance with the terms of reference approved by the Board of Directors. The
Committee was appointed by the Board on the 30 May 2011 and is chaired by Mr. Angelo Patrick.
The Committee met 5 times during the year and the attendance is as follows:

BIRMC Members

Meetings attended/
meetings eligible
to attend

Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail (Non-Executive, Independent Director)
Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Wahidul Haque (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)

5/5
3/5
4/5
0/5
5/5

The Board Secretary functions as the Secretary to the BIRMC Committee.
Regulatory
Compliance

Meetings

Role and
responsibilities of
the BIRMC

The BIRMC was established by the Board of Directors, in compliance with the Section 3 (6) of Direction
No. 11. of 2007, on ‘Corporate Governance for Licensed Commercial Banks in Sri Lanka’, issued by the
Monetary Board of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka under powers vested in the Monetary Board, in terms of
the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988.
The Financial Controller, Head of Internal Audit and Risk Officer attended these meetings by invitation.
The Chief Risk Officer of Bank of Islam (20% shareholder), Mr. Jeroen Thijs joined the meetings by
teleconferencing. Further, key management personnel from relevant business and support departments
of the bank were also invited to attend segments of the meetings to enhance the awareness of the BIRMC
Committee with regard to issues and/or developments relating to such departments. Such invitations were
extended to ensure that the BIRMC is provided with all the relevant information to facilitate the discharge
of its role and responsibilities.
The BIRMC as a Board appointed committee is primarily responsible for the effective functioning of the
risk management function within the bank. The BIRMC shall have authority to access any information of
the Directors, Management and Staff with regard to carrying out its role and responsibilities on the risk
management process of the bank. Its main responsibilities include the following:
i.

Ensure that the bank has a comprehensive risk management policy and framework and appropriate
compliance policies and systems in place. In addition, BIRMC continuously monitors the effectiveness
of such policy and framework so as to inculcate a proactive risk management culture within the bank.

ii.

Reviewing and proposing the setting of the risk appetite/tolerance of the bank at enterprise and at
strategic business unit levels.
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iii. Assess and oversee credit, market, liquidity, operational and strategic risks (including Sharia
non-compliance risks) of the bank on a monthly basis through appropriate risk indicators and
management information.
iv.

Ensuring implementation of sufficient internal controls to detect any deficiencies in the internal
control environment in a timely manner, whilst reviewing the independence and robustness of risk
management processes and internal controls throughout the bank and approving the bank’s key risk
controls and mitigation processes.

v.

Review the adequacy and effectiveness of all management level committees such as Executive Risk
Management Committee, Credit Committee and the Assets and Liabilities Committee to address
specific risks and manage those risks within qualitative and quantitative risk limits and authorised
deviations from limits as specified by the BIRMC.

vi. Take prompt corrective action to mitigate the effects of specific risks in case such risks are beyond
levels deemed prudent by the BIRMC on the basis of the bank’s policies and regulatory and supervisory
requirements and risk appetite.
vii. At least quarterly, every calendar year assess all aspects of risk management including updated
business continuity plans.
viii. Establish a compliance function to assess the bank’s compliance with laws, regulations, regulatory
guidelines, internal controls and approved policies on all areas of business operations.
ix. Reviewing and recommending to the Board the allocation of (risk-adjusted) capital across
broad-based business units covering market risk, credit risk, and operational risk and accordingly
approving allocation of such capital across individual business units and product lines.
The BIRMC has the authority to seek external professional advice on matters within its purview.
Risk Management and
Internal Controls
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Risk management controls are implemented across the bank to provide reasonable assurance to the
Board and senior management that effective mitigation action plans are implemented to address all
risk exposures. During the year, BIRMC has reviewed and assessed the effectiveness of the bank’s risk
management controls for the financial year ended as of 31 December 2011. In pursuit of managing its
risk profile, the bank has established a formal Risk Management Department (RMD) with the primary
responsibility of effectively managing the core functions of risk: Credit, Market, Liquidity and
Operational risk.
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The BIRMC is now in the process of conducting a Risk and Control Self-Assessment evaluation and
Process Risk Mapping exercise to assess its effectiveness over operational risk mitigation across the bank.
The first review in this regard will be conducted for the current financial year (i.e. year ending on
31 December 2012) and the outcome of such assessments with appropriate control actions implemented
shall be published in the next BIRMC Report.
For the year under review, the bank has progressed successfully in managing its overall risk profile since
inception of business in August 2011. The Board and the BIRMC are satisfied with the effective risk
management strategies implemented by the bank under its Integrated Risk Management Framework
(IRMF) and Road map over the 5-month period ended in December 2011.
The Bank shall continue to review, monitor and proactively address potential risks identified in all its
operations and implement appropriate mitigation strategies to remain in a steady growth and expansion.
The Bank shall also continue to function within its approved risk appetite as well as comply with the
Basel II and CBSL requirements of effective risk management practices.

Angelo M. Patrick
Chairman
Board Integrated Risk Management Committee
3 May 2012
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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Board Remuneration Committee Report
The Board Remuneration Committee (BRC) comprises of 5 members as follows:
1. Osman Kassim (Chairman, Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
2.

Tyeab Akbarally (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

3.

Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

4.

Faizal Salieh (Managing Director/CEO)

5.

Angelo Maharajah Patrick - Appointed with effect from 30 May 2011
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

Four (4) Directors of the Committee are Non-Executive Directors and Mr. Angelo Maharaja Patrick is an
Independent Director as well.
Authority and
Responsibilities

The BRC shall have the explicit authority to decide on and review the bank’s Remuneration Policy
and Structure within its Terms of Reference on behalf of the Board of Directors. It may however, refer
any matter which in the opinion of BRC should be referred to the Board of Directors together with its
recommendations.
In discharging its duties and functions the BRC has all the resources it needs to do so and full and
unrestricted access to information and the right to obtain external professional advise and invite outsiders
with relevant experience to attend meetings if necessary.
The Roles and Responsibilities of the Committee include1. Recommending the remuneration policy (salaries, allowances and other financial payments) relating
to Directors, MD/CEO and Key Management Personnel of the bank.
2. Setting goals and targets for the Directors, CEO and the Key Management Personnel.
3. Evaluating the performance of the CEO and the Key Management Personnel against the set targets and
goals periodically and determine the basis for revising remuneration, benefits and other payments of
performance-based incentives.

Frequency of
Meetings

Meetings are held as required.

Osman Kassim
Chairman
Board Remuneration Committee
3 May 2012
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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Board Nomination Committee Report
Constitution of the
Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee are appointed by the Board and comprised of following
Directors for the year under review:
² Tyeab Akbarally (Chairman, Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)
²

Ruzly Hussain (Non-Executive, Independent Director)

²

Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

²

Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

With effect from 17 March 2012 the Composition of the Nomination Committee was changed and
Mr. Ruzly Hussain an Independent Director was appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
Further, Mr. Angelo Maharajah Patrick, another Independent Director was also appointed to the
Nomination Committee. The Committee currently is as follows.
²

Ruzly Hussain (Chairman, Non-Executive, Independent Director)

²

Tyeab Akbarally (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

²

Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

²

Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa (Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

²

Angelo Maharajah Patrick (Non-Executive, Independent Director)

All the Directors of the Committee are Non-Executive Directors and Mr. Ruzly Hussain and Mr. Angelo
Maharajah Patrick are Independent Directors as well.
Responsibilities

The main responsibilities of the Committee are as follows:
(a) Establishing a procedure to select/appoint new Directors, CEO and Key Management Personnel.
(b) Considering and recommending (or not recommending) the re-election of current Directors, taking
into account the performance and contribution made by the Director concerned towards the overall
discharge of the Board’s responsibilities.
(c) Setting the criteria such as qualifications, experience and key attributes required for eligibility to be
considered for appointment or promotion to the post of CEO and the key management positions.
(d) Ensuring that Directors, CEO and key management personnel are fit and proper persons to hold office
as specified and set out in the Banking Act and other relevant Statutes and in terms of the Directions
issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka from time to time.
(e) Considering and recommending from time to time, the requirements of additional/new expertise and
the succession arrangements for retiring Directors and key management personnel.
The quorum necessary for the transaction of business is 3 members.
The Company Secretary is secretary to the Nomination Committee.
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Frequency of
Meetings

Authority

Performance
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Meetings are held as required. The Committee is required to meet at least twice during a financial year.
However the Committee held only one meeting during the year under review as there were only five months
of operations within the year.
The Nomination Committee has the authority to seek any information that it requires from any officer or
employee of the bank. In connection with its duties, the Nomination Committee is authorised by the
Board to take such independent advice (including legal or other professional advice, at the bank‘s expense)
as it considers necessary, including requests for information from, or commissioning investigations by
external advisers.
The Committee met during the year under review to consider the appointment of Independent Directors.

Tyeab Akbarally
Chairman
Board Nomination Committee
3 May 2012
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The bank’s Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 are published from pages 110 to 144
of this Annual Report. In terms of Section 150 and 151 of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007, Directors of the
bank have a duty to ensure that the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the bank as at the Balance Sheet date and profit or loss of the bank for the year ending on such Balance
Sheet date. Accordingly, the Directors confirm that the Financial Statements of the bank give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the bank as at Balance Sheet date and the loss of the bank for the financial
year ended on the Balance Sheet date.
The Financial Statements of the bank have been certified by the bank’s Financial Controller, the person
responsible for their preparation, as required by the Companies Act. Financial Statements of the bank have
been signed by the Chairman and the Managing Director/CEO on 3 May 2011 as required by Section 150 (1)
of the Companies Act. Your Board of Directors is aware of the Board’s responsibility for keeping accounting
records in accordance with the Section 148 (1) of the Companies Act to enable the preparation of the
Financial Statements in accordance with the said Act so that the Financial Statements could be readily and
properly audited.
The Directors in preparing these Financial Statements are required to ensure that:
(1) The appropriate accounting policies have been selected and applied in a consistent manner and
material departures if any have been disclosed
(2) Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
(3) All applicable accounting standards are followed as relevant
The Directors confirm that the Financial Statements prepared by the bank and presented in the Annual
Report are consistent with the underlying books of accounts and are in conformity with Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards, Companies Act No. 7 of 2007, Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards Act of
No. 15 of 1995 and the Banking Act of No. 30 of 1988 as amended.
Directors have taken adequate effort during the year under review in inspecting Financial Statements
periodically at the Board Audit Committee, Board Integrated Risk Management Committee and at the
meetings of the Board of Directors of the bank.
The Directors are satisfied that effective systems of Internal Controls over Financial Reporting are in place.
Directors’ Report of Bank’s Internal Control System and the Annual Report of the Board of Directors on
the Affairs of the bank are provided from pages 85 to 86 and from pages 88 to 94 respectively of the Annual
Report. Auditors’ Report of Bank’s Internal Control System is provided on page 87 of the Annual Report.
The Bank’s External Auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young have examined the Financial Statements made
available to them together with all financial records, related data, minutes of shareholders’ meetings,
Directors meetings, and Audit Committee meetings and other sub-committee meetings and expressed their
opinion as reported by them in the Annual Report on page 110.
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The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge, all taxes, duties and levies payable by the bank, all
contributions, levies and taxes on behalf of and in respect of its staff members and all other known statutory dues
as were due and payable by the bank at Balance Sheet date have been paid or where relevant, provided for. The
Directors also confirm that based on its assessment the accounting controls are adequate and nothing has come
to the attention of the Directors to indicate that any breakdown in the functioning of these controls, resulting in
material loss to the bank, and also the bank will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence and
as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
The Directors are of the view that they have discharged their responsibilities as set out in the above
statement.
By Order of the Board,

Mrs. Preeni M. Dunuwille Koralege
Head of Legal, Compliance and Company Secretary
3 May 2012
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Independent Sharia Supervisory Council Report
In the Name of Allah the Most Gracious the Most Merciful
To the Shareholders of Amãna Bank Limited
We have reviewed the contracts relating to the transactions and applications introduced by Amãna Bank
Limited during the year ended 31 December 2011.
We have also conducted our review to form an opinion as to whether Amãna Bank Limited has complied
with Sharia Rules and Principles and also with the specific rulings and guidelines issued by us.
We conducted our review which included examining on a test basis each type of transaction, the relevant
documentation and procedures adopted by the bank.
We planned and performed our review so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
bank has not violated Sharia Rules and Principles.
The management is responsible for ensuring that the bank conducts its business in accordance with the
Sharia Rules and Principles. It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our review of
the operations of the bank and to report to you.
In Our Opinion

(a) The contracts, transactions and dealings entered into by Amãna Bank Limited during the year ended
31 December 2011 that we have reviewed are in compliance with the Sharia Rules and Principles.
(b) The allocation of profit and charging of losses relating to Investment Accounts conform to the basis
that had been approved by us in accordance with Sharia Rules and Principles.
Accordingly, we, Ash-Sheik M.M.A. Mubarak and Ash-Sheik Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe, being two members of the
Independent Sharia Supervisory Council of Amãna Bank Limited, do hereby confirm the above for and on
behalf of the Council.
Allah Knows Best.

Ash-Sheik M.M.A. Mubarak

Ash-Sheik Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe
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Independent Auditors’ Report

ERNST & YOUNG

Chartered Accountants
201 De Saram Place
P.O. Box 101
Colombo 10
Sri Lanka
Tel
: (0) 11 2463500
Fax Gen : (0) 11 2697369
Tax : (0) 11 5578180
eysl@lk.ey.com

To the Shareholders of Amãna Bank Limited
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Amãna
Bank Limited (“Bank”), which comprise the balance sheet as at
31 December 2011 and the income statement, statement of
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Scope of Audit and Basis of Opinion
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting policies used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation.
We have obtained all the information and explanations which
to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the
purposes of our audit. We therefore believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, so far as appears from our examination, the
Bank maintained proper accounting records for the year ended
31 December 2011 and the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the Bank’s state of affairs as at 31 December 2011 and its
loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, these financial statements also comply with the
requirements of Section 151(2) of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

3 May 2012
Colombo

Partners: A D B Talwatte FCA FCMA M P D Cooray FCA FCMA R N de Saram ACA FCMA Ms. N A De Silva ACA Ms. Y A De Silva ACA W R H Fernando FCA FCMA
W K B S P Fernando FCA ACMA A P A Gunasekera FCA FCMA A Herath FCA D K Hulangamuwa FCA FCMA LLB (Lond) H M A Jayesinghe FCA FCMA
Ms. A A Ludowyke FCA FCMA Ms. G G S Manatunga ACA Ms. L C G Nanayakkara FCA FCMA N M Sulaiman ACA ACMA B E Wijesuriya ACA ACMA
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Balance Sheet

As at 31 December

Assets
Cash and Short Term Funds
Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka
Placements with Commercial Banks
Placements with Licensed Finance Companies
Investments in Gold Bullion
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
Dealing Securities
Investment Securities
Financing and Advances
Lease Receivables
– Receivable within One Year
– Receivable from One to Five Years
Receivables, Prepayments and Other Assets
Receivable from Amãna Investments Limited
Deferred Tax Asset
Property, Plant and Equipment
Total Assets
Liabilities
Deposits from Customers
Other Liabilities
Employee Benefit Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Shareholders’ Funds
Stated Capital
Capital Funds Raised Pending Allotment of Shares
Reserves
Total Shareholders’ Funds
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Funds
Commitments and Contingencies

Note

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

1,053,128,872
717,763,029
1,500,000,000
3,075,000,000
799,582,509
270,609,643
675,916,990
2,993,000
4,491,765,253

3,171,561,321
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

12

105,982,787
382,486,116
397,592,651
385,084,972
81,809,511
616,852,345
14,556,567,678

–
–
3,400,586
–
–
1,703,793
3,176,665,700

11,362,868,664
116,631,557
13,051,361
11,492,551,582

–
41,005,209
–
41,005,209

13
14
15

16
17
18

28

3,431,611,720
–
(367,595,624)
3,064,016,096

7
3,161,002,073
(25,341,589)
3,135,660,491

14,556,567,678

3,176,665,700

4,167,021,073

–

These Financial Statements are in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

M. Ali Wahid
Financial Controller
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements. Signed for and on
behalf of the Board by:

Osman Kassim
Chairman

Faizal Salieh
Managing Director/CEO

The Accounting Policies and Notes from pages 116 to 144 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
3 May 2012
Colombo
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Income Statement

Year ended 31 December
Note

Income
Income on Financing and Advances
Less: Expenses on Deposits
Net Income

19

Fees, Commission and Other Income
Operating Income

20

Less: Operating Expenses
Personnel Costs
Premises, Equipment and Establishment Expenses
Provision for Staff Retirement Benefits
Other Overhead Expenses

21

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

385,352,071

–

413,793,578

–

207,209,409

–

206,584,169

–

(28,441,507)

–

178,142,662

–

143,340,631
104,766,058
1,457,037

–
2,360,720
–

166,126,098

18,981,045

415,689,824

21,341,765

Less: Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful
Financing - General
25,044,421
–
Loss Before Taxation
(262,591,583)
(21,341,765)
Less: Income Tax (Expense)/Reversal
22
81,809,511
–
Loss for the Year
(180,782,072)
(21,341,765)
Loss per Share - Basic
23
(0.22) (3,048,823.57)
			
The Accounting Policies and Notes from pages 116 to 114 form an integral part of these Financial
Statements.			
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2011

As at 1 January 2010
Shares Pending Allotment
Loss for the Year
As at 1 January 2011
Issue of Shares
Share Issue Expenses
Loss for the Year
As at 31 December 2011

Note

Stated
Capital
Rs.

7
–

Capital Funds
Raised Pending
Allotment of
Shares
Rs.

–
3,161,002,070

–

–
7

3,431,611,713

–

Retained
Earnings
Rs.

(3,999,824)

–

–

–

(21,341,765)

3,161,002,070

–

(25,341,589)

(3,161,002,070)

–

–

–

–

–

3,431,611,720

Revenue
Reserve
Rs.

–

–

(161,471,963)
–
(161,471,963)

–
(180,782,072)
(206,123,661)

Total
Rs.

(3,999,817)
3,161,002,070
(21,341,765)
3,135,660,488
270,609,643
(161,471,963)
(180,782,072)
3,064,016,096

The Accounting Policies and Notes from pages 116 to 144 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Annual Report 2011

Amãna Bank

113

107 Independen t Sharia Supervisory Council Rep ort

110 Independen t Auditor s’ Rep ort

111 Bal ance Sheet

Cash Flow Statement

Year ended 31 December
Note

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Income Received from Financing and Advances
Fees and Commission Received
Expenses Paid on Deposits
Foreign Exchange Income Received
Gratuity Payments Made
Payments to Employees and Suppliers
Operating Profit/(Loss) before Changes in Operating
Assets and Liabilities (Note A)
Increase/(Decrease) in Deposits from Customers
(Increase)/Decrease in Financing and Advances to Customers
(Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets
(Increase)/Decrease in Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities before Income Tax
Income Tax Paid
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from/(used in) Investing Activities
Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment
Cash Received from Amãna Investments Limited
Placements with Licensed Finance Companies
Placements with Commercial Banks
Disposal/(Acquisition) of Gold Bullion
Disposal/(Acquisition) of Dealing Securities
Disposal/(Acquisition) of Investment Securities
Net Cash Flows used in Investing Activities
Cash Flows from/(used in) Financing Activities
Proceeds from Capital Funds Raised Pending Allotment of Shares
Share Issue Expenses
Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities

2011
Rs.

347,853,200

–

22,523,209

–

(133,475,942)

–

32,298,202

–

(574,875)

–

(351,076,366)

–

(82,452,572)

–

1,906,682,682
(1,517,963,495)
2,220,316,059
(717,763,029)
(78,057,949)
1,730,761,696
–
1,730,761,696

15

2010
Rs.

(521,328,262)

–
–
(3,400,586)
–
15,771,745
12,371,159
–
12,371,159

(1,811,918)

261,706,498

–

(411,020,000)

–

(1,500,000,000)

–

(913,637,218)

–

(600,450,200)

–

(2,993,000)

–

(3,687,722,182)
–

(1,811,918)
3,161,002,073

(161,471,963)

–

(161,471,963)

3,161,002,073

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

(2,118,432,449)

3,171,561,314

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year

3,171,561,321

7

1,053,128,872

3,171,561,321
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Year ended 31 December
Note

A. Reconciliation of Operating Profit/(Loss)
Loss before Taxation
Depreciation
Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful Financing – General
Provision for Gratuity
(Increase)/Decrease in Placement Income
Increase/(Decrease) in Expenses Payable on Deposits
Other Non-Cash Items
Gratuity Payments Made
(Profit)/Loss on Mark to Market Valuation

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

(262,591,583)

–

25,326,691

–

25,044,421

–

1,457,037

–

(57,225,056)

–

73,733,467

–

29,114,409

–

(574,875)

–

83,262,917

–

(82,452,572)

–

The Accounting Policies and Notes from pages 116 to 144 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Corporate Information
1.1 General
Amãna Bank Limited (‘the Bank’) is a Licensed Commercial Bank
established under the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988. It is a Public
Limited Liability Company incorporated on 5 February 2009 and is
domiciled in Sri Lanka. The registered office of the Bank is located
at No. 480, Galle Road, Colombo 3.

that reflects their relative liquidity. No adjustments have been
made for inflationary factors affecting these Financial Statements.
These Financial Statements are prepared in Sri Lankan Rupees
which is the Bank’s functional currency unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Statement of Compliance

1.2 Principal Activities and Nature of Operations

The Financial Statements of the Bank have been prepared and
presented in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards laid
down by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and
are in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act
No. 7 of 2007 and Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 and amendments
thereto.

The Bank commenced commercial banking operations on
1 August 2011.

2.2 Going Concern

The staff strength of the Bank as at 31 December 2011 was 302
(2010 – Nil).

The principal activities of the Bank are providing Sharia compliant
banking and related activities such as accepting deposits, personal
and business banking, trade financing, equipment and machinery
financing, lease financing, home and property financing, project
financing and resident and non-resident foreign currency
operations.

1.3 Parent Entity and Ultimate Parent Entity
The Bank does not have an identifiable parent of its own.

1.4 Date of Authorisation for Issue
The Financial Statements of Amãna Bank Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2011 was authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 3 May 2012.

2. Basis of Preparation
The Financial Statements of the Bank are prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for Promissory Forward
Exchange Transactions, Dealing Securities and Investment in
Gold Bullion. The Placements with Banks and Licensed Finance
Companies are stated at valuation as mentioned in Note 2.6.1.3.
Assets and Liabilities are grouped by nature and listed in an order
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The Directors have made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern and they do not intend either to
liquidate or to cease operation.

2.3 Comparative Information
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of
the previous financial year except where the Bank has made
changes voluntarily and/or required by the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards.

2.4 Materiality and Aggregation, Offsetting and Rounding
In compliance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards No. 3 (Revised
2005) - ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, each material
class of similar items is presented separately in the Financial
Statements. Items of dissimilar nature or functions are presented
separately, unless they are immaterial.

2.5 Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and
Assumptions
Judgments
In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the Financial Statements.

149 Shareholder Information

151 No stro accoun ts main tained in Specific Currencies

152 Branch Net w ork

Deferred Tax Assets:

Defined Benefit Plans:

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.

The cost of Defined Benefit Plans - Gratuity - is arrived based on
an actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation involves making
assumptions about discount rates, expected rate of return on
assets, future salary increase, mortality rates and future pension
increases. Due to the long-term nature of these obligations, such
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

Review of Impairment of Financing and Advances and
Lease Receivables:
The judgments by the management are required in the estimation
of impairment losses on financing and advances and such
estimations are based on assumptions about a number of
factors such as any deterioration of country risk, industry and
technological obsolescence, customer’s financial situation,
strategies adopted, the net realisable value of any underlying
collaterals as well as identified structural weaknesses and
deterioration in cash flows.

Review of Impairment of Other Assets:

An actuarial valuation is carried out once in every three years to
ascertain the full liability. A separate fund is not maintained for
this purpose.

2.6 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
2.6.1 Assets and Base of Their Valuation
2.6.1.1 Foreign Currency Translation
The Financial Statements of the Bank are presented in Sri Lankan
Rupees, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency
of the Bank. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially
recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the date of
transaction.

The Bank determines whether assets had been impaired by
performing an impairment test. This requires an estimation of
the ‘value in use’ of the cash-generating units. Estimating a value
in use amount requires management to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. This valuation requires the Bank to make
estimates about expected future cash flows and discount rates,
and hence they are subject to uncertainty.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at the Balance Sheet date are translated to the functional currency
using exchange rate prevailing at the Balance Sheet date. All
differences are taken to the Income Statement. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value was determined.

Estimates and Assumptions

Promissory Forward Exchange Transactions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation and uncertainty as at the Balance Sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustments
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below. The respective carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities are given in related notes to the
Financial Statements.

Promissory forward exchange transactions are valued at the
exchange rate prevailing on the date of the Balance Sheet. The
gains or losses from such transactions are recognised in the
Income Statement.
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2.6.1.2 Taxation
a) Current Taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date.
The provision for income tax is based on the elements of income
and expenditure as reported in the Financial Statements and
computed in accordance with the provisions of the relevant tax
legislations.
b) Deferred Taxation
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary
differences at the Balance Sheet date between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences except where the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses
can be utilised except where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
Balance Sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date.
Deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in equity are
recognised in equity and not in the Income Statement.
c) Value Added Tax on Financial Services
The Bank’s total value addition is subjected to a 12% Value Added
Tax on Financial Services as per Section 25 A of the Value Added
Tax Act No. 14 of 2002 and amendments thereto. 8% of the profits
calculated for the payment of Value Added Tax on Financial
Services shall be transferred to an Investment Fund Account as
required by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.
d) Economic Service Charge (ESC)
As per the provisions of the Economic Service Charge Act No. 13
of 2006, ESC is payable on the liable income at specified rates. ESC
paid is deductible from the income tax liability. Any unclaimed
liability can be carried forward and set off against the income tax
payable for a further four years.
2.6.1.3 Investments
a) Placements with Commercial Banks and Licensed
Finance Companies
These are short term investments made with the above category
of financial institutions that are authorised to accept deposits
and utilises such deposits to generate income in a manner that is
compliant with Sharia (Islamic Law).
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Such placements are stated in the Balance Sheet at cost plus
accrued unpaid profits and net of attributable losses, if any. Any
difference between accrued profits and actual profits will be
adjusted in the period in which profits are received.
b) Investment in Gold Bullion
This represents the physical gold purchased by the Bank and held
with the intention of resale. Such gold is initially measured at cost
and subsequently measured at the market value as at the Balance
Sheet date. Any resultant gain or losses are recognised in the
Income Statement as per SLAS 22 - ‘Accounting for Investments’.
c) Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
Non-current assets held for sale represents 202,957,240 shares
in Amãna Investments Limited which is held by the Bank to be
repurchased by the Company. The investment is stated at cost less
impairment losses, if any.
d) Dealing Securities
These are marketable securities acquired and held with the
intention of resale over a short period of time. Such securities
are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at the
market value prevailing at Balance Sheet date. Adjustment for
changes in market value is accounted for in the Income Statement
as per SLAS 22 - ‘Accounting for Investments’.
Investments in equity fund are recorded at cost at the time the
investment is made. Subsequently, based on the valuation done
by the Fund Manager, the investment is revalued to the Fund
Manager’s buying price and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in the Income Statement.
e) Investment Securities
Investment securities consist of investments made in un-quoted
equity securities. Un-quoted equity securities are accounted for at
cost, net of provision for any permanent diminution in value on an
individual basis.
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2.6.1.4 Financing and Advances
Advances to customers are stated in the Balance Sheet net of
provisions for possible provision/allowance for bad and doubtful
financing and also net of profit in suspense, which is not accrued
to revenue.
a) Non-Performing Advances
Advances which are in arrears of due capital and/or profit are
classified as non-performing as per the Direction No. 3 of 2008 as
amended by the Direction No. 9 of 2008 on ‘Classification of Loan
and Advances, Income Recognition and Provisioning’ issued by the
Central Bank of Sri Lanka. For this purpose all credit facilities are
classified as non-performing as shown below:
Category of Facility

Position of Classification

Credit facilities repayable in
monthly instalments

Three consecutive
instalments, principle and/or
profit that have not been paid

Credit facilities repayable in one
instalment at the end of specified
period or on a due date
(Bullet Payments)

Payment is not made within
90 days from the end of
agreed period or due date.

b) Provisioning for Losses
Specific provisions for possible losses are made based on the
continuous review of all advances to customers in accordance
with SLAS 23 - ‘Revenue Recognition and Disclosures in the
Financial Statements of Banks’. This provision relates to identified
bad and doubtful advances as stipulated by the Central Bank of
Sri Lanka based on classification of advances as given below:

Overdue period

Classification

Minimum
Provision made Net
of Realisable Value
of Security

6 to 12 months
12 to 18 months
Over 18 months

Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

20%
50%
100%

Annual Report 2011

Amãna Bank

119

114 Ca sh Flow Statemen t

116 Notes to the Financial Statemen ts

c) General Provision
A 0.5% general provision as mandated by the Central Bank of
Sri Lanka is maintained on all performing advances, in addition
to the specific provisions made on non-performing advances to
cover potential bad debts which are inherent in the loan portfolio
but not yet identified. The provision is estimated after deducting
facilities secured against cash.
2.6.1.5 Finance Leases
Assets leased to customers under agreements that transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards associated with ownership
other than legal title are classified and accounted for as finance
leases.
Lease receivables include the aggregate of the Lease Rental
Receivable and Lease Debtors, net of unearned Lease Income not
accrued to revenue and provision for bad and doubtful recoveries
and provision for profit earned on non-performing finance leases.
a) Non-Performing Finance Leases
Finance leases which are in arrears of due capital and/or profit are
classified as non-performing as per the Direction No. 3 of 2008 as
amended by the Direction No. 9 of 2008 on ‘Classification of Loans
and Advances, Income Recognition and provisioning’ issued by the
Central Bank of Sri Lanka.
b) Provisioning for Finance Leases
Specific and general provision have been made in relation to bad
and doubtful leases as stated in Note 2.6.1.4 (b) and (c) respectively.
2.6.1.6 Receivable, Prepayments and Other Assets
All other assets are valued net of specific provision, where
necessary, so as to reduce the carrying value of such assets to their
estimated realisable value.
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2.6.1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
(a) Cost
All items of Property, Plant and Equipment are initially recorded
at cost. Where items of Property, Plant and Equipment are
subsequently revalued, the entire class of such assets is revalued.
Subsequent to the initial recognition of an asset at cost, revalued
Property, Plant and Equipment are carried at revalued amounts
less any subsequent depreciation thereon. All other Property, Plant
and Equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
When an asset is revalued, any increase in the carrying amount
is credited directly to a revaluation surplus unless it reverses a
previous revaluation decrease relating to the same asset, which
was previously recognised as an expense. In these circumstances
the increase is recognised as income to the extent of the previous
write down.
When an asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a
revaluation, the decrease is recognised as an expense unless
it reverses a previous increase relating to that asset, in which
case it is charged against any related revaluation surplus, to the
extent that the decrease does not exceed the amount held in the
revaluation surplus in respect of that same asset. Any balance
remaining in the revaluation surplus in respect of an asset, is
transferred directly to Retained Earnings on retirement or on
disposal of the asset.
(b) Restoration Cost
Expenditure incurred on repairs or maintenance of Property,
Plant and Equipment in order to restore or maintain the future
economic benefits expected from the originally assessed standard
of performance, is recognised as an expense when incurred.
(c) Depreciation
The provision for depreciation is calculated by using a straight
line method on the cost or valuation of all Property, Plant and
Equipment other than freehold land, in order to write off such
amounts over the estimated useful lives by equal instalments.

120

Amãna Bank

Annual Report 2011

149 Shareholder Information

151 No stro accoun ts main tained in Specific Currencies

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use, i.e.
when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods of
depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
financial year end.
The useful lives of the assets are estimated as follows:
Freehold Building
Office Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Computer Servers
Furniture and Fittings
Improvements to Leasehold Premises
Computer Software

40 Years
3 Years
3-4 Years
5 Years
5 Years
Over the Period
of Lease
10 Years

(d) Derecognition
An item of Property, Plant and Equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the
Income Statement in the year the asset is derecognised.
2.6.1.8 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Bank assesses at each reporting date or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of a non-financial asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for
an asset is required, the Bank makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount. When the carrying amount of an asset (or
cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or
cash-generating unit) is considered impaired and is written down
to its recoverable amount.
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For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each
reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such condition exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount.

2.7 Liabilities and Provisions
2.7.1 Provisions and Other Liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation, in accordance with SLAS 36 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’.

2.7.2 Retirement Benefit Obligations
(a) Defined Benefit Plan - Gratuity
Based on Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 16 (Revised 2006) ‘Employee Benefits’, the Bank has adopted the actuarial valuation
method for employee benefit liability calculation. An actuarial
valuation is carried out every three years to ascertain the full
liability. A separate fund is not maintained for this purpose.
The principal assumptions, which have the most significant effects
on the valuation, are the rate of discount, rate of increase in
salary, rate of turnover at the selected ages, rate of disability, death
benefits and expenses.
(b) Defined Contribution Plan - Employees’ Provident Fund and
Employees’ Trust Fund
Employees are eligible for Employees’ Provident Fund
Contributions and Employees’ Trust Fund Contributions in
line with the respective Statutes and Regulations. The Bank
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contributes a minimum 12% and 3% of gross emoluments of
employees to Employees’ Provident Fund and Employees’ Trust
Fund respectively.

2.7.3 Commitments and Contingencies
All discernible risks are accounted for in determining the amount
of commitment and contingencies of the Bank.
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Gross earnings under finance leases in respect of lease rentals
due cease to be taken to revenue when they are in arrears for
three months. Thereafter, such income is recognised on a cash
basis. Income accrued until such leases are being classified as
non-performing is also eliminated from income and transferred to
profit in suspense.
c) Fees and Commission Income

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will
be confirmed only by uncertain future event or present obligation
where the transfer of economic benefits is not probable or can
not be readily measured. Contingent liabilities are not recognised
in the Balance Sheet but are disclosed unless its occurrence
is remote.

Fees and commission income comprise mainly of fees receivable
from customers for issuing Letters of Credit, Guarantees and other
services provided by the Bank together with foreign and domestic
tariff. Such income is recognised as revenue as the services are
provided.
d) Income on Placements

2.8 Income Statement
2.8.1 Revenue Recognition
a) Income from Financing and Advances
In terms of the provisions of SLAS 23 - ‘Revenue Recognition and
Disclosures in Financial Statements of Banks’ and the guidelines
issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, Income from Financing
and Advances is recognised on an accrual basis.
Income from Financing and Advances ceases to be taken into
income when three instalments are overdue. Income is accrued
until such advances being classified as non-performing is
eliminated from income and transferred to profit in suspense. The
income on non-performing advances is recognised on a cash basis.
b) Income from Finance Leases
The excess of aggregate lease rentals receivable over the cost of
the leased assets constitutes the total unearned finance income
at the commencement of a lease. The unearned lease income is
taken into income over the term of the lease, commencing with
the month in which the lease is executed in proportion to the
declining receivable balance, ensuring a constant rate of return, in
terms of the provisions of SLAS 19 - ‘Leases’.
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Income on placements is recognised on an accrual basis. Any
differences arising between accrued income and actual income
will be adjusted in the period in which income is received.
e) Profit or Loss on Sale of Dealing Securities
Profit or loss arising from the sale of marketable securities
is accounted for on an accrual basis and is categorised under
other income.
f) Dividend Income
Dividend income from shares or units is recognised in the period
in which they are declared and approved.
g) Income on Dealing Securities and Equity Fund
Gains or losses arising out of the movement of the share or unit
price are accounted for in the Income Statement in the period in
which such movement occurred.
h) Other Income
Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.
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2.8.2 Expenses
In terms of the provisions of SLAS 23 - ‘Revenue Recognition and
Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks’, the cost of
deposits and other expenses payable are recognised on an accrual
basis in the Income Statement.

2.9 Cash Flow Statement
The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared by using ‘The Direct
Method’ of preparing Cash Flows in accordance with the Sri Lanka
Accounting Standard No. 9 on ‘Cash Flow Statements’. Cash and
cash equivalents comprise mainly of cash balances, balances with
Central Bank of Sri Lanka, balances with Foreign Banks and Cash
in Transit.

2.10 Segmental Analysis
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Bank that is
engaged either in providing related products or services (business
segment), or in providing products and services within a particular
economic environment, which is subject to risks and returns
different from those of other business segments. For the purposes
of segment reporting disclosures, the information is presented in
respect of the Bank’s business segments, which is based on the
Bank’s management and internal reporting structure.
Measurement of segment assets, liabilities, segment revenue
and results are based on the accounting policies set out above.
Segment revenue results, assets and liabilities include items
directly attributable to segments as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis.

2.11 Effects of New Sri Lanka Accounting Standards
Issued But Not Yet Effective
The Bank will be adopting the new Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards (SLAS) comprising of LKAS and SLFRS applicable for
financial periods commencing from 1 January 2012 as issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. The Bank has
commenced transitioning its accounting policies and financial
reporting in readiness for the transition. As the Bank has a
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31 December year end, priority has been given to considering
the preparation of an opening Balance Sheet in accordance with
the new SLASs as at 1 January 2012. This will form the basis
of accounting for the new SLASs in the future, and is required
when the Bank prepares its first fully SLAS compliant Financial
Statements for the year ending 31 December 2012. Set out below
are the key areas where accounting policies will change and may
have an impact on the Financial Statements of the Bank.
At this stage the Bank has not been able to reliably quantify the
impact on the Financial Statements. The Bank is in the process of
quantifying the impact on the Financial Statements arising from
such changes in accounting policies.
(a) SLFRS 1 - First Time Adoption of Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards requires the Bank to prepare and present an opening
SLFRS Financial Statements at the date of transition to SLFRS.
The Bank shall use the same accounting policies in its opening
SLFRS Financial Statements and throughout all periods presented
in its first SLFRS Financial Statements. Those accounting policies
should comply with each SLFRS effective at the end of the first
SLFRS reporting period.
(b) LKAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements requires an
entity to present, in a Statement of Changes in Equity, all owner
changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity
(i.e. comprehensive income) are required to be presented in one
Statement of Comprehensive Income or in two statements
(a separate Income Statement and a Statement of Comprehensive
Income). Components of comprehensive income are not permitted
to be presented in the Statement of Changes in Equity. The
standard also requires the Bank to disclose information that
enables users of its Financial Statements to evaluate the entity’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. The Bank
shall also provide additional disclosures on puttable financial
instruments classified as equity instruments.
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(c) LKAS 18 - Revenue requires the Bank to measure revenue at
the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. It also
specifies recognition criteria for revenue, and the Bank needs
to apply such recognition criteria to the separately identifiable
components of a single transaction in order to reflect the
substance of the transaction.
(d) LKAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment requires a Bank
to initially measure an item of property, plant and equipment at
cost, using the cash price equivalent at the recognition date. If
payment is deferred beyond normal credit terms, the difference
between the cash price equivalent and the total payment is
recognised as interest over the period, unless such interest is
capitalised in accordance with LKAS 23 - Borrowing Costs. All site
restoration costs and other environmental restoration and similar
costs must be estimated and capitalised at initial recognition, in
order that such costs can be recovered over the life of the item of
Property, Plant and Equipment, even if the expenditure will only be
incurred at the end of the item’s life. The obligations are calculated
in accordance with LKAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets.
The Standard requires depreciation of assets over its useful life,
where the residual value of assets is deducted to arrive at the
depreciable value. It also requires that significant parts of an asset
be evaluated separately for depreciation.
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(e) LKAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation, LKAS
39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
and SLFRS 7 - Disclosures will result in changes to the current
method of recognising financial assets, financial liabilities and
equity instruments. The standard will require measurement of
Financial assets and Financial liabilities at fair value at initial
measurement. The subsequent measurement of Financial assets
classified as fair value through profit and loss and Available
for Sale will be at fair value, with the gains and losses routed
through comprehensive income and other comprehensive income
respectively.
Financial assets classified as Held to maturity and loans and
receivables will be measured subsequently at amortised cost.
These assets will need to be assessed for any objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. The current method of loan loss provisioning
will no longer be applicable under this test.
Financial liabilities will be either classified as fair value through
profit or loss or at amortised cost. At present, the Bank does not
identify, categorise and measure Financial assets and liabilities
as per the requirements of the standard and certain derivative
instruments are not recognised on the Balance Sheet, and hence
would require a change in accounting policy.
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3. Cash and Short Term Funds
2011
Rs.

Local Currency in Hand
Foreign Currency in Hand
Balances with Banks
Money at Call and Short Notice
Cash in Transit
Total
		

2010
Rs.

461,752,893

7

15,923,653
562,384,568

–
3,171,561,314

67,757

–

13,000,000

–

1,053,128,872

3,171,561,321

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

4. Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka
Total

717,763,029

–

717,763,029

–

As required by the Provisions of Section 93 of the Monetary Law Act, a cash balance was required to
be maintained with Central Bank of Sri Lanka. As at 31 December 2011, the minimum cash reserve
requirement was 8% of the rupee liabilities of Domestic Banking Unit. There is no reserve requirement for
foreign currency deposit liabilities of Domestic Banking Unit.
		

5. Placements with Commercial Banks
2011
Rs.

Bank of Ceylon
Total

2010
Rs.

1,500,000,000

–

1,500,000,000

–

The above placement has been made with the Islamic Banking Unit of Bank of Ceylon.
		

6. Placements with Licensed Finance Companies
2011
Rs.

People's Finance PLC
Lanka Orix Finance PLC
Total

2010
Rs.

1,325,000,000

–

1,750,000,000

–

3,075,000,000

–

The above placements have been made with the Islamic Financial Services Unit of People’s Finance PLC and
Islamic Business Unit of Lanka Orix Finance PLC.
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7. Investment in Gold Bullion
2011
Cost
Rs.

2010
Market Value
Rs.

Cost
Rs.

913,637,218
799,582,509
Investments during the Year
913,637,218
799,582,509
Total
(114,054,709)
–
Appreciation/(Fall in Value) of Investments
Total Carrying Value
799,582,509
799,582,509
										

Market Value
Rs.

–
–

–
–

–

–

8. Non-Current Assets held for Sale						
No. of Shares
2011

Amãna Investments Limited
Total

No. of Shares
2010

Carrying
Value
2011
Rs.

Directors’
Value
2011
Rs.

Carrying
Value
2010
Rs.

Directors’
Value
2010
Rs.

202,957,240

–

270,609,643

270,609,643

–

–

202,957,240

–

270,609,643

270,609,643

–

–

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale represents 202,957,240 shares in Amãna Investments Limited acquired by the Bank through a share swap
arrangement from shareholders of Amãna Investments Limited by issuing 270,609,643 shares of the Bank for a total consideration of
Rs. 270,609,643/-. Such shares acquired by the Bank were repurchased by Amãna Investments Limited as more fully described in
Note No. 29 - Events after the Balance Sheet Date.

9. Dealing Securities
2011
Rs.

Investments in Equity Securities - Quoted (9.1)
Investments in Equity Fund (9.2)
Total
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636,766,990
39,150,000
675,916,990

2010
Rs.

–
–
–
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9.1 Investments in Equity Securities - Quoted 						
No. of Ordinary Shares
2011

Amãna Takaful PLC
Bairaha Farms PLC
C.W. Mackie PLC
Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Chevron Lubricants Lanka PLC
CIC Holdings PLC
Colombo Dockyard PLC
Expolanka Holdings PLC
Haycarb PLC
Lanka Floortiles PLC
Laugfs Gas PLC
The Lanka Hospital Corporation PLC
Nawaloka Hospitals PLC
Overseas Realty (Ceylon) PLC
Panasian Power PLC
Royal Ceramic Lanka PLC
Singer Sri Lanka PLC
Sri Lanka Telecom PLC
Textured Jersey Lanka PLC
Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC
Total
Appreciation/(Fall in Value) of
Investments
Total Carrying Value

2010

Cost
Value
2011
Rs.

Market
Value
2011
Rs.

Cost
Value
2010
Rs.

Market
Value
2010
Rs.

150,000,000

–

301,837,500

360,000,000

–

–

137,700

–

31,577,879

28,958,310

–

–

72,200

–

6,860,538

6,461,900

–

–

35,900

–

3,626,899

3,787,450

–

–

286,500

–

47,794,864

48,705,000

–

–

77,600

–

9,574,934

8,652,400

–

–

384,200

–

104,940,314

91,746,960

–

–

3,373,500

–

34,808,888

30,361,500

–

–

112,100

–

17,757,041

17,375,500

–

–

19,300

–

1,953,963

1,549,790

–

–

80,100

–

3,069,951

3,043,800

–

–

17,900

–

956,099

932,590

–

–

16,400

–

68,012

63,960

–

–

304,600

–

4,548,397

4,264,400

–

–

616,800

–

2,557,248

2,652,240

–

–

76,500

–

10,815,045

10,824,750

–

–

6,400

–

826,563

849,280

–

–

12,000

–

544,358

576,000

–

–

153,800

–

1,581,007

1,568,760

–

–

327,100

–

15,724,808

14,392,400

–

–

601,424,306

636,766,990

–

–

–

–

–

–

35,342,684
636,766,990

–
636,766,990
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9.2 Investments in Equity Fund
Cost
Value
2011
Rs.

NAMAL Amãna Equity Fund

Market
Value
2011
Rs.

Cost
Value
2010
Rs.

Market
Value
2010
Rs.

44,675,000

39,150,000

–

–

44,675,000

39,150,000

–

–

39,150,000

39,150,000

–

–

Cost
Value
2011
Rs.

Directors’
Value
2011
Rs.

2,000,000

2,000,000

(5,525,000)

Appreciation/(Fall in Value) of Investments
Total Carrying Value
				

10. Investment Securities 				
No. of Ordinary Shares
2011

2010

Unquoted

Lanka Clear (Private)
Limited
Credit Information Bureau
of Sri Lanka
Total

50,000

–

300

–

Cost
Value
2010
Rs.

–

Directors’
Value
2010
Rs.

–

993,000

993,000

–

–

2,993,000

2,993,000

–

–

11. Financing and Advances
2011
Rs.

Import Financing
Term Financing
Overdrawn Current Accounts
Staff Financing
Other Financing

622,679,118

–

2,399,261,108

–

104,657

–

49,248,759

–

1,446,667,128

–

4,517,960,770

Less: Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful Financing (11.1)
Profit in Suspense (11.2)
Total
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2010
Rs.

–

(22,589,802)

–

(3,605,716)

–

4,491,765,253

–
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2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

–
–
–

–
–
–

–

–

11.1 Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful Financing
11.1.1 Movement in the Provision/Allowance for Bad and
Doubtful Financing - Specific
Balance at the Beginning of the Year
Provision Made During the Year
Balance at the End of the Year
		

11.1.2 Movement in the Provision/Allowance for Bad and
Doubtful Financing - General		
Balance at the Beginning of the Year
Provision Made During the Year
Balance at the End of the Year
Total Provision/Allowance for Bad and
Doubtful Financing and Advances
		

22,589,802

–

22,589,802

–

22,589,802

–

11.2 Movement in Profit in Suspense		
Balance at the Beginning of the Year
Provision Made During the Year
Balance at the End of the Year

–

–

3,605,716

–

3,605,716

–

		

12. Lease Receivables
Gross Lease Rental Receivable
Less: Unearned Lease Income
Less: Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful Financing (12.2)
Profit in Suspense (12.3)
Total

634,853,809

–

(143,930,288)

–

490,923,521

–

(2,454,618)

–

–

–

488,468,903

Annual Report 2011

–

Amãna Bank

129

114 Ca sh Flow Statemen t

116 Notes to the Financial Statemen ts

146 Capital Adequacy Compu tation

12.1 Maturity Classification of Outstanding Lease Receivables						
Receivable within One Year
2011
Rs.

Total Rental Receivable
Less: Unearned Income
Provision/Allowance
for Bad and Doubtful
Financing
Net Rental Receivable

Receivable from One to Five Years
2010
Rs.

163,780,535

–

(57,265,171)
106,515,364

(532,577)
105,982,787

2011
Rs.

Total
2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

2010
Rs.

471,073,274

–

634,853,809

–

–

(86,665,117)

–

(143,930,288)

–

–

384,408,157

–

490,923,521

–

–
–

(1,922,041)
382,486,116

–
–

(2,454,618)
488,468,903

–
–

12.2 Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful Financing
12.2.1 Movement in the Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful Financing - Specific
Balance at the Beginning of the Year
Provision Made During the Year
Balance at the End of the Year
		

–
–
–

–
–
–

–

–

12.2.3 Movement in the Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful Financing - General		
Balance at the Beginning of the Year
Provision Made During the Year
Balance at the End of the Year
Total Provision/Allowance for Bad and Doubtful Financing and Advances
		

2,454,620

–

2,454,620

–

2,454,620

–

12.3 Movement in Profit in Suspense		
Balance at the Beginning of the Year
Provision Made During the Year
Balance at the End of the Year
		

130

Amãna Bank

Annual Report 2011

–
–
–

–
–
–

149 Shareholder Information

151 No stro accoun ts main tained in Specific Currencies

152 Branch Net w ork

13. Receivables, Prepayments and Other Assets
2011
Rs.

Distress Loans (13.1)
Other Receivables
Refundable Deposits
Profit Receivable
Prepayments and Advances
Stationery Stocks
Total
		

2010
Rs.

224,179

–

125,411,522

–

4,345,000

630,000

57,225,056
209,291,841

–
2,770,586

1,095,053
397,592,651

–
3,400,586

13.1 Distress Loans 		
Balance at the Beginning of the Year
Loans Granted During the Year
Transfers
Repayments Made During the Year
Balance at the End of the Year
		

–

–

–

–

423,577

–

423,577

–

(199,398)

–

224,179

–

14. Receivable from Amãna Investments Limited
Amãna Investments Limited
385,084,972
Balance at the End of the Year
385,084,972
		
Based on the Asset Purchase Agreement entered into between Amãna Investments Limited and the
Bank, Amãna Investments Limited transferred identified assets of Rs. 9,125,391,309/- to the Bank
(which is more fully described in 30.1.1), in consideration of the Bank taking over identified liabilities
of Amãna Investments Limited amounting to Rs. 9,510,476,281/-. As a result of the above, a short fall
amounting to Rs. 385,084,972/- was recorded. This amount is expected to be recovered from Amãna
Investment Limited during 2012.
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment
Balance
As at
1.1.2011
Rs.

Additions/
Transfers
During the
Year
Rs.

Disposals/
Transfers
During the
Year
Rs.

Balance
As at
31.12.2011
Rs.

15.1 Gross Carrying Amounts
At Cost
Land and Building
Improvements to Leasehold Premises
Furniture and Fittings
Office Equipment
Computer Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Computer Servers
Software
Total Value of Depreciable Assets
				

At Cost

322,800,532

–

322,800,532

–

–

30,848,284

–

30,848,284

1,270,488

17,170,420

–

18,440,908

541,430

48,498,377

–

49,039,807

–

45,717,655

–

45,717,655

–

20,664,073

–

20,664,073

–

14,600,832

–

14,600,832

–

642,287,162

–

140,175,070

140,175,070

1,811,918

640,475,244

Balance
As at
1.1.2011
Rs.

Charge
for the
year
Rs.

Disposals
During
the year
Rs.

Balance
As at
31.12.2011
Rs.

15.2 Depreciation
Building
Improvements to Leasehold Premises
Furniture and Fittings
Office Equipment
Computer Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Computer Servers
Software
Total Depreciation
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–

313,886

–

313,886

–

2,472,840

–

2,472,840

70,100

1,398,000

–

1,468,100

38,025

3,846,709

–

3,884,734

–

3,575,581

–

3,575,581

–

5,785,852

–

5,785,852

–

3,229,097

–

3,229,097

–

4,704,727

–

4,704,727

25,326,691

–

25,434,817

108,125
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15.3 Net Book Values
As at
2011
Rs.

As at
2010
Rs.

At Cost
322,486,646
–
Land and Building
Improvements to Leasehold Premises
28,375,444
–
16,972,808
1,200,388
Furniture and Fittings
Office Equipment
45,155,073
503,405
Computer Equipment
42,142,074
–
Motor Vehicles
14,878,222
–
Computer Servers
11,371,735
–
Software
135,470,343
–
Total Carrying amount of Property, Plant and Equipment
616,852,345
1,703,793
				
15.4 During the year, the Bank acquired Property, Plant and Equipment to the aggregate
value of Rs. 521,328,262/- (2010 - Rs. 1,811,918/-). Cash payments amounting to Rs. 521,328,262/(2010 - Rs. 1,811,918/-) were made during the year for purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment.		
				
15.5 Property, Plant and Equipment includes fully depreciated assets having a gross carrying amount
of Rs. 2,069,040/- (2010 - Rs. Nil).
					
15.6 No assets have been pledged by the Bank.

16. Deposits From Customers
2011
Rs.

Current Accounts
Savings Accounts
Term Deposits
Total
		

2010
Rs.

1,038,990,003

–

6,793,824,367

–

3,530,054,293

–

11,362,868,664

–
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17. Other Liabilities
2011
Rs.

Statutory Payables
Accrued Expenses
Other Liabilities
Sundry Creditors
Total
		

7,080,884

2010
Rs.

–

37,829,730

12,104,213

62,866,701

25,355,635

8,854,242

3,545,361

116,631,557

41,005,209

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

18. Employee Benefit Liabilities

Provision for Gratuity (Note 18.1)
Total
		

13,051,361

–

13,051,361

–

18.1 Provision for Gratuity
Balance at the Beginning of the Year
Balance Transferred from Amãna Investments Limited
Expenses Recognised in the Income Statement
Benefits paid
Balance at the End of the Year

–
12,169,199
1,457,037
(574,875)
13,051,361

–
–
–
–
–

As at 31 December 2011 the gratuity liability of the Bank was actuarially valued under the Projected Unit
Credit Method by Mr. Piyal Goonetilleke (Fellow of the Society of Actuaries - USA). The actuarial valuation
will be performed once in every three years in accordance with the SLAS 16).
(a) Discount Rate
(b) Salary Increment Rate
(c) Age of Retirement
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19. Income on Financing and Advances
2011
Rs.

Customer Advances
Lease Income
Placement Income
Direct Expenses
Total

2010
Rs.

192,772,694
7,563,785

–

216,307,736

–

416,644,215

–

(2,850,637)

–

413,793,578

–

20. Fees, Commission and Other Income
2011
Rs.

Dividend Income
Fees and Commission Income
Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Shares
Gain/(Loss) on Foreign Exchange
Gain/(Loss) on Mark to Market Valuation of Gold Bullion and
Dealing Securities
Total
		

2010
Rs.

2,769,240

–

19,208,683

–

545,286

–

32,298,202

–

(83,262,917)

–

(28,441,507)

–

21. Operating Expenses

Stated After Charging/(Crediting)
Directors’ Remuneration
Auditors’ Remuneration
Depreciation
Personnel Cost Includes:
- Defined Benefit Plan - Gratuity
- Defined Contribution Plan - EPF & ETF
Advertising and Marketing
VAT on Financial Services
		

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

9,415,000

2,785,000

1,485,450

100,000

25,012,806

108,125

1,457,037

–

14,071,150

–

8,275,527

–

–
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22. Income Tax Expenses

Income Tax Expenses for the year (Note 22.1)
Charge/(Reversal) in respect of Deferred Taxation (Note 22.2)
Income Tax Expense/(Reversals) Reported in the
Income Statement
		

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

–

–

(81,809,511)

–

(81,809,511)

–

22.1 A Reconciliation between Current Tax Expense and
the Product of Accounting Profit
(262,591,583)

Accounting Profit before Income Tax
Statutory Tax Rate
At the Statutory Income Tax Rate
Income Exempt from Tax
Non Deductible Expenses
Others
Adjustment for Tax Losses Arisen/(Utilised)
Income Tax Expense/(Reversals)
		

28%
(73,525,643)

(21,341,765)
35%
(7,469,618)

(78,568,297)

–

62,438,027

–

(20,903,422)
110,559,335

–
7,469,618

–

–

22.2 Deferred Tax has been computed using current tax rate of 28% (2010 - 35%).
Deferred Tax Assets, Liabilities and Income Tax relates to the following:
Balance Sheet
2011
Rs.

Income Statement
2010
Rs.

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

Deferred Tax Liability
Capital allowances for Tax Purposes

39,559,670

–

39,559,670

–

(39,559,670)

–

Deferred Tax Assets
Defined Benefit Plans
Others

(3,654,381)

–

3,654,381

–

(117,714,800)

–

117,714,800

–

(121,369,181)

–
81,809,511

–

Deferred Income Tax Income/(Expense)
Net Deferred Tax Liability/(Asset)
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23. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share
23.1 Basic Earning per Share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

23.2 The following reflect the income and share data used in the Basic Earnings/(Loss) per Share
computations.
2011
Rs.

Amount used as the Numerator:
Net Loss Attributable to Ordinary Shareholders
Number of Ordinary Shares used as Denominator:
Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares in Issue
Loss per Share

(180,782,072)

2010
Rs.

(21,341,765)

811,292,332
(0.22)

7
(3,048,824)

24. Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Cash Flow Statement
2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

461,752,893

7

Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents

Favourable Cash and Cash Equivalents Balance
Local Currency in Hand
Foreign Currency in Hand
Balances with Banks
Money at Call and Short Notice
Cash in Transit

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents for the
Cash Flow Statement

15,923,653
562,384,568

–
3,171,561,314

67,757

–

13,000,000

–

1,053,128,872
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25. Maturity Analysis 						
Less than
3 Months
Rs.

ASSETS
Cash and Short Term Funds
Balance with Central Bank of
Sri Lanka
Placements with Commercial
Banks
Placements with Licensed
Finance Companies
Investments in Gold Bullion
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
Securities
Financing and Advances
Receivables, Prepayments and
Other Assets
Receivable from Amãna
Investments Limited
Deferred Taxation
Property, Plant and Equipment
Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Deposits
Other Liabilities
Employee Benefit Liabilities
Total Liabilities
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
Stated Capital
Reserves
Shareholders' Funds
Total Liabilities and
Shareholders' Funds
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1,053,128,872
211,186,709
1,500,000,000
400,000,000
799,582,509
–
636,766,990

3 to 12
Months
Rs.

–
217,388,561
–
2,675,000,000
–
270,609,643
–

1 to 3
Years
Rs.

3 to 5
Years
Rs.

–

–

88,723,390

–

–

–

3,075,000,000

–

–

–

799,582,509

–
39,150,000

9,938,681

79,111,501

–

–
81,809,511

642,177,129

–

270,609,643

2,993,000

678,909,990

106,410,355

4,980,234,156

–

–

397,592,651

–

–

385,084,972

–

–

81,809,511

514,676,976

616,852,345

5,067,618,421

1,638,521,514

730,762,306

735,959,523

14,556,567,678

8,194,536,934

2,770,785,842

74,663,947

72,138,637

250,743,303

11,362,868,664

111,775,054

4,856,504

8,306,311,988

–
2,775,642,347

102,175,369

–
–

6,383,705,914

–

–

717,763,029
1,500,000,000

308,542,469

–

1,053,128,872

–

1,247,551,743

385,084,972

111,879,191

Rs.

–

1,509,596,564

–

–

Total

–

1,474,498,365

–

88,585,177

Over 5
Years
Rs.

–

–

–

–

–

74,663,947

72,138,637

–

13,051,361

263,794,664

11,492,551,583

3,431,611,720

3,431,611,720

(367,595,625)
–

8,306,311,988

–

2,775,642,347

–

74,663,947

–

72,138,637

116,631,558

13,051,361

(367,595,625)

3,064,016,095

3,064,016,095

3,327,810,759

14,556,567,678
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26. Comparative Information
The presentation and classification of comparative information is subject to matters discussed under Note 2.3 of the Accounting Policies. However,
the presentation and classification of the following items have been amended to ensure consistency with the current year.

27. Segmental Analysis
Banking
2011
Rs.

Treasury
2010
Rs.

2011
Rs.

Unallocated/Elimination
2010
Rs.

Total

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

–

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

INCOME STATEMENT
Total Revenue

219,067,562

–

166,284,509

Profit/(Loss) before Tax

194,023,141

–

166,284,509

Profit/(Loss) after Tax

194,023,141

–

166,284,509

–

–

385,352,071

–

(622,899,233)

–

(263,214,482)

–

(541,089,723)

–

(180,782,073)

–

BALANCE SHEET
Assets

7,943,616,175

–

6,612,951,825

–

–

–

14,556,568,000

–

Total Assets

7,943,616,175

–

6,612,951,825

–

–

–

14,556,568,000

–

Liabilities

4,879,599,758

–

6,612,951,825

–

–

–

11,492,551,583

–

Total Liabilities and
Shareholders’ Funds

4,879,599,758

–

6,612,951,825

–

–

–

11,492,551,583

–

635,015,104

–

5,460,140

–

–

–

640,475,244

–

25,079,493

–

247,198

–

–

–

25,326,691

–

(25,044,421)

–

–

–

–

(25,044,421)

–

12,575,980

–

–

–

–

13,051,361

–

OTHERS
Additions to Property, Plant
and Equipment
Depreciation
NON–CASH EXPENSES
Provision/(Reversal) for Bad
and Doubtful Financing
Provision for Gratuity

–
475,381
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28. Commitments and Contingencies
28.1 Capital Expenditure Commitments
The Bank does not have significant capital commitments as at the Balance Sheet date.
Contingencies
In the normal course of business the Bank makes various irrevocable commitments and incurs certain
contingent liabilities with legal recourse to its customers. Even though these obligations may not be
recognised on the Balance Sheet, they do contain credit risk and therefore form part of the overall risk
profile of the Bank.
2011
Rs.

Commitments on Direct Advances and Indirect Advances
Commitments for unutilised facilities
Contingent Liabilities:
Letters of Credit
Guarantees, Bonds
Acceptance
Bills for Collection
Promissory Forward Exchange Transactions
Forward Exchange Sales
Forward Exchange Purchases
Total Commitment and Contingencies

2010
Rs.

1,482,525,000

–

1,482,525,000

–

447,092,482

–

142,467,130

–

81,324,137

–

72,489,325

–

743,373,073

–

968,690,000

–

972,433,000
1,941,123,000

–

4,167,021,073

–

29. Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
Amãna Investments Limited, having duly satisfied the requirements of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007,
repurchased 202,957,240 of its shares that were held by the Bank on 3 May 2012, for a total consideration of
Rs. 525,733,306/-.
Other than the above there have been no material events occurring after the Balance Sheet date that require
adjustments to or disclosure in the Financial Statements.
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30. Related Party Disclosures
Details of significant related party disclosures are as follows:

30.1.1 Transactions with Affiliate Companies
2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

Balance Sheet

Assets:
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
Financing and Advances
Transfer of Assets from Amãna Investments Limited (a)
Receivables from Amãna Investments Limited (c)
Liabilities:
Deposits
Transfer of Liabilities from Amãna Investments Limited (b)
Income Statement
Income on Financing and Advances

Expenses on Deposits

270,609,643

–

239,532,791

–

9,125,391,309

–

385,084,972
10,020,618,715

–

329,998,558

–

9,510,476,281

–

9,840,474,839

–

10,040,625

–

3,571,441

–

The following identified assets and liabilities were transferred from Amãna Investments Limited on
1 August 2011.		

a) Transfer of Assets from Amãna Investments Limited		
2011
Rs.

Cash and Bank Balances
Placements with Licensed Finance Companies
Placements with Commercial Banks
Investments in Equity Fund
Financing and Advances
Receivables and Other Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment

2010
Rs.

1,571,937,148

–

2,663,980,000

–

300,000,000

–

44,675,000

–

3,478,599,761

–

947,052,418

–

119,146,982

–

9,125,391,309

–
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2011
Rs.

b) Transfer of Liabilities from Amãna Investments Limited
Deposits from Customers
Other Liabilities
Retirement Benefit Liabilities

2010
Rs.

9,382,452,514

–

115,854,568

–

12,169,199

–

9,510,476,281

–

385,084,972

–

c) Receivables from Amãna Investments Limited
30.1.2 Transactions with Affiliate Companies

2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

Balance Sheet

Assets:
Investments in Equity Securities
Financing and Advances
Liabilities:
Deposits
Income Statement
Income on Financing and Advances
Expenses on Deposits
Takaful Expenses
Commitments and Contingencies
Undrawn Facilities

360,000,000

–

2,835,953

–

362,835,953

–

6,329,641

–

6,329,641

–

124,198

–

51,388

–

8,341,677

–

–

–

30.1.3 Transactions with Key Management Personnel (KMPs)		
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether Executive
or otherwise) of that entity. Such KMP include the Board of Directors of the Bank (including Executive &
Non-Executive Directors).
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2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

9,415,000

2,785,000

Key Management Personnel Compensation

Short Term Employee Benefits

30.1.4 Transactions, Arrangements and Agreements Involving KMPs and their Close Family
Members (CFMs)
Close members of the family of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity. They may include: the individual’s
domestic partner and children; children of the individual’s domestic partner; and dependents of the
individual or the individual’s domestic partner.
2011
Rs.

Balance Sheet
Liabilities;
Deposits
Income Statement
Expenses on Deposits
Commitments and Contingencies
Letters of Credit
Undrawn Facilities

2010
Rs.

7,522,994

–

7,522,994

–

75,537

–

–

–

–

–
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30.1.5 Transaction, Arrangements and Agreements involving Entities which are controlled
and/or significantly influenced by the KMPs or their CFMs
2011
Rs.

2010
Rs.

Balance Sheet

Assets:
Balances with Banks
Investments in Equity Securities
Financing and Advances

16,507,306

–

30,361,500

–

216,119,555

–

262,988,360

–

210,798,818

–

210,798,818

–

Income Statement
Income on Financing and Advances

7,984,796

–

Expenses on Deposits

1,132,844

–

Professional Fees

4,252,320

Liabilities:
Deposits

Commitments and Contingencies
Undrawn Facilities
Letters of Credit
Letters of Guarantee and Shipping Guarantees
LC Acceptance
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–

9,524,798

–

24,457,262

–

13,713,106

–

47,695,167

–
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Disclosure of Net Accommodation to Key Management Personnel and
Related Parties in terms of CBSL Requirements
In terms of Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 2007 on Corporate Governance of Licensed Commercial Banks the following disclosures are
made; Net accommodations granted to Key Management Personnel and Companies having a Substantial Interest amounted to Rs. Nil and
Rs. 506,183,465/-, which represent 0% and 18.52% of the Total Regulatory Capital respectively.

Maturity Analysis Based on Banking Act Direction No. 7 of 2011
In terms of the above Direction issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, effective from 31 March 2012, it is required to report the Maturity of
Assets and Liabilities according to the guidelines issued therein. The Bank, in line with this requirement, has prepared an analysis as at
31 December 2011 to indicate the maturity of its Assets and Liabilities, which is as follows:
Less than
3 Months
Rs.

ASSETS
Cash and Short-Term Funds
Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka
Inter-Bank Placements
Placements with Licensed
Finance Companies
Investments in Gold Bullion
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
Securities
Financing and Advances
Receivables, Prepayments and
Other Assets
Receivable from Amãna
Investments Limited
Deferred Taxation
Property, Plant and Equipment
Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Deposits
Other Liabilities
Deferred Liabilities
Total Liabilities
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
Stated Capital
Reserves
Shareholders' Funds
Total Liabilities and
Shareholders' Funds

1,053,128,872
211,186,059
1,500,000,000
400,000,000

3 to 12
Months
Rs.

–
217,387,106
–
2,675,000,000

799,582,509

–

276,766,990

–

–
1,474,735,978
–
308,542,470

270,609,643
1,509,596,564
–
9,938,681

–

–

–

–

1 to 3
Years
Rs.

3 to 5
Years
Rs.

–

–

88,722,796

Over 5
Years
Rs.

–

88,588,625

Total
Rs.

1,053,128,872

111,878,442

717,763,029

–

–

–

1,500,000,000

–

–

–

3,075,000,000

–

–

–

799,582,509

399,150,000
–
1,247,551,743

–

2,993,000

–

–

642,177,129

678,909,990
270,609,643

106,172,742

4,980,234,156

81,809,511

–

–

81,809,511

79,111,501

–

–

397,592,651

385,084,972

–

–

385,084,972

–

–

616,852,345

616,852,345

6,023,942,877

4,682,531,993

2,281,430,523

730,765,754

837,896,530

14,556,567,678

1,828,267,814

4,091,578,196

1,669,907,036

1,667,381,726

2,105,733,892

11,362,868,664

111,775,054

4,856,504

–
1,940,042,867

–
4,096,434,701

–

–

–

–

1,669,907,036

1,667,381,726

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,940,042,867

4,096,434,701

1,669,907,036

–

116,631,558

13,051,361

13,051,361

2,118,785,253

11,492,551,583

3,431,611,720

3,431,611,720

(367,595,625)

1,667,381,726

(367,595,625)

3,064,016,095

3,064,016,095

5,182,801,348

14,556,567,678
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Capital Adequacy Computation
Capital Base as at 31 December 2011
Basel II
Rs. ’000

TIER 1

Paid Up Ordinary Shares/Stated Capital
Statutory Reserve Fund
Published Retained Profits
General and Other Reserves
Net Deferred Tax Assets

50% Investments in the Capital of Other Banks and Financial Institutions

3,431,612
–
(367,596)

–
(81,810)
(136,801)

Total Tier 1 Capital

2,845,405

TIER 2
Revaluation Reserves
General Provisions

25,044

–

Debentures
50% Investments in the Capital of Other Banks and Financial Institutions
Total Tier 2 Capital
Total Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital
Capital Base
COMPUTATION OF RATIOS
Core Capital (Tier 1)
Total Capital Base
Risk-Weighted Assets
Risk-Weighted amount for Credit Risk
Risk-Weighted amount for Market Risk
Risk-Weighted amount for Operational Risk
Total Risk-Weighted Amount
Core Capital Ratio (Minimum Requirement 5%)
Total Tier - I Capital
Total Risk-Weighted Assets
Total Capital Ratio (Minimum Requirement 10%)
Total Capital
Total Risk-Weighted Assets
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Amãna Bank

–

Annual Report 2011

(136,801)
(111,757)
2,733,648
2,733,648
2,845,405
2,733,648

8,205,578
2,258,720
271,079
10,735,377
2,845,405
10,735,377
26.5%
2,733,648
10,735,377
25.5%
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Computation of Risk-Weighted Assets - (Basel II)
On-Balance Sheet Exposure
CREDIT RISK
As at 31 December 2011

Balance
Rs. ’000

Assets - Exposures
- To Central Government and CBSL
- To Banks
- To Financial Institutions

3,075,068

- To Corporates

2,658,779

717,763
2,062,384

- To Retail Sector

652,904

- Secured on Residential Property Mortgages
- Classified as Non-Performing Advances
- Claims Secured by Commercial Real Estate
- Cash Items

944,891

49,588
1,059,852
1,290,260

960,750
13,472,239

- Other Assets
Total Assets

Risk
Weights
%

Risk-Adjusted
Balance
Rs. ’000

–
20-150
20-150
20-150
75-100
50-100
50-150
100
0-20
100

–
425,683
1,537,534
2,536,935
539,314
909,885
49,934
1,059,851
–
960,750
8,019,885

OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE
As at 31 December 2011

Amount of
Off-Balance
Sheet Items
Rs. ’000

Credit
Conversion
Factor
%

Credit
Equivalent
Amount
Rs. ’000

Risk
Weights
%

Risk
Adjusted
Balance
Rs. ’000

Performance Bonds, Bid Bonds and Warranties
Others
Short-Term Self-Liquidating
Trade-Related Contingencies
Shipping Guarantees

107,418
69,414

50
50

53,709
34,707

0-100
0-100

53,118
34,707

35,049

Documentary Letters of Credit

447,092

20
20
20
20
2

7,010
89,418
16,265
615
75

0-100
0-100
0-100
0-100
0-100

7,010
74,116
16,265
461
15

Transaction-Related Contingencies

Trade-Related Acceptances

81,324

Others
Foreign Exchange Contracts

3,075

Total Off-Balance Sheet Exposures

3,743
747,115

201,799
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MARKET RISK
As at 31 December 2011

Capital Charge

Equity
Foreign Exchange and Gold
Total Risk Adjusted Balance for Market Risk

Rs’000

Risk Adjusted
Balance
Rs’000

134,440
91,432
225,872

1,344,400
914,320
2,258,720

Capital Charge
Rs’000

Risk Adjusted
Balance
Rs’000

180,719
27,108
27,108

–
–
271,079

OPERATIONAL RISK
As at 31 December 2011

Average Gross income
15% of Average Gross Income

Total Risk Adjusted Balance for Operational Risk

148
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Shareholder Information
As at 31 December 2011

ANALYSIS I
Resident
No. of Shares

%

1,000

338

326,841

0.0

–
–

Range of Shareholding

1 -

Non-Resident

No. of
Shareholders

No. of
Shareholders

No. of Shares

Total
%

No. of
Shareholders No. of Shares

–

0.0

338

–

%

326,841

0.0

1,001 -

10,000

1,452

7,060,733

0.8

0.0

1,452

7,060,733

0.8

10,001 -

100,000

976

38,832,617

4.3

6

249,734

0.0

982

39,082,351

4.3

100,001 -

1,000,000

198

67,479,625

7.5

3

1,207,867

0.1

201

68,687,492

7.6

Above

18

490,241,666

54.3

9

297,410,981

32.9

27 787,652,647

87.2

2,982

603,941,482

66.9

18

298,868,582

33.1

3,000 902,810,064

100.0

%

No. of
Shareholders

%

No. of
Shareholders No. of Shares

1,000,001 and
Total

ANALYSIS II
Individual
Range of Shareholding

No. of
Shareholders

No. of Shares

Institutions
No. of Shares

1 -

1,000

338

326,841

0.0

0.0

338

326,841

0.0

10,000

1,448

7,036,733

0.8

4

24,000

0.0

1,452

7,060,733

0.8

10,001 -

100,000

963

37,935,684

4.2

19

1,146,667

0.1

982

39,082,351

4.3

100,001 -

1,000,000

190

63,216,392

7.0

11

5,471,100

0.6

201

68,687,492

7.6

Above

12

88,926,957

9.9

15

698,725,690

77.4

27 787,652,647

87.2

2,951

197,442,607

21.9

49

705,367,457

78.1

3,000 902,810,064

100.0

Total

–

%

1,001 -

1,000,001 and

–

Total

Annual Report 2011

Amãna Bank

149

114 Ca sh Flow Statemen t

116 Note s to the Financial Statemen ts

146 Capital Adequacy Compu tation

Top 20 Shareholders
No.

Name

No. of Shares

%

1 Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad

180,562,011

20.0

2
3
4
5

135,421,508

15.0

90,281,006

10.0

90,281,006

10.0

AB Bank Limited
Akbar Brothers (Private) Limited
Expolanka Holdings PLC
Islamic Development Bank

90,281,005

10.0

6 Peteroa Limited

34,200,013

3.8

7 Trans Asia Trading Company
8 Mr. Kevin Mark Pocock

33,756,280

3.7

27,084,302

3.0

9 Mr. Afzal Majid Alimohamed
10 Millennium Capital Investment Pte. Limited
11 Mr. Khaldoon Al Asmar

19,498,122

2.2

18,056,201

2.0

14,722,200

1.6

12 ABC International Limited

11,920,000

1.3

6,534,733

0.7

5,300,000

0.6

4,666,667

0.5

3,500,000

0.4

3,500,000

0.4

3,500,000

0.4

3,333,333

0.4

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

150

Mrs. Nabila Qureshi
Al Bogari Islamic Gold DMCC
Mr. Mohammad Muslim Salahudeen
Mr. K. Seyd Mohamed Rajubudeen
Mr. K.M. Seyed Mohamed Rasan Mohamed
Mr. K.M. Seyed Mohamed Razeek
Sandwave Limited
Lucky Industries (Private) Limited
Sub Total
Others (2,980 shareholders)
Total

Amãna Bank
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3,333,327

0.4

779,731,714

86.4

123,078,350

13.6

902,810,064

100.0
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NOSTRO ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED IN SPECIFIC CURRENCIES

United Kingdom

Germany

United States of America
United Arab Emirates

China

Pakistan

Japan

India
Malaysia
Singapore

Australia

Country

Name of the Bank

Address

Swift Code

Currency

Australia

HSBC Bank Australia

HKBAAU2S

AUD

China

HSBC Bank (China) Company
Limited
Commerzbank AG

Level 32, 580 George Street,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia
37th Floor, HSBC Building,
8 Century Avenue, Pubong, Shanghai 200120, China
Kaiserplatz, D-60261 Frankfurt am Main,
Germany

HSBCCNSH

CNY

COBADEFF
COBADEFF
DEUTDEFF

EUR
USD
EUR

ABBLINBB
ABBLINBB

ACU - EURO
ACU - USD

HSBCINBB
HSBCINBB
UBAFJPJX

ACU - DOLLAR
ACU - EURO
JPY
USD

BIMBMYKL

MYR
USD

HSBCPKK

ACU - DOLLAR

UBAFSGSX

SGD
USD

DUIBAEAD

Germany

Deutsche Bank AG
India

AB Bank Limited - Overseas Branch
(Mumbai Branch)
HSBC Bank India

Theodor-Heuss Allee 70
60486, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Liberty Biulding,
41-42 Sir Vithaldas Thackersay Marg,
New Marine Lines, Mumbai, 400-020, India
52/60 M.G. Road, Mumbai,
India

Japan

Union De Banques Arabes
Et Francaises - Tokyo Branch

Malaysia

Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad

Pakistan

HSBC Bank Middle East Limited

Singapore

Union De Banques Arabes
Et Francaises - Singapore Branch

United Arab
Emirates

Dubai Islamic Bank

United Kingdom

Bank of Ceylon (UK) Limited

No. 01 Devonshire Square, London,
EC2M 4WD, UK

BCEYGB2L

HSBC Bank PLC

No. 08 Canada Square, London,
E14 5HQ, UK
60, Wall Street, New York, NY,
USA

MIDLGB22

AED
USD
USD
GBP
GBP

BKTRUS33

USD
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United States of
America

Deutsche Bank Trust Company
Americas

Sumitomo Fudosan Kudanshita Building,
4th Floor 3-5 Kanda Jimbocho Chiyoda-Ku,
Tokyo 101-0051, Japan
11th Floor, Wisma Bank Islam,
Jalan Dungun, Bukit Damansara,
50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Bahria Complex III,
9th Floor, M.T. Khan Road, Karachi, Pakistan
7 Temasek Boulevard
Unit 07-04/05, Suntec Tower 01,
Singapore 038987
Dubai Islamic Bank Building
Al Maktoum Road, 1080, UAE
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Branch Network
Main Branch

Pettah

Kandy

Kattankudy

Ladies Branch

Kalmunai

Galle
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480, Galle Road, Colombo 3
Telephone: 011-7756000
Fax: 011-4718148
E-mail: mainbranch@amana.lk
129, Main Street, Colombo 11
Telephone: 011-7756002
Fax: 011-2380688
E-mail: pettah@amana.lk
105, Kotugodella Veediya, Kandy
Telephone: 081-2200240
Fax: 081-2200238
E-mail: kandy@amana.lk
187, Main Street, Kattankudy
Telephone: 065-2247398
Fax: 065-2247399
E-mail: kattankudy@amana.lk
480, Galle Road, Colombo 3
Telephone: 011-2564094
Fax: 011-4718148
E-mail: ladiesbranch@amana.lk
32, Main Street, Kalmunai
Telephone: 067-2223588
Fax: 067-2003599
E-mail: kalmunai@amana.lk
158, Main Street, Galle
Telephone: 091-5622027
Fax: 091-2226610
E-mail: galle@amana.lk
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Oddamawadi

Main Street, Mawadichenai,
Valaichenai.
Telephone: 065-2258090
Fax: 065-2258099
E-mail: oddamawadi@amana.lk

Akurana

91E, Matale Road, Akurana
Telephone: 081-2304760
Fax: 081-2304761
E-mail: akurana@amana.lk

Gampola

119, Kandy Road, Gampola
Telephone: 081-2350889
Fax: 081-2350786
E-mail: gampola@amana.lk

Sammanthurai

43/2, Main Street, Sammanthurai
Telephone: 067-2261299
Fax: 067-2261311
E-mail: sammanthurai@amana.lk

Mawanella

22B, New Kandy Road, Mawanella
Telephone: 035-5679879
Fax: 035-2248181
E-mail: mawanella@amana.lk

Kurunegala

22B, New Kandy Road, Mawanella
Telephone: 037-7756014
Fax: 037-2221925
E-mail: kurunegala@amana.lk

Akkaraipattu

240-1B, Main Street, Akkaraipattu
Telephone: 067-2279318
Fax: 067-2279319
E-mail: akkaraipattu@amana.lk

Notice of Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the third Annual General Meeting of Amãna Bank Limited will be held on Thursday, 28 June 2012
at 4.30 pm at the Grand Ballroom, Galadari Hotel, 64, Lotus Road, Colombo 1 for the following purposes:
Agenda
(1) To receive and consider the Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the Affairs of the Bank and the Audited Financial Statements
for the period ended 31 December 2011 together with the Reports of the Auditors thereon.
(2) To re-elect the following Directors who retire by rotation in terms of Article 28 (7) and Article 28 (9) of the Articles of Association of
the Company:
a. Dato’ Ahamed Tajudin Bin Haji Abdul Rahaman
b. Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat				
c. Mohammed Wahidul Haque
d. Jaafar Bin Abu
(3) To reappoint the retiring Auditors, M/s Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants for the ensuing year and to authorise the Directors to
determine their remuneration.
(4) To reappoint the Shariah Supervisory Council consisting ofa. Rtd. Justice Ash-Sheik Mufti Muhammad Taqi Usmani
b. Ash-Sheik M.M.A. Mubarak
c. Ash-Sheik Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe
d. Ash-Sheik Mufti Muhammad Hassan Kaleem (appointed with effect from 18 February 2012)
e. Ash-Sheik Mohd Nazri Bin Chik
(5) Any other business.

By Order of the Board,

Mrs. P. Dunuwille Koralege
Company Secretary
Colombo
1 June 2012
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Form of Proxy
I/We ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………*
of…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
being a Member/Members* of the above named Company, hereby appoint ………………………………..……..….....…………………......…...............……
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… (NIC No.………………………………………………………)
of …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………or
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.

Osman Kassim
Muhammad Ozman Faizal Salieh
Dato’ Ahmad Tajudin Bin Abdul Rahman
Tyeab Akbarally
Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon
Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat
Mohamed Wahidul Haque
Jaafar Bin Abu
Ms. Yeo Sock Hwa
Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail
Ruzly Hussain
Angelo Maharajah Patrick
Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui

or failing him
or failing him
or failing him
or failing him
or failing him
or failing him
or failing him
or failing him
or failing her
or failing him
or failing him
or failing him

as my/our* Proxy to represent me/us* and vote for me/us* on my/our* behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to
be held on Thursday, 28 June 2012 at 4.30 pm at the Grand Ballroom, Galadari Hotel, 64, Lotus Road, Colombo 1 and at any adjournment
thereof.

Signed this ……………………………day of………………………………2012
		
				
*Please delete the inappropriate words

………………………………
Signature

NOTES
1. A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his/her place.
2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company
3. Please be informed that only the shareholder or the respective proxy would be permitted to attend the meeting. No other person
is entitled to be present.
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE COMPLETION OF PROXY FORM
1.

The Proxy Form must be duly completed and signed by the member/s in block capitals giving the name and address of shareholder/s
and the name, address and NIC of the proxyholder clearly and legibly. Where necessary delete the inapplicable words indicated
by asterisk.

2.

The completed Form of Proxy should be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 480, Galle Road, Colombo 3 not less than
24 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting. (by 4.30 p.m. on Wednesday 27 June 2012)

3.

If the Proxy has been signed by an Attorney, the relative Power of Attorney should accompany the completed Proxy Form for
registration, if such Power of Attorney had not been registered with the Company.

4.

In the case of a Company/Corporation, the Proxy Form must be under its Common Seal (where applicable) which should be affixed
and attested in the manner prescribed by its Articles of Association/Act of Incorporation signed by two Directors or a Director and
Secretary of the Company with the Company rubber stamp placed on it.

5.

In case of joint shareholders the first-named shareholder only can sign the Proxy Form.
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Corporate Information
Name of the Institution
Amãna Bank Limited

Legal Form

Business

Mrs. Preeni M. Dunuwille Koralege (LLB)
Attorney-at-Law

A Public Limited Liability Company incorporated in Sri Lanka on
5 February 2009 under the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007. Commenced business
operations as a Licensed Commercial Bank regulated under the Banking Act of No.
30 of 1988 (as amended) on 1 August 2011.

Commercial banking entirely based on Sharia Principles

Registration Number
PB 3618

Registered Office

			

Sharia Supervisory Council

Rtd. Justice Ash-Sheik Mufti Muhammad Taqi Usmani
Ash-Sheik M.M.A. Mubarak
Ash-Sheik Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe
Ash-Sheik Muhammad Hassan Kaleem
(appointed with effect from 18 February 2012)
Ash-Sheik Mohd Nazri Bin Chik

480, Galle Road, Colombo 3, Sri Lanka
Tel : (94) - (11) - 7756000
Fax : (94) - (11) - 4718148
Swift : AMNALKLX
Web : www.amanabank.lk

Tax Payer Identification Number (TIN)
134036184

VAT Registration Number
134036784-7000

Company Secretary

Auditors

Messrs Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants
No. 201, De Saram Place, Colombo 10, Sri Lanka

Lawyers

Messrs F J & G De Saram
Attorneys-at-Law
216, De Saram Place, Colombo 10
For investor relations and clarifications on the report,
please contact:
Company Secretary
Amãna Bank
480, Galle Road, Colombo 3, Sri Lanka
Tel. (94) - (11) - 7757511

Accounting Year End
31 December

Board of Directors
		

		

		
		
		
		
		
		

		

Osman Kassim - Chairman
Faizal Salieh - Managing Director/CEO
Dato’ A Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman - Director
Tyeab Akbarally - Director
Dr. A.A.M. Haroon - Director
Dato’ Sri Zukri Bin Samat - Director
Jaafar Bin Abu - Director
Mohammed Wahidul Haque - Director
Yeo Sock Hwa - Director
Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail - Director
Ruzly Hussain - Director
Angelo M. Patrick - Director
Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui - Director

This Annual Report is
Carbon Neutral
This Amãna Bank Annual Report has been produced by
Smart Media The Annual Report Company whose
greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the designing,
production, project management, usage of paper and other
raw materials, printing and transportation are offset using
verified carbon offsets.
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